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THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. If you are in any doubt about the contents

of this document, or as to what action you should take, you should consult an independent professional adviser authorised under

the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (“FSMA”), who specialises in advising on the acquisition of shares and other

securities if you are resident in the United Kingdom (“UK”), or, if you are not resident in the UK, from another appropriately

authorised independent financial adviser in your own jurisdiction.

If you have sold or otherwise transferred all of your registered holding of ordinary shares of nominal value 0.01 pence each

(“Ordinary Shares”) in the capital of MetalNRG plc (the “Company” or “MetalNRG”), please forward this document at once to

the purchaser or transferee or to the bank, stockbroker or other agent through whom or by whom the sale or transfer was made,

for delivery to the purchaser or transferee. However, this document and any accompanying documents should not be sent or

transmitted in, or into, any jurisdiction where to do so might constitute a violation of local securities law or regulations. If you have

sold only part of your holding of Ordinary Shares, please contact the bank, stockbroker or other agent through whom or by whom

the sale or transfer was made immediately.

This document comprises a prospectus relating to the Company prepared in accordance with the prospectus rules of the UK

Financial Conduct Authority (the “FCA”) made under section 73A of FSMA (the “Prospectus Rules”) and approved by the FCA

under section 87A of FSMA. This document has been filed with the FCA and made available to the public in accordance with

Rule 3.2 of the Prospectus Rules by being made available, free of charge, at www.metalnrg.com and at the Company’s registered

office at 1 Ely Place, London EC1N 6RY UK.

Application will be made to the FCA for the Company’s entire issued ordinary share capital comprising 203,368,980 existing

Ordinary Shares already in issue (the “Existing Ordinary Shares”) and 94,333,326 Ordinary Shares to be issued in connection

with a placing to certain investors (the “Placing”) at the issue price of 0.3 pence per Ordinary Share (the “Placing Price”) (the

“Placing Shares”, and together with the Existing Ordinary Shares, the “Enlarged Issued Share Capital”) to be admitted to listing

on the standard segment of the official list (the “Official List”), maintained by the FCA (“Standard Listing”), in its capacity as

competent authority under FSMA (the “UKLA”) (under Chapter 14 of the listing rules published by the FCA under section 73A of

FSMA (the “Listing Rules”)) and to trading on the main market for listed securities (the “Main Market”) of London Stock

Exchange plc (the “London Stock Exchange”) (together, “Admission”). The Ordinary Shares are expected to be traded under

the symbol “MNRG”. It is expected that Admission will become effective, and that unconditional dealings in the Ordinary Shares

will commence, at 8.00 a.m. on 23 July 2019.

The Ordinary Shares are currently admitted to trading on the NEX Exchange Growth Market (“NEX Growth Market”) under the

symbol “MNRG”. Trading on NEX Growth Market will be cancelled simultaneously with Admission.

The whole of the text of this document should be read by prospective investors. Your attention is specifically drawn to the

discussion of certain risks and other factors that should be considered in connection with an investment in the Ordinary Shares,

as set out in Part II — Risk Factors of this document.

The Company and the directors, whose names appear on page 46 of this document (the “Directors” or “Board”), accept

responsibility for the information contained in this document. To the best of the knowledge of the Company and the Directors (who

have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this document is in accordance with

the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

METALNRG PLC
(Incorporated and registered in England & Wales with registered number 05714562)

Proposed Placing of up to 94,333,326 Placing Shares to raise £283,000 at a Placing Price

of 0.3 pence

per share each with warrants attached on a one for one basis

and

Admission of the Enlarged Issued Share Capital to the Official List (by way of Standard

Listing pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules) and to trading on the Main Market of

the London Stock Exchange

Joint Bookrunners

SI Capital Limited Peterhouse Capital Limited

This document does not constitute an offer to sell or an invitation to purchase or subscribe for, or the solicitation of an offer or

invitation to purchase or subscribe for, Ordinary Shares in any jurisdiction where such an offer or solicitation is unlawful or would

impose any unfulfilled registration, publication or approval requirements on the Company.
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Application will be made for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to a Standard Listing on the Official List. A Standard Listing will

afford investors in the Company a lower level of regulatory protection than that afforded to investors in companies with premium

listings on the Official List (“Premium Listing”), which are subject to additional obligations under the Listing Rules.

The Ordinary Shares have not been and will not be registered under the US Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”), or the

securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the US or under applicable securities laws of Australia, Canada, South Africa

or Japan. Subject to certain exceptions, the Ordinary Shares may not be, offered, sold, resold, transferred or distributed, directly

or indirectly, within, into or in the United States or to or for the account or benefit of persons in the United States, Australia,

Canada, Japan, South Africa or any other jurisdiction where such offer or sale would violate the relevant securities laws of such

jurisdiction (a “Restricted Jurisdiction”).

The Ordinary Shares have not been approved or disapproved by the US Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), any

State securities commission in the US or any other US regulatory authority, nor have any of the foregoing authorities passed

comment upon or endorsed the merits of the Placing or adequacy of this document. Any representations to the contrary is a

criminal offence in the US.

SI Capital Limited (“SI Capital”) and Peterhouse Capital Limited (“Peterhouse Capital”) (the “Joint Bookrunners”), who are

authorised and regulated by the FCA, are acting jointly for the Company in connection with the Placing and will not regard any

other person (whether or not a recipient of this document) as a client in relation to the Placing and will not be responsible to

anyone other than the Company for providing the protections afforded to its clients or for providing advice in relation to the Placing

or any other matter referred to herein. The Joint Bookrunners have not authorised the contents of, or any part of, this document

and no liability whatsoever is accepted by the Joint Bookrunners nor do they make any representation or warranty, express or

implied, for the accuracy or completeness of any information or opinion contained in this document or for the omission of any

information. Nothing in this document shall be relied upon as a promise or representation in this respect, whether as to the past

or the future (without limiting the statutory rights of any person to whom this document is issued). The Joint Bookrunners

expressly disclaim all and any responsibility or liability, whether arising in tort, contract or otherwise which it might otherwise have

in respect of this document.

Annex III, 3.4
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PART I

SUMMARY

Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as “Elements”. These elements are
numbered in Sections A – E (A.1 – E.7).

This summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for this type of
securities and issuer. Because some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be
gaps in the numbering sequence of the Elements.

Even though an Element may be required to be inserted in the summary because of the type of
securities and issuer, it is possible that no relevant information can be given regarding the Element.
In this case a short description of the Element is included in the summary with the mention of “not
applicable”.

Section A – Introduction and warnings

A.1 Warning to investors This summary should be read as an introduction to this
document.

Any decision to invest in the Ordinary Shares should be
based on consideration of this document as a whole by the
investor.

Where a claim relating to the information contained in this
document is brought before a court the plaintiff investor
might, under the national legislation of any member state of
the European Economic Area (the “EEA”) (each, a “Member

State”), have to bear the costs of translating this document
before legal proceedings are initiated.

Civil liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled
this summary including any translation thereof but only if this
summary is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when
read together with the other parts of this document or it does
not provide, when read together with the other parts of this
document, key information in order to aid investors when
considering whether to invest in such Ordinary Shares.

A.2 Not applicable. There will be no resale or final placement of
Ordinary Shares by financial intermediaries.

Section B – the Issuer

B.1 The legal and commercial name of the issuer is MetalNRG
plc.

B.2 The Company was incorporated in England and Wales on
20 February 2006 as a public company with limited liability
under the UK Companies Act 1985 with an indefinite life.

Subsequent resale of
securities or final
placement of securities
through financial
intermediaries

Legal and commercial
name

Domicile and legal
form

Annex XXII

(I, II, III) A.1
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(I, II, III) A.2
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B.3 The Company’s new investing policy, approved at a general
meeting on 11 March 2016 by way of special resolution (the
“New Investing Policy”) is to invest in and/or acquire
companies or projects within the natural resources sector,
with potential for growth or value creation. For those projects
that offer substantial growth opportunity, the Company will
seek a controlling interest and maintain a medium to long
term investment view. For those projects that offer value
creation opportunities, the Company will seek to list such
projects on an appropriate stock exchange and crystallize
value in the short term. The New Investing Policy also allows
the Company to consider opportunities in other related
sectors if the Board considers that there is an opportunity to
generate an attractive return for shareholders. Such related
sectors may include natural resource technologies and
fintech opportunities offering leverage to resource
identification, processing, recording, storage and trading
businesses.

The opportunities will be managed in one of the two
divisions that the Company has created under the New
Investing Policy: the Direct Investment Division and the
Indirect Investment Division.

The Company’s Direct Investment Division will have majority
investments, board control and add value to the projects that
it invests in. The Company intends to take an active role in
these projects and will drive them along the value chain
creating long term Shareholder value.

The Company’s Indirect Investment Division will invest in
privately owned projects that can be structured, packaged
and then listed on a major stock exchange (“IPO”). The
Company’s role will be to coordinate and facilitate any pre-
IPO funding and the IPO process itself, making sure that the
appropriate advisors are in place to deliver the IPO in a cost
and time efficient manner. The Company will invest directly
in some of these opportunities, will earn fees, payable in
shares, upon delivering pre-determined milestones. The
Company may take minority stakes in projects and will be
able trade such shares as it sees fit.

B.4a The global gold market is currently undergoing a geographic
change as markets in the Far East, such as China and India,
are consuming a much larger amount of gold than in
previous years and, as a result, are enjoying an increasing
share of the global market. The future of the market will
likely be influenced by new technologies, such as
blockchain, making transactions in gold as a commodity
more cost efficient for market participants. Similarly, new
participants to the gold market, traditionally dominated by
banks, will likely continue to have an impact on the price of
gold in 2019. These new participants include, for example,
hedge funds and retail investors.

Significant recent
trends

Current
operations/principal
activities and markets

Annex XXII

(I), B.3
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6.1.1
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6.2

Annex XXII

(I), B.4(a)
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12.1, 12.2
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The most significant recent trend in the global cobalt market,
which looks set to continue in 2019, is the increasing
demand for cobalt as a key component of lithium-ion
batteries (such batteries being used to power electric
vehicles). The Democratic Republic of Congo, the world’s
largest producer of cobalt, recently introduced legislation
which increased royalties and taxes on the extraction of
cobalt within its territory, increasing extraction costs for
producers.

The global market has seen a consistent, albeit moderate,
uranium price growth throughout the second half of 2018,
likely stimulated by the global reduction in stockpiles of the
commodity at production sites. This trend is forecast to
continue into 2019, particularly as the uranium market sees
increased interest from US-based funds interested in
investing in the commodity. The uranium market has
recently experienced increased demand, particularly from
countries such as China where more nuclear reactors are
being built. The demand for uranium may further increase if
other countries attempt to compete with the Chinese market
in terms of uranium production. For example, in 2018, there
were requests by the Minerals Council of Australia and
certain uranium producers in the US for an expansion in
production.

B.5 Group structure The Company currently has two wholly-owned
subsidiaries: (1) MetalNRG Australia Pty Ltd (“MetalNRG

Australia”), which is incorporated in Australia with Australian
Company Number 620 704 663 and which will hold the
exploration licence for the Company’s cobalt mining project in
western Australia (the “Palomino Cobalt Project”); and (2)
Goldridge Holdings Limited (“Goldridge Holdings”), which is
incorporated in British Columbia under the Canada Business
Corporations Act (R.S.C.) 1985 and which serves as the
operating company for the Company’s gold mining asset in
Arizona (the “Gold Ridge Project”). On 25 July 2018, the
Company signed a sale and purchase agreement (the “Gold

Ridge Acquisition Agreement”) with Winston Gold Corp.
(“Winston Gold”) pursuant to which the Company agreed to
purchase all of the issued and outstanding shares of Winston
Gold’s wholly owned subsidiary, Goldridge Holdings, for cash
payments totalling US$219,220 and 21,942,576 Ordinary
Shares in the Company at a deemed price of 1.75 pence per
share. On 5 November 2018, the Company announced the
completion of the Gold Ridge Acquisition Agreement and that
21,942,576 Ordinary Shares had been issued to Winston
Gold.

As part of a binding option agreement entered into by the
Company on 22 March 2018 to sell its 15.38 per cent.
shareholding in US Cobalt Pty Ltd (“US Cobalt”) to Tyranna
Resources Limited (“Tyranna”), an exploration company
listed on the Australian Stock Exchange, the Company
received 21,719,457 shares in Tyranna, which at the deemed
price of A$0.017, equates to a consideration received of

Annex I, 7.1

Annex XXII

(I), B.5
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A$369,231 or circa £211,327 (at A$:GBP exchange rate on 20
September 2018). 25 per cent. of the consideration shares
(i.e., 5,429,864 Tyranna shares) remain under a voluntary
escrow for a six month period following the date of the sale
and purchase agreement for the consideration shares, being
21 August 2018. On 21 September 2018, the sale and
purchase agreement for the consideration shares was
approved by the Tyranna shareholders.

On 16 August 2018, the Company announced that it had
signed an option agreement (the “Option Agreement”) with
International Mining Company Invest Inc (“IMC”) to acquire
a majority interest in the Kamyshanovskoye uranium project
(the “Uranium Project”) in the Kyrgyz Republic. Under the
Option Agreement, the Company could acquire up to 51 per
cent. of the share capital in a new holding company
(“Newco”) into which IMC would transfer exploration licence
number 2276 (the “Exploration Licence”), which grants the
right to operate the Uranium Project in full.

On 5 December 2018, the Company entered into an
agreement with IMC amending the Option Agreement (the
“Amended Option Agreement”) to restructure the cash
payments paid by the Company in order to progress the
application of the mining licence (as defined below) at the
Uranium Project.

On 22 January 2019, the State Committee for the Reserves
of Minerals of the Kyrgyz Republic (the “State Committee for

Reserves”) granted the Company’s application to convert the
Exploration Licence, which expired on 31 December 2018, to
a new mining licence (the “Mining Licence”) for 3,371.1
tonnes of reserves (8.741 million lbs U3O8).

On 26 March 2019, the Company and IMC entered into a
farm-in letter agreement (the “Farm-in Letter Agreement”)
replacing the terms of the Option Agreement and the
Amended Option Agreement entirely. Under the terms of the
Farm-in Letter Agreement, the Company and IMC
acknowledge that the Company has, as at 26 March 2019,
paid the total sum of US$170,650 towards the Uranium
Project (the “Initial Payment”). Further, under the Farm-in
Letter Agreement the Company agreed to transfer to IMC
the sum of US$400,000 (the “Second Payment”) at a future
date to be agreed. The Second Payment shall represent an
entitlement (the “Entitlement”) to an economic interest of
51 per cent. in the assets and operations subject to the
Mining License. The Second Payment is to be made using
part of the Net Placing Proceeds. In order to maintain the
Entitlement, the Company has also agreed, under the Farm-
in Letter Agreement, to pay IMC a further US$1,989,350 into
over 18 months for the sole purpose of funding development
costs at the Uranium Project. This sum shall be paid by the
Company in three instalments, payable in November 2019,
April 2020 and October 2020, each of US$663,117 (the
“Tranche Payments”). 
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IMC shall not be prohibited from entering into discussions

with third party investors in connection with obtaining project

finance in relation the Uranium Project. However, before

entering into any project finance agreement with any third

party investor (a “Project Finance Offer”), IMC must offer

the same terms to the Company, and the Company shall

have a right of first refusal on any Project Finance Offer

made to a third party investor (the “Right of First Refusal”).

If the Company elects to provide funding equal to the

amount of the Project Finance Offer, upon such funds being

received by IMC, the Company and IMC shall commit to

increase the Entitlement over the economic interest in the

Uranium Project by way of further agreement at a date to be

agreed between the parties.

If the Company cannot satisfy any of the Tranche Payments

as they fall due (a “Default”), the Right of First Refusal shall

not apply. Following any Default, IMC shall have the right,

subject to approval by the Company, to enter into project

finance arrangements with third party investors in relation to

the Uranium Project, and the Company and IMC shall

commit to re-distributing the Entitlement (by reference to the

then prevailing market value of the Uranium Project) by way

of further agreement accordingly at a date to be agreed

between the parties.

On 2 May 2019, the parliament of the Kyrgyz Republic voted

to ban all uranium exploration and mining in Kyrgyzstan

indefinitely (the “Uranium Ban”). The government of

Kyrgyzstan has been instructed to draft legislation to put the

Uranium Ban into effect. In response to the Uranium Ban,

the Company and IMC entered into a side letter to the Farm-

in Letter Agreement on 3 May 2019 (the “Side Letter”).

Under the Side Letter, the parties agreed to suspend the

Farm-in Letter Agreement and all obligations of the

Company and IMC thereunder for the duration of the

Uranium Ban.

Under the Side Letter, the Company and IMC have agreed

that IMC will waive the obligation of the Company to pay the

Second Payment and the Tranche Payments. From the

effective date of the Side Letter, and throughout the duration

of the Uranium Ban, the Right of First Refusal shall continue

to apply in favour of the Company. If the Uranium Ban

continues for a period of 12 months from the date of the Side

Letter, the Company shall have the right to terminate the

Farm-in Letter Agreement in its entirety by written notice to

IMC and the Company shall not be liable for any unpaid

payments thereunder.

If, within 12 months of the date of the Side Letter, either

(i) the Uranium Ban ceases to be in force or (ii) the government

of the Kyrgyz Republic allows IMC to progress work under

the Mining License for the sole purpose of processing waste

(an exemption under the Uranium Ban (the “Waste

Exemption”)), the Company may, in its sole discretion, elect

to re-enter the Farm-in Letter Agreement, subject to the

8
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adjustment, if necessary, of the Agreed Dates in relation to
the Tranche Payments and valuation of the Uranium Project.

The Company and IMC maintain the position that the
activities at the Uranium Project of ‘cleaning’ the peat and
contained groundwater, which carries high levels of uranium
(such uranium often contaminating the local water supplies),
amount to those of processing waste and accordingly fall
under the Waste Exemption. The Company and IMC are
currently discussing this position with the government of the
Kyrgyz Republic.

On 29 April 2019, the Company entered into a non-binding
heads of terms agreement (the “Mkango Heads of Terms

Agreement”) with Mkango Resources Ltd and Lancaster
Exploration Limited in order to explore the possibility to earn
a 75 per cent. economic interest in the Exclusive
Prospecting Exploration License 0303/10R3 for exploration
targets of uranium, niobium and tantalum (the “Thambani
License”) over a three year period. Following a period of due
diligence, the Company announced on 28 June 2019 that it
would not be pursuing the opportunity and terminated the
Mkango Heads of Terms Agreement.

B.6 Major shareholders Each of the following persons, directly or indirectly, has an
interest in MetalNRG’s capital or voting rights which is
notifiable under English law:

                                                          Percentage                              Percentage
                                                                   of  the                                       of  the
                                      Number of         Existing                                  Enlarged
                                          Existing           Issued         Number of             Issued
                                         Ordinary            Share            Ordinary             Share
                                           Shares           Capital              Shares            Capital
                                       held as at      held as at                   held                held
                                         the date         the date      immediately    immediately
                                            of  this            of  this            following         following
Name                              document      document        Admission      Admission

Jim Nominees Limited   53,027,341          26.07%        56,360,674            18.93%

Buchanan Trading Inc   24,750,000          12.17%        24,750,000              8.31%

Share Nominees 

Limited                            22,758,497           11.19%        22,758,497              7.64%

Winston Gold Corp        21,942,576          10.79%        21,942,576              7.37%

Peterhouse Capital 

Limited                                            –                     –         16,666,666              5.59%

Winterflood Securities 

Limited                            11,287,293            5.55%         11,287,293              3.79%

N Grant                                           –                     –         10,000,000              3.35%

C Latilla-Campbell                          –                     –           9,333,333              3.13%

Hargreaves Lansdown 

(Nominees) Limited         9,640,364            4.74%                         –                      –

Interactive Investor 

Services Nominees 

Limited                              7,500,000            3.69%                         –                      –

CGWL Nominees 

Limited                              6,790,442            3.34%                         –                      –

Pershing Nominees 

Limited                              6,500,000            3.20%                         –                      –

Annex XXII

(I), B.6
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B.7 Set out below are details of the significant changes in the

financial condition, operating results and trading position of

the Company for the period since 28 February 2019.

• On 2 May 2019, the parliament of the Kyrgyz Republic

voted in favour of the Uranium Ban. The government

of Kyrgyzstan has been instructed to draft legislation

to put the Uranium Ban into effect. In response to the

Uranium Ban, the Company and IMC entered into the

Side Letter, under which the parties agreed to

suspend the Farm-in Letter Agreement and all

obligations of the Company and IMC thereunder for

the duration of the Uranium Ban.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no significant

change in the financial condition and operating results of the

Company during or subsequent to the periods covered by

the selected historical financial information of the Company

The tables below set out the summary audited financial

information of the Company as derived from the financial

information of the Company as at 28 February 2019,

28 February 2018 and 28 February 2017:

STATEMENT OF INCOME

                                                                 Year Ended
                                   28 February         28 February         28 February
                                              2019                    2018                    2017
                                                    £                           £                           £
CONTINUING 

OPERATIONS

Revenue                                      –                          –                          –

Administrative 

expenses                         (249,692)             (157,037)               (37,983)

Other operating

income                                11,279                          –                          –
                                        ————              ————              ————
OPERATING LOSS         (238,413)             (157,037)               (37,983)

Finance income                       305                      120                          –
                                        ————              ————              ————
LOSS BEFORE 

INCOME TAX                  (238,108)             (156,917)               (37,983)

Income tax                                   –                          –                          –
                                        ————              ————              ————
LOSS FOR THE 

PERIOD                           (238,108)             (156,917)               (37,983)
                                        ————              ————              ————

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

                                                                 Year Ended
                                   28 February         28 February         28 February
                                              2019                    2018                    2017
                                                    £                           £                           £
Loss after tax                 (238,108)             (156,917)               (37,983)

Items that may 

subsequently be 

reclassified to 

profit or loss:

Foreign exchange

movements                           1,127                          –                          –
                                        ————              ————              ————

Total comprehensive

loss                                 (236,981)             (156,917)               (37,983)
                                        ————              ————              ————

Annex XXII

(I), B.7

Annex I,

3.1, 20.4.3
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

                                                                      As At
                                   28 February         28 February         28 February
                                              2019                    2018                    2017
                                                    £                           £                           £
ASSETS

Intangible fixed assets      621,151                          –                          –
Investments                      168,919               175,433                          –
Available for sale 
assets                               107,800                          –                          –
                                      ——–——            —–———            ——–——
                                         897,870               175,433                          –
                                      ——–——            ——–——            ——–——
CURRENT ASSETS

Trade and other
receivables                       190,650                   2,396                 23,181
Cash and cash 
equivalents                         24,168               209,673               128,526
                                         214,818               212,069               151,707
                                      ———–—            ——–——            ——–——
TOTAL ASSETS            1,112,688               387,582               151,707
                                      ———–—            ——–——            ———–—
LIABILITIES

CURRENT 

LIABILITIES

Trade and other 
payables                           178,473                 14,014                   8,308
                                      ——–——            ——–——            ——–——
TOTAL LIABILITIES         178,473                 14,014                   8,308
                                      ——–——            —–———            —–———
TOTAL EQUITY AND 

LIABILITIES                  1,112,688               387,502               151,707
                                      ——–——            ——–——            ——–——
SHAREHOLDERS’ 

EQUITY

Called up share capital     257,114               250,709               243,563
Share premium              1,886,524            1,095,221               715,361
Retained earnings        (,1210,855)             (972,442)             (815,525)
Foreign currency 
reserve                                 1,127                          –                          –
                                      ———–—            —–———            ——–——
TOTAL EQUITY                934,215               373,488               143,399
                                      ——–——            ——–——            ——–——
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STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS

                                                                 Year ended
                                   28 February         28 February         28 February
                                              2019                    2018                    2017
                                                    £                           £                           £
Cash flows from 

operating activities

Loss for the period 
before taxation                (238,108)             (156,917)               (37,983)
Adjustment for:
Finance income                      (305)                    (120)                         –
Profit on disposal of 
investments                       (11,279)                         –                          –
Shares received in 
lieu of fees                         (62,500)                         –                          –
Impairment of 
investments                        92,878                          –                          –
                                        ————              ————              ————
                                        (219,314)             (157,037)               (37,983)
                                        ————              ————              ————
Changes in:
Trade and other 
debtors                            (153,254)                20,785                  (4,431)
Trade and other 
creditors                            129,078                   5,706                  (2,191)
                                        ————              ————              ————
Cash generated 

from operations             (243,490)             (130,546)               (44,605)
                                        ————              ————              ————
Cash flows from 

Investing activities

Purchase of fixed 
asset investments           (147,822)             (175,433)                         –
Purchase of 
intangible assets             (621,251)                         –                          –
Proceeds from sale 
of assets                             26,118                          –                          –
Creditors on 
acquisition                          37,927                          –                          –
                                        ————              ————              ————
Cash used in 

investing activities        (705,028)             (175,433)                         –
                                        ————              ————              ————
Cash flows from 

financing activities

Issue of shares                 762,708               387,006                 50,004
Interest received                      305                      120                          –
                                        ————              ————              ————
Cash generated by 

Financing activities        763,013               387,126                 50,004
                                        ————              ————              ————
Net (decease)/increase 

in cash and cash 

equivalents                     (185,505)                81,147                   5,399
Cash and cash 

equivalents at 

beginning of year           209,673               128,526               123,127
                                        ————              ————              ————
Cash and cash 

equivalents at 

end of year                        24,168               209,673               128,526
                                        ————              ————              ————
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B.8 The pro forma financial information (the “Pro Forma

Financial Information”) has been prepared on the basis
described, for illustrative purposes only, to provide financial
information about how the Gold Ridge Project (the
“Acquisition”) might affect the income, expenses and net
assets presented on the basis of the accounting policies
adopted by the Company in preparing the audited financial
information for the financial year ended 28 February 2019 as
if the Acquisition had occurred on 1 March 2018. This report
is required by Annex I, item 20.2 of Commission Regulation
(EC) N 809/2004 Rules and is given for the purpose of
complying with that requirement and for no other purpose.

The Company and the Acquisition is, where the context
requires, together referred to as the “Enlarged Group”).

The Pro Forma Financial Information comprises the
unaudited pro forma income statement for the year ended
28 February 2019 prepared based on the consolidated
income statement of the Enlarged Group for the year ended
28 February 2019.  The Acquisition is already integrated in
the statement of financial position in the Company’s audited
financial statements for the financial year ended
28 February 2019, and therefore no pro forma statement of
financial position is required.

Unaudited Pro Forma Income Statement of the Enlarged

Group year ended 28 February 2019

The consolidated pro forma statement of income of the
Group is set out below:

Pro Forma
MetalNRG Goldridge Consolidated
Group as Holdings Pro Forma Income
reported Limited Adjustments Statement

£ £ £ £

CONTINUING

OPERATIONS

Revenue – – – –

Administrative

expenses (249,692) (16,274) (265,966)

Other operating

income 11,279 55,642 – 66,921
–––––––– –––––––– –––––––– ––––––––

OPERATING

(LOSS)/PROFIT (238,413) 39,368 – (199,045)
–––––––– –––––––– –––––––– ––––––––

Finance Income 305 – – 305
–––––––– –––––––– –––––––– ––––––––

(LOSS)/PROFIT

BEFORE INCOME

TAX (238,108) 39,368 – (198,740)
–––––––– –––––––– –––––––– ––––––––

Income Tax – – – –
–––––––– –––––––– –––––––– ––––––––

(LOSS)/PROFIT

FOR THE YEAR (238,108) 39,368 – (198,740)
–––––––– –––––––– –––––––– ––––––––

Annex XXII (I,
II), B.8
Annex I, 20.2,
20.4.3

Selected key pro forma
financial information
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Consolidated statement of Comprehensive Income

The pro forma consolidated statement of comprehensive

income of the Group is set out below:

Pro Forma
MetalNRG Goldridge Consolidated
Group as Holdings Pro Forma Income
reported Limited Adjustments Statement

£ £ £ £

(Loss)/Profit 

after tax (238,108) 39,368 – (198,740)

Items that may

subsequently be

reclassified to profit

or loss:

– Foreign exchange

movements 1,127 – – 1,127
–––––––– –––––––– –––––––– ––––––––

TOTAL COM-

PREHENSIVE

(LOSS)/PROFIT

ATTRIBUTABLE

TO EQUITY

HOLDERS OF

THE PARENT (236,981) 39,368 – (197,613)
–––––––– –––––––– –––––––– ––––––––

Notes to the Pro Forma Income Statement for the year

ended 28 February 2019

The financial information for the Company for the year

ended 28 February 2019 has been extracted from the

Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended

28 February 2019 incorporated by reference in Part XII –
Historical Information of  the Company, of this document.

The financial information for Goldridge Holdings not already

included in the Company’s consolidated income statement

has been extracted from the financial records of Goldridge

Holdings for the period 01 January 2018 to 05 November

2018, being the actual date of acquisition. The reporting

accountant is of the view that the results for the period

01 March 2018 to 05 November 2018 are equal to those for

the period of account.

As there was no trading between the Company and

Goldridge Holdings for the period under review, no pro

forma adjustments are required.

B.9 Not applicable. The Company has not made any profit

forecasts or estimates which remain outstanding as at the

date of this document.

B.10 Qualified audit report Not applicable. There are no qualifications in the

accountant’s report on the historical financial information.

B.11 Working capital In the opinion of the Company, taking into account the Net

Placing Proceeds (as defined below) receivable by the

Company pursuant to the Placing, the working capital

available to the Group is sufficient for the Group’s present

requirements, that is, for at least 18 months from the date of

this document.

Annex XXII

(I), B.9

Profit forecast or

estimate

Annex XXII

(I), B.10

Annex XXII

(I), B.11
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Section C – Securities

C.1 The Placing Shares being offered in the Placing are
Ordinary Shares with a nominal value of 0.01 pence each in
the capital of the Company. Applications will be made for the
Enlarged Issued Share Capital to be admitted to the Official
List with a Standard Listing and to trading on the Main
Market of the London Stock Exchange. The Ordinary Shares
are registered with ISIN GB00B15FS791, SEDOL code
B15FS79 and have a TIDM MNRG.

C.2 The currency of the securities issue is UK pounds sterling.

C.3 Issued share capital 203,368,980 Ordinary Shares have been issued at the date
of this document, all of which have been fully paid up.

C.4 Subject to the provisions of the articles of association (the
“Articles”), and in particular to those conferring rights of
redemption, and without prejudice to any special rights
conferred on the holders of any shares or class of shares,
Ordinary Shares may be issued with or have attached to
them such preferred, deferred, qualified or other special
rights or such restrictions, whether in regard to dividend,
voting, return of capital or otherwise, as the Company may
by ordinary resolution determine or, if there has not been
any such determination or so far as the same shall not make
specific provision, as the Directors may determine.

Subject to the UK Companies Act 2006 (the “Companies

Act”), Ordinary Shares may be issued on the terms that they
are, or at the option of the Company are to be liable, to be
redeemed on such terms and in such manner as the
Company may by special resolution determine.

The Board may issue share warrants to bearer in respect of
any fully paid shares under the Company’s seal or in any
other manner authorised by the Board. Any Ordinary Shares
while represented by such warrant shall be transferable by
delivery of the warrant relating to it. In any case in which a
warrant is so issued, the Board may provide for the payment
of dividends or other moneys on the Ordinary Shares
represented by the warrant by coupons or otherwise. The
Board may decide, either generally or in any particular case,
that any signature on a warrant may be applied by
mechanical means or printed on it or that the warrant need
not be signed by any person.

C.5 Not applicable. The Ordinary Shares are freely transferable
and tradable and there are no restrictions on transfer. Each
Shareholder may transfer all or any of their Ordinary Shares
which are in certificated form by means of an instrument of
transfer in any usual form or in any other form which the
Directors may approve. Each Shareholder may transfer all or
any of their Ordinary Shares which are in uncertificated form
by means of a ‘relevant system’ (i.e., CREST) in such manner
provided for, and subject as provided in, the Regulations.

Annex III, 4.4Currency of the
securities issue

Annex XXII

(III), C.4

Rights attached to the
securities

Annex XXII

(III), C.1

Annex III, 4.1
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securities being offered

Annex XXII

(III), C.5
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transferability

Annex XXII
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C.6 Application has been made for the Enlarged Issued Share
Capital to be admitted to trading on the London Stock
Exchange’s Main Market, which is a regulated market.

Application has also been made to the FCA for the Enlarged
Issued Share Capital to be admitted to the Official List by
way of a Standard Listing.

It is expected that Admission will become effective and that
dealings in Ordinary Shares will commence at 8.00 a.m. on
23 July 2019.

No application has been made or is currently intended to be
made for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to trading on
any other exchange.

C.7 Dividend policy The Company’s current intention is to retain earnings, if any,
for use in its future business operations and expansion. The
Company will only pay dividends if deemed commercially
appropriate by the Board and to the extent that to do so is in
accordance with the Companies Act and all other applicable
laws. There can be no assurance that the Company will
declare or pay, or have the ability to declare and pay, any
dividends in the future.

Section D – Risks

D.1 • There may be significant competition in some or all of
the acquisition opportunities that the Company may
explore, which may cause the Company to be
unsuccessful in executing an acquisition or may result
in a successful acquisition being made at a
significantly higher price than would otherwise have
been the case.

• The Company may be unable to complete an
acquisition in a timely manner or at all or to fund the
operations of the target business if it does not obtain
additional funding following completion of the
acquisition.

• The Company may be subject to risks particular to
one or more countries in which it ultimately operates,
including regulatory compliance risks and foreign
investment and exchange risks.

• The activities of the Company and the viability of its
projects will be subject to fluctuations in demand and
prices of base, battery and precious metals. These
prices fluctuate widely and may be affected by
numerous factors beyond the Company’s control,
including global supply and demand, political and
economic conditions, speculative activities,
expectations of inflation, interest rates and currency
exchange rate fluctuations. The effect of these factors
on the price of base and precious metals cannot
accurately be predicted.

Annex XXII

(III), C.7

Annex XXII

(III), D.1

Key information on the
key risks that are
specific to the issuer or
its industry

Annex XXII
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a regulated market
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• The activities of the Company are subject to all of the

hazards and risks normally incidental to exploring and

developing natural resource projects. These risks and

uncertainties include, but are not limited to,

environmental hazards, industrial accidents, labour

disputes, encountering unusual or unexpected

geological formations or other geological or grade

problems. It is not always possible to fully insure

against such risks as a result of high premiums or

other reasons (including those in respect of past

mining activities for which the Company was not

responsible). Should such liabilities arise, they could

reduce or eliminate any future profitability, result in

increasing costs or the loss of its assets and a decline

in the value of the Ordinary Shares.

• The estimating of mineral reserves and mineral

resources is a subjective process and the estimates of

mineral reserves and resources for projects are, to a

large extent, based on the interpretation of geological

data obtained from drill holes and other sampling

techniques and feasibility studies which derive

estimates of costs based upon anticipated tonnage

and grades of ores to be mined and processed, the

configuration of the ore body, expected recovery rates

from the ore, estimated operating costs, anticipated

climatic conditions and other factors.

• Mineral exploration and development can be highly

speculative in nature and involve a high degree of risk.

The economics of developing mineral properties are

affected by many factors including the cost of

operations, variations of the grade of ore mined,

fluctuations in the price of the minerals being mined,

fluctuations in exchange rates, costs of development,

infrastructure and processing equipment and such

other factors as government regulations, including

regulations relating to royalties, allowable production,

importing and exporting of minerals and

environmental protection.

• The gold price is volatile and affected by factors

beyond the Company’s control.

• The Uranium Project is dependent on the uranium

price, which is volatile and affected by factors beyond

the Company’s control.

• There is no public market for the sale of triuranium

octoxide (“U3O8”) and it is therefore an illiquid

commodity. The pool of typical potential purchasers

and sellers of U3O8 is limited and the Directors

consider the spot market for U3O8 to be thinly traded.

Following Admission, it is possible that the Company,

through the Uranium Project, may not be able to

source opportunities to acquire material quantities

of U3O8.
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• The Uranium Project is located in Kyrgyzstan and
accordingly the Company will be subject to the risks
and uncertainties associated with operating in such an
environment. These risks and uncertainties include,
but are not limited to periods, particularly in winter,
when the Kamyshanovskoye mine may become
inaccessible by road or river, causing significant
disruption to deliveries of suppliers, labour and
equipment and of concentrate for sale.

• The Company may need to raise substantial
additional capital in the future to fund any acquisition,
and future base and precious metal prices, revenues,
taxes, capital expenditures and operating expenses
and geological success will all be factors which will
have an impact on the amount of additional capital
required. Any additional equity financing may be
dilutive to Shareholders and debt financing, while
widely available, may involve restrictions on financing
and operating activities.

• The Company is dependent on the Directors to
identify potential acquisition opportunities and to
execute an acquisition and the loss of the services of
the Directors could materially adversely affect the
Company’s strategy or ability to deliver upon it in a
timely manner or at all.

• The Directors may allocate a portion of their time to
other businesses leading to the potential for conflicts
of interest in their determination as to how much time
to devote to the Company’s affairs.

• The Company may encounter difficulties with joint
venture partners. Any joint venture partner may be
unwilling or unable to pay their share of the costs of
projects as they become due. In the case of a joint
venture partner, the Company may have to obtain
alternative funding in order to complete the
exploration and development of the assets subject to
the joint venture agreement. The Company cannot
assure investors that it would be able to obtain the
capital necessary in order to fund this contingency. It
is also possible that the interests of the Company and
those of any joint venture partners are not aligned
resulting in project delays or additional costs.

• A substantial or extended decline in commodity prices
and/or consumption may adversely affect the
Company’s prospects, business, financial condition
and results of operations.

• The expense of meeting environmental regulations
could cause a significantly negative effect on the
Company’s long term profitability, as could the failure
to obtain certain necessary environmental permits.
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• If the Company is not granted licences by a
responsible authority or is not seen as an entity
suitable to hold or own an entity holding natural
resource licences by a responsible authority, it could
have a material adverse effect on its business,
operations and prospects.

• The proposed Standard Listing of the Ordinary Shares
will afford investors a lower level of regulatory
protection than a Premium Listing.

• A suspension or cancellation of the Ordinary Shares,
as a result of the FCA determining that there is
insufficient information in the market about an
acquisition or a target, would materially reduce
liquidity in such shares, which may affect an investor’s
ability to realise some or all of its investment and/or
the price at which such investor can effect such
realisation. In the event of such suspension or
cancellation, the value of the investors’ shareholdings
may be materially reduced.

• Investors may not be able to realise returns on their
investment in Ordinary Shares within a period that
they would consider to be reasonable.

• It will be necessary for the Company to apply for re-
admission of the Ordinary Shares following
completion of an acquisition constituting a Reverse
Takeover.

• A cancellation of the listing of the Ordinary Shares by
the FCA would prevent the Company from raising
equity finance on the public market, or carrying out a
further acquisition using share consideration,
restricting its business activities and resulting in
incurring unnecessary costs.

• Further equity capital raisings may be required by the
Company in order to complete one or more
acquisition. If the Company does offer its Ordinary
Shares as consideration in making acquisitions,
depending on the number of Ordinary Shares offered
and the value of such Ordinary Shares at the time, the
issuance of such Ordinary Shares could materially
reduce the percentage ownership represented by the
holders of Ordinary Shares in the Company and also
dilute the value of Ordinary Shares held by such
Shareholders at the time.

D.3 • The proposed Standard Listing of the Ordinary Shares
will afford investors a lower level of regulatory
protection than a Premium Listing.

• A suspension or cancellation of the Ordinary Shares,
as a result of the FCA determining that there is
insufficient information in the market about an
acquisition or a target, would materially reduce

Annex XXII

(III), D.3

Key information on the
key risks that are
specific to the
securities
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liquidity in such shares, which may affect an investor’s
ability to realise some or all of its investment and/or
the price at which such investor can effect such
realisation. In the event of such suspension or
cancellation, the value of the investors’ shareholdings
may be materially reduced.

• Investors may not be able to realise returns on their
investment in Ordinary Shares within a period that
they would consider to be reasonable.

• It will be necessary for the Company to apply for re-
admission of the Ordinary Shares following
completion of an acquisition constituting a Reverse
Takeover. A cancellation of the listing of the Ordinary
Shares by the FCA would prevent the Company from
raising equity finance on the public market, or carrying
out a further acquisition using share consideration,
restricting its business activities and resulting in
incurring unnecessary costs.

• Further equity capital raisings may be required by the
Company in order to complete one or more
acquisition. If the Company does offer its Ordinary
Shares as consideration in making acquisitions,
depending on the number of Ordinary Shares offered
and the value of such Ordinary Shares at the time, the
issuance of such Ordinary Shares could materially
reduce the percentage ownership represented by the
holders of Ordinary Shares in the Company and also
dilute the value of Ordinary Shares held by such
Shareholders at the time.

• The Company has a significant number of outstanding
warrants and options and intends to issue further
warrants in connection with the Placing. All of its
convertible instruments will have a distinctive effect on
Shareholders when and if they are exercised. The
Placing itself will involve the issue of 94,333,326 new
Ordinary Shares, representing approximately 32 per
cent. of the Enlarged Issued Share Capital of the
Company. If all warrants and options were exercised,
the Existing Ordinary shares would represent 47 per
cent. of the Enlarged Issued Share Capital of the
Company.

Section E – Offer

E.1 The Company has raised gross proceeds of £283,000
pursuant to the Placing. The Joint Bookrunners, as the
Company’s agents, have procured commitments to subscribe
for the full amount of Placing Shares from subscribers in the
Placing. The costs and expenses of the Placing will be borne
by the Company in full. These expenses (including
commission and expenses payable under the Placing
Agreement, registration, listing and Admission fees, printing,

Annex XXII

(III), E.1

Annex III, 3.4

Total net
proceeds/expenses
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advertising and distribution costs and professional advisory
fees, including legal fees, and any other applicable
expenses) are not expected to exceed £90,000, representing
approximately 31 per cent. of the gross proceeds of the
Placing. The total net placing proceeds on this basis will be
£193,000 (the “Net Placing Proceeds”).

E.2a The Net Placing Proceeds will be used by the Company as
follows: (i) £80,000 is intended to be spent reviewing all
current and historical data with a view to establishing a new
database at the Gold Ridge Project (ii) £22,000 is intended
to be spent on exploration costs at the Palomino Cobalt
Project, and (iii) the remaining balance of £91,000 is
earmarked for general corporate purposes (including
directors’ fees over 18 months, marketing, website
administrative costs, and future acquisition opportunities).

E.3 The Company, the Directors and the Joint Bookrunners
have entered into the Placing Agreement relating to the
Placing pursuant to which, subject to certain conditions, the
Joint Bookrunners agreed to use their reasonable
endeavours to procure subscribers for up to 94,333,326
Placing Shares to be issued by the Company. The Placing
Shares subscribed for in the Placing will represent up to
approximately 32 per cent. of the Enlarged Issued Share
Capital.

The Company will issue 94,333,326 Placing Shares at the
Placing Price of 0.3 pence per share. The Placing is not
being underwritten. The Joint Bookrunners, as the
Company’s agents, have procured irrevocable commitments
to subscribe for the full amount of Placing Shares from
subscribers in the Placing, and there are no conditions
attached to such irrevocable commitments other than
Admission.

The Net Placing Proceeds after deduction of expenses, will
be £193,000 on the basis that the gross proceeds of the
Placing will be £283,000.

The Placing is conditional upon:

(a) the Placing Agreement becoming wholly unconditional
(save as to Admission) and not having been
terminated in accordance with its terms prior to
Admission; and

(b) Admission occurring by 8.00 a.m. on 23 July 2019 (or
such later date as the Company and the Joint
Bookrunners may agree).

The Placing Shares will, upon issue, rank pari passu with
the Ordinary Shares.

If Admission does not proceed, the Placing will not proceed
and all monies paid will be refunded to subscribers.

Annex XXII

(III), E.2a
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E.4 Material interests Not applicable

E.5 Not applicable. There are no selling Shareholders.

Under the terms of the Placing Agreement, each Director
has undertaken that he will not offer, sell, contract to sell,
pledge or otherwise dispose of any Ordinary Shares which
he holds directly or indirectly in the Company, for a period of
180 days following Admission.

The restrictions on the ability of the Directors to transfer their
Ordinary Shares are subject to certain usual and customary
exceptions including: transfers pursuant to the acceptance
of, or provision of an irrevocable undertaking to accept, a
general offer made to all Shareholders on equal terms,
transfers pursuant to an offer by or an agreement with the
Company to purchase Ordinary Shares made on identical
terms to all Shareholders or transfers as required by an
order made by a court with competent jurisdiction or
competent judicial body.

E.6 Dilution Shareholdings immediately prior to Admission will be diluted
by approximately 46 per cent. as a result of the Placing
Shares issued pursuant to the Placing.

E.7 Not applicable. No expenses will be charged to the
investors.

Annex XXII

(III), E.4

Annex XXII
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                                                    PART II                                                    

RISK FACTORS

Investment in the Company and the Ordinary Shares carries a significant degree of risk, including

risks in relation to the Company’s investing policy, risks relating to taxation and risks relating to the

Ordinary Shares.

Prospective investors should note that the risks relating to the Company, its industry and the

Ordinary Shares summarised in Part I – Summary of this document are the risks that the Directors

believe to be the most essential to an assessment by a prospective investor of whether to consider

an investment in the Ordinary Shares. However, as the risks which the Company faces relate to

events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in

the future, prospective investors should consider not only the information on the key risks

summarised in Part I – Summary of this document but also, inter alia, the risks and uncertainties

described below.

The risks referred to below are those risks that the Company and the Directors consider to be the

material risks relating to the Company. However, there may be additional risks that the Company

and the Directors do not currently consider to be material or of which the Company and the

Directors are not currently aware, that may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial

condition, results of operations or prospects. Prospective investors should review this document

carefully and in its entirety and consult with their professional advisers before making any

investment in the Ordinary Shares. If any of the risks referred to in this document were to occur,

the results of operations, financial condition and prospects of the Company could be materially

adversely affected. If that were to be the case, the trading price of the Ordinary Shares and/or the

level of dividends or distributions (if any) received from the Ordinary Shares could decline

significantly. Further, investors could lose all or part of their investment.

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE COMPANY AND ITS INVESTING POLICY

Industry-specific risks

Under the New Investing Policy, it is anticipated that the Company will invest in mining and

exploration projects in the natural resource sector, with a particular interest in opportunities in the

base and precious metals space; more specifically, in those metals required for battery and energy

production including, but not limited to, lithium, cobalt and uranium. The natural resources sector,

including the base and precious metals sector within it is closely tied to the performance of the

global economy. As a result, the natural resources sector may be affected by changes in general

economic activity levels; changes which are beyond the Company’s control.

Any further deterioration of the global economic environment could have a material adverse effect

on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition, particularly to the extent

it impacts upon the price of the commodities in which the Company has an interest.

A material decline in commodity prices globally may adversely affect the Company’s
business, prospects, financial condition and results of  operations

The Company’s strategy is to invest in projects in the natural resources sector where such projects

primarily generate revenue from the production of commodities. Accordingly, the Company’s

revenues, profitability and future rate of growth will depend substantially on the prevailing price of

commodities within the natural resource sector, which can be volatile and subject to fluctuation. In

any future or current project, fluctuations in base and precious metal prices may have a material

adverse effect on the Company’s revenues and net income.

Annex I, 4, 9.2.3

Annex III, 2
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Commodity prices in the natural resource sector are subject to fluctuation and volatility as a result

of factors beyond the Company’s control, including, but not limited to:

•         changes in the global and regional supply and demand for commodities and expectations

regarding future supply and demand for commodities;

•         changes in global and regional economic conditions and exchange rate fluctuations;

•         political, economic and military developments in commodity producing regions;

•         prevailing weather conditions;

•         geopolitical uncertainty;

•         the extent of government regulation and actions, in particular export restrictions and taxes;

•         the ability of suppliers, transporters and purchasers to perform on a timely basis, or at all,

under their agreements (including risks associated with physical delivery); and

•         potential influence on commodity prices due to the large volume of derivative transactions

on commodity exchanges and over-the-counter markets.

It is impossible to accurately predict future commodity price movements. The Company can give

no assurance that existing prices will be maintained in the future. For example, any mine that may

be acquired by the Company, a material decline in the price of cobalt may result in a reduction of

its net production revenue at such mine and a decrease in the valuation of its exploration,

appraisal, development and production properties. The economics of producing from some mines

may change as a result of lower prices, which could result in a reduction in the production

quantities. Any of these factors could potentially result in a material decrease in the Company’s net

production revenue and the financial resources available to it to make planned capital

expenditures, resulting in a material adverse effect on its future financial condition, business,

prospects and results of operations.

In addition, should relevant commodity prices increase significantly, governments or other

counterparties may want to change their commercial terms with the Company. This may result in

cancellation, termination or a unilateral change of terms (such as a change in commodity pricing

policy or the renegotiation or nullification of existing agreements) by a government or counterparty,

which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s future business, prospects, financial

condition and results of operations.

Activities in the mining sector can be dangerous and may be subject to interruption

The Company’s operations are subject to significant hazards and risks inherent in the mining

sector and countries in which it operates. These hazards and risks include:

•         explosions and fires;

•         disruption to production operations;

•         natural disasters;

•         equipment break-downs and other mechanical or system failures;

•         improper installation or operation of equipment;

•         transportation accidents or disruption of deliveries of fuel, equipment and other supplies;

•         acts of political unrest, war or terrorism;

•         labour disputes; and

•         community opposition activities.
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In addition, the Company’s future operations will be subject to all of the risks normally incidental to

the development of mines and the operation and development of mining properties, including

encountering unexpected formations, equipment failures and other accidents (including vehicle

accidents during equipment moves), adverse weather conditions, diseases impacting the health of

personnel, pollution and other environmental risks.

If any of these events were to occur, they could result in environmental damage, injury to persons

and loss of life and a failure to produce commodities in commercial quantities. They could also

result in significant delays to mining programmes, a partial or total shutdown of operations,

significant damage to the Company’s equipment and equipment owned by third parties and

personal injury or wrongful death claims being brought against the Company. These events could

also put at risk some or all of the Company’s licences which enable it to explore and develop, and

could result in the Company incurring significant civil liability claims, significant fines or penalties,

as well as criminal and potentially being enforced against the Company and its Directors. Such

events could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s future business, prospects,

financial condition and results of operations.

Exploration and development risks

Mineral exploration and development can be highly speculative in nature and involve a high degree

of risk. The economics of developing mineral properties are affected by many factors including the

cost of operations, variations of the grade of ore mined, fluctuations in the price of the minerals

being mined, fluctuations in exchange rates, costs of development, infrastructure and processing

equipment and such other factors as government regulations, including regulations relating to

royalties, allowable production, importing and exporting of minerals and environmental protection.

In addition, the grade of mineralisation ultimately mined may differ from that indicated by drilling

results and such differences could be material. As a result of these uncertainties, there can be no

guarantee that mineral exploration and development of any of the Company’s investments will

result in profitable commercial operations. Such uncertainties could have a material adverse effect

on the Company’s future business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Operating risks

The activities of the Company are subject to all of the hazards and risks normally incidental to

exploring and developing natural resource projects. These risks and uncertainties include, but are

not limited to, environmental hazards, industrial accidents, labour disputes, encountering unusual

or unexpected geological formations or other geological or grade problems, unanticipated changes

in metallurgical characteristics and mineral recovery, encountering unanticipated ground or water

conditions, cave-ins, pit wall failures, flooding, rock bursts, periodic interruptions due to inclement

or hazardous weather conditions and other acts of God or unfavourable operating conditions and

losses. Should any of these risks and hazards affect the Company’s exploration, development or

mining activities, it may cause the cost of production to increase to a point where it would no longer

be economic to produce mineral resources from the Company’s investments, require the Company

to write-down the carrying value of one or more investments, cause delays or a stoppage of mining

and processing, result in the destruction of mineral properties or processing facilities, cause death

or personal injury and related legal liability; any and all of which could have a material adverse

effect on the Company’s future business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

It is not always possible to fully insure against such risks as a result of high premiums or other

reasons (including those in respect of past mining activities for which the Company was not

responsible). Should such liabilities arise, they could reduce or eliminate any future profitability,

result in increasing costs or the loss of its assets and a decline in the value of the Ordinary Shares.

Estimates of  mineral reserves and resources

The estimating of mineral reserves and mineral resources is a subjective process and the

estimates of mineral reserves and resources for projects are, to a large extent, based on the
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interpretation of geological data obtained from drill holes and other sampling techniques and

feasibility studies which derive estimates of costs based upon anticipated tonnage and grades of

ores to be mined and processed, the configuration of the ore body, expected recovery rates from

the ore, estimated operating costs, anticipated climatic conditions and other factors.

There is significant uncertainty in any reserve or resource estimate and the actual deposits

encountered and the economic viability of mining a deposit may differ materially from the

Company’s estimates. The exploration of mineral rights is speculative in nature and is frequently

unsuccessful. The Company’s investments may be unable successfully to discover and exploit

new reserves to replace those they are mining to ensure the on-going viability of its projects.

Estimated mineral reserves or mineral resources may have to be recalculated based on changes

in forecast metals prices, further exploration or development activity or actual production

experience. This could have a material adverse effect on estimates of the volume or grade of

mineralisation, estimated recovery rates or other important factors that influence reserve or

resource estimates. Market price fluctuations for base metals, increased production costs or

reduced recovery rates, or other factors may render any mineral reserves of the Company

uneconomical or unprofitable to develop at a particular site or sites and could have a material

adverse effect on the Company’s future business, prospects, financial condition and results of

operations.

The gold price is volatile and affected by factors beyond the Company’s control

If the market price of gold decreases significantly or for an extended period of time, the value of

the Ordinary Shares could be adversely affected. In the past gold prices have fluctuated widely.

Numerous external factors affect gold prices that are beyond the control of the Company. Industry

factors that affect gold prices include:

•         industrial and jewellery demand;

•         lending, sales and purchases of gold by governments and central banks;

•         forward sales of gold by producers and speculators;

•         levels of gold production; and

•         rapid short term changes in supply and demand because of speculative or hedging activities.

Gold prices are also affected by macroeconomic factors including:

•         confidence in the global monetary system;

•         expectations of the future rate of inflation;

•         the strength of, and confidence in, the US dollar, the currency in which the price of gold is

generally quoted, and other currencies;

•         interest rates; and

•         global or regional political or economic events.

The Uranium Project is dependent on the uranium price, which is volatile and affected by
factors beyond the Company’s control

The Uranium Project focuses almost entirely on the acquisition and ownership of triuranium

octoxide (“U
3
O

8
”), the most stable form of uranium oxide and the form most commonly found in

nature. Therefore, factors which affect the uranium price are also likely to affect the future

productivity of the Uranium Project which in turn may affect the price of the Ordinary Shares. At

this time, it is not contemplated that the Company will engage in any hedging activities involving
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U
3
O

8
. The value of the Ordinary Shares may reflect, and fluctuate with, movements in the uranium

price.

The uranium price is affected by a number of factors beyond the Company’s control, including

rates of reclaiming and recycling of uranium, rates of production of uranium from mining, and

changes in availability of the underlying resource, the impact of nuclear accidents such as

Fukushima, disruptions in supply due to natural disasters and other force majeure events. The

uranium price may also be affected by a variety of unpredictable international economic, monetary

and political considerations, including demand from nuclear power plants and other end users,

increased efficiency of nuclear power plants, increased availability of alternative nuclear fuel, such

as mixed oxide fuel generated in part from weapons grade plutonium, regulation and government

policy, sales of excess inventories by governments, the behaviour of the Company’s competitors

and other industry participants and public and political opinion of the nuclear industry.

Macroeconomic considerations include expectations of future rates of inflation, the strength of, and

confidence in, the US dollar (being the currency in which the uranium price is generally quoted)

and other currencies, interest rates and the availability of financing or credit more generally and

other global or regional economic events. In addition, shifts in political and economic conditions

affecting uranium producing countries may have a direct impact on their sales of uranium.

Movements in the uranium price could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business,

results of operations and financial condition.

There is no public market for the sale of  U3O8 and it is therefore an illiquid commodity

There is no public market for the sale of U
3
O

8
. The pool of typical potential purchasers and sellers

of U
3
O

8
is limited and the Directors consider the spot market for U

3
O

8
to be thinly traded. Following

Admission, it is possible that the Company, through the Uranium Project, may not be able to source

opportunities to acquire material quantities of U
3
O

8
. Once acquired, the Company may not be able

to sell U
3
O

8
or may not be able to sell U

3
O

8
in the quantities, or within the timeframes, desired.

Additionally, transacting in U
3
O

8
in quantities which are significant relative to the size of the market

as a whole could potentially materially impact the uranium price, which in turn may materially

impact the share price of the Company or have a material adverse effect on the Company’s

business, results of operations and financial condition.

Competition from other energy sources and public acceptance of  nuclear energy

Nuclear energy competes with other sources of energy, including oil, natural gas, coal and hydro-

electricity. These other energy sources are to some extent interchangeable with nuclear energy,

particularly over the longer term. Sustained lower prices of oil, natural gas, coal and hydro-

electricity, as well as the possibility of developing other low-cost sources for energy, or technical

advances in the development of renewable and other alternate forms of energy, may result in lower

demand for U
3
O

8
. Furthermore, growth of the uranium and nuclear power industry will depend

upon continued and increased acceptance of nuclear technology as a means of generating

electricity. Because of unique political, technological and environmental factors that affect the

nuclear industry, the industry is subject to public opinion and reputational risks which could have

an adverse impact on the demand for nuclear power and increase the regulation of the nuclear

power industry. As a result, such negative publicity could depress the uranium price and,

consequently, have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations

and financial condition.

In addition, in the event of a nuclear accident, government policy in key markets could shift towards

using other forms of energy, leading to a reduction in the demand for U
3
O

8
. For example, following

the Fukushima disaster, Japan idled all of its nuclear plants. A reduction in the demand for U
3
O

8

following a future nuclear incident could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s

business, results of operations, and financial condition.
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Any additional uranium commodity streams or royalty interests acquired by the Company
will be subject to many of  the same risks as the owners and/or operators of  the underlying
mining properties

Any uranium commodity streams or royalty interests acquired by the Company will be dependent

on the continued and successful operation of the underlying mining properties. The Company will

be subject to many of the risks applicable to the operators of such properties including, amongst

others, commodity price risk (see “The uranium price is volatile and affected by factors beyond the
Company’s control” above), development risk, production risk, and counterparty risk. The

development and operation of the underlying mining properties will be subject to certain factors,

including the ability to access financing, the accuracy of assumptions regarding the estimates of

mineral reserves and resources and production estimates, natural disaster and other force

majeure events, changes in government regulation and changing political attitudes and stability in

the countries in which they are situated, the ability to acquire and maintain required government

approvals, licences and permits, access to infrastructure and the ability to recruit and retain

personnel with sufficient technical expertise.

In addition, generally, the third party owners and operators of the underlying mining properties will,

subject to any government requirements, have the power to determine the manner in which the

relevant mining properties are exploited and the interests of those third party owners and operators

and those of the Company may not always be aligned.

The success of any uranium commodity streams or royalty interests acquired by the Company will

be dependent, in part, upon the operating performance, profitability, financial position and

creditworthiness of the underlying mining properties and on the ability of the third party owners and

operators to deliver production, or to make royalty payments, to the Company, as the case may

be. If such third party owners and operators are not able to fulfil their obligations to the Company

this could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and

financial condition.

In relation to “battery metals” (cobalt and lithium) the Company is relying on the price of
these metals remaining relatively stable and on fact the demand will continue to grow year
on year for the foreseeable future.

The largest drivers for demand of cobalt and lithium are battery manufacturers. The use of lithium

and cobalt has grown commensurately with the development and deployment of new compact and

more efficient battery technologies. A major source of battery demand will otherwise be the electric

vehicle market, which will become the largest single consumer of cobalt and lithium. Should new

battery technologies emerge which utilise alternatives to cobalt and/or lithium, this could have a

significant negative impact of the price of these commodities. As of the date of this document, the

Company and the Directors are not aware of any imminent substitution technologies in this regard.

However, in the event that new battery technologies emerge this could have a material impact on

the price of such commodity which in turn could affect the future profitability of the Company.

A significant reduction in global demand for base, battery and precious metals, leading to a fall in

prices, could lead to a delay in production or even abandonment of one of more of the Company’s

projects should such projects prove uneconomical to develop. A delay in production or the

abandonment of one or more projects may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s

production, earnings and financial position.

Implementation risk

The Company currently has no assets producing positive cash flow and its ultimate success will

depend on the Directors’ ability to implement the New Investing Policy outlined in this document,

generate cash flow from the Company’s potential investments, and access equity and debt

financing markets as the Company grows and develops. Whilst the Directors’ are optimistic about

the New Investing Policy there is no certainty that anticipated outcomes and sustainable revenue

streams will be achieved.
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Profitability and capital requirements

Natural resource project appraisal and exploration activities are capital intensive and inherently

uncertain in their outcome. The Company’s future natural resource appraisals and exploration

projects may involve unprofitable efforts, either from areas of exploration which ultimately prove

not to contain natural resources, or from areas in which a natural resource discovery is made but

is not economically recoverable at current or near future market prices when including the costs of

development, operation and other costs. In addition, environmental damage could greatly increase

the cost of operations, and various operating conditions may adversely and materially affect the

levels of production. These conditions include delays in obtaining governmental approvals or

consents, delays due to extreme weather conditions, insufficient storage or transportation capacity

or adverse geological conditions. While diligent supervision and effective maintenance operations

can contribute to maximising production rates over time, production delays and declines from

normal operations cannot be eliminated and may adversely and materially affect the Company’s

revenues, cashflow, business, results of operations and financial resources and condition.

Acquisition, retention and conversion of  licences, permits and other regulatory approvals

The ability of the Company’s current and potential investments to develop and exploit natural

resources depends on the Company’s continued compliance with the obligations of any applicable

exploration rights and the Company’s ability to convert exploration opportunities into production

and/or mining licences and/or invest in mining operations that are already well advanced. The

Company’s potential investments depend on a number of material factors including various

licences, the grant and renewal of which are subject to the discretion of the relevant governmental

authorities and cannot be assured. In the event that the Company did not comply with the

obligations of any exploration rights that may be granted to the Company and terms of any such

mining licences that the Company may enter into may materially affect the Company’s ability to

develop and exploit natural resources and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s

future business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, the Company’s operating activities may occur in jurisdictions with intensive

regulations relating to mining and are subject to extensive laws and regulations governing

expropriation of property, health and worker safety, employment standards, waste disposal,

protection of the environment, mine development, land and water use, prospecting, mineral

production, exports, taxes, labour standards, occupational health standards, toxic wastes, the

protection of endangered and protected species and other matters. While the Company believes

that its current and potential investments will comply with all material applicable laws and

regulations affecting its activities, future changes in applicable laws, regulations, agreements or

changes in their enforcement or regulatory interpretation could result in changes in legal

requirements or in the terms of existing permits and agreements applicable to the Company or its

investments, which could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s current operations or

planned development projects. Where required, obtaining necessary permits and licences can be

a complex, time consuming process and the Company cannot assure that any necessary permits

will be obtainable on acceptable terms, in a timely manner or at all. The costs and delays

associated with obtaining necessary permits and complying with these permits and applicable laws

and regulations could stop or materially delay or restrict the Company from proceeding with any

future exploration or development of its investments and could have a material adverse effect on

the Company’s future business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

General and political risks and uncertainties relating to operating in remote areas

The Uranium Project is located in Kyrgyzstan and accordingly the Company will be subject to the

risks and uncertainties associated with operating in such an environment. These risks and

uncertainties include, but are not limited to periods, particularly in winter, when the

Kamyshanovskoye mine may become inaccessible by road or river, causing significant disruption

to deliveries of suppliers, labour and equipment and of concentrate for sale. Stockpiling is the only

feasible solution to this problem which may impact cashflows. Workers may demand enhanced
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levels of pay for working in extreme conditions and, at times, the Company may be paying staff

and workers who are economically inactive due to weather conditions necessitating a supervision

of operations, which may last for some weeks in extreme cases.

Additionally, Kyrgyzstan is considered to be an emerging market. Investments in emerging markets

are often subject to greater risks than investments in more developed markets. Economies in

emerging markets such as Kyrgyzstan are in various stages of development or structural reform,

and some are subject to rapid fluctuations in their foreign exchange rates, gross domestic product

(“GDP”), consumer prices and interest rates. The Company’s operations may be subject to the risk

of sudden changes in regulatory and taxation regimes, political or labour unrest, acts of terrorism

or other violence, corruption, inflation or recession. For example, on 2 May 2019, the parliament

of the Kyrgyz Republic voted in favour of the Uranium Ban. The government of Kyrgyzstan has

been instructed to draft legislation to put the Uranium Ban into effect. In addition, financial

instability in other markets adjacent to Kyrgyzstan, such as other Central Asian countries, may

adversely affect the markets in which the Company operates. All of these factors may affect the

economic and trading conditions in which the Company operates. These factors could also

increase the costs of operating in Kyrgyzstan. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse

effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Environmental regulation                                                                                                                 

Environmental and safety legislation (for example, in relation to reclamation, disposal of waste

products, protection of wildlife and otherwise relating to environmental protection) may change in

a manner that may require stricter or additional standards than those now in effect, a heightened

degree of responsibility for companies and their directors and employees and more stringent

enforcement of existing laws and regulations. This could impose significant costs and burdens on

the Company’s investments (the extent of which cannot be predicted) both in terms of compliance

and potential penalties, liabilities and remediation. Breach of any environmental obligations could

result in penalties and civil liabilities and/or suspension of operations, any of which could adversely

affect the Company’s investments.

Mining operations have inherent risks and liabilities associated with damage to the environment

and the disposal of waste products occurring as a result of mineral exploration and production.

Laws and regulations involving the protection and the remediation of the environment are

constantly changing and are generally becoming more restrictive. Approval is required for land

clearing and for ground disturbing activities. Delays in obtaining such approvals can result in a

delay to anticipated exploration programmes or mining activities.

There may also be unforeseen environmental liabilities resulting from mining activities, which may

be costly to remedy. If one of the Company’s investments is unable to fully remedy an

environmental problem, it may be required to stop or suspend operations or enter into interim

compliance measures pending completion of the required remedy. The potential exposure may be

significant and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s future business, prospects,

financial condition and results of operations.

Identifying and acquiring suitable acquisition targets

The success of the Company’s business strategy is dependent on its ability to identify sufficient

suitable acquisition opportunities. Suitable acquisition targets may not always be readily available.

If the Company cannot identify and/or complete an acquisition the Company may need to raise

further working capital and/or consider winding up of the Company if it transpires that the

acquisition strategy is no longer viable.

The Company’s initial and future acquisition targets may be delayed or made at a relatively slow

rate because, inter alia:

•         the Company intends to conduct detailed due diligence prior to approving acquisition targets;

Annex I, 8.2
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•         the Company may conduct extensive negotiations in order to secure and facilitate an

acquisition targets;

•         it may be necessary to establish certain structures in order to facilitate an acquisition target;

•         competition from other investors, market conditions or other factors may mean that the

Company cannot identify attractive acquisition targets or such acquisition targets may not be

available at the rate the Company currently anticipates;

•         the Company may be unable to agree on acceptable terms;

•         the Company may be unable to raise bank finance or other sources of finance on terms the

Directors consider reasonable; or

•         the Company may need to raise further capital to make investments and/or fund the assets

or businesses invested in, which may not be achieved.

To secure an acquisition, working capital is required for general expenses and also for due

diligence on any such acquisition. These sums can be considerable depending on the nature and

location of the acquisition target. Should such funds be expended without securing an acquisition,

existing working capital will be denuded. If there are several such occurrences, more working

capital would be required.

Even if  the Company completes an acquisition, there is no assurance that any operating
improvements will be successful or that they will be effective in increasing the valuation of
any business acquired

Following an acquisition, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to propose and

implement effective operational improvements for any company or business which the Company

acquires. In addition, even if the Company completes an acquisition, general economic and market

conditions or other factors outside the Company’s control could make the Company’s operating

strategies difficult or impossible to implement. Any failure to implement these operational

improvements successfully and/or the failure of these operational improvements to deliver the

anticipated benefits could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s future business,

prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

The Company may face significant competition for acquisition opportunities

There may be significant competition in some or all of the acquisition opportunities that the

Company may explore. Such competition may for example come from strategic buyers, sovereign

wealth funds, other special purpose acquisition companies and public and private investment

funds many of which are well established and have extensive experience in identifying and

completing acquisitions. A number of these competitors may possess greater technical, financial,

human and other resources than the Company. The Company cannot assure investors that it will

be successful against such competition. Such competition may cause the Company to be

unsuccessful in executing an acquisition or may result in a successful acquisition being made at a

significantly higher price than would otherwise have been the case.

Any due diligence by the Company in connection with an acquisition may not reveal all
relevant considerations or liabilities of  the target business, which could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of  operations

The Company intends to conduct such due diligence as it deems reasonably practicable and

appropriate based on the facts and circumstances applicable to any potential acquisition. The

objective of the due diligence process will be to identify material issues which might affect the

decision to proceed with any one particular acquisition target or the consideration payable for an

acquisition. The Company also intends to use information revealed during the due diligence

process to formulate its business and operational planning for, and its valuation of, any target

company or business. Whilst conducting due diligence and assessing a potential acquisition, the
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Company will rely on publicly available information, if any, information provided by the relevant

target company to the extent such company is willing or able to provide such information and, in

some circumstances, third party investigations.

There can be no assurance that the due diligence undertaken with respect to a potential

acquisition will reveal all relevant facts that may be necessary to evaluate such acquisition

including, the determination of the price the Company may pay for an acquisition target, or to

formulate a business strategy. Furthermore, the information provided during due diligence may be

incomplete, inadequate or inaccurate. As part of the due diligence process, the Company will also

make subjective judgments regarding the results of operations, financial condition and prospects

of a potential opportunity. If the due diligence investigation fails to correctly identify material issues

and liabilities that may be present in a target company or business, or if the Company considers

such material risks to be commercially acceptable relative to the opportunity, and the Company

proceeds with an acquisition, the Company may subsequently incur substantial impairment

charges or other losses. In addition, following an acquisition, the Company may be subject to

significant, previously undisclosed liabilities of the acquired business that were not identified during

due diligence and which could contribute to poor operational performance, undermine any attempt

to restructure the acquired company or business in line with the Company’s business plan and

could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s future business, prospects, financial

condition and results of operations.

The Company may be unable to complete an acquisition or to fund the operations of  the
target business if  it does not obtain additional funding

Although the Company intends to finance acquisitions primarily through the issue of consideration

shares in the Company, if, following an acquisition, the Company’s cash reserves are insufficient,

the Company will likely be required to seek additional equity financing. The Company may not

receive sufficient support from its existing Shareholders to raise additional equity, and new equity

investors may be unwilling to invest on terms that are favourable to the Company, or at all. In the

event that the Company pursues debt financing as a means to obtain additional financing, it may

be the case that lenders may be unwilling to extend debt financing to the Company on attractive

terms, or at all. To the extent that additional equity or debt financing is necessary to complete an

acquisition and remains unavailable or only available on terms that are unacceptable to the

Company, the Company may be compelled either to restructure or abandon an acquisition, or

proceed with an acquisition on less favourable terms, which may reduce the Company’s return on

the investment.

Even if additional financing is unnecessary to complete an acquisition, the Company may

subsequently require equity or debt financing to implement operational improvements in an

acquired business. The failure to secure additional financing or to secure such additional financing

on terms acceptable to the Company could have a material adverse effect on the continued

development or growth of the acquired business and on the Company’s future business,

prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

An acquisition may result in adverse tax, regulatory or other consequences for
Shareholders which may differ for individual Shareholders depending on their status and
residence

Although a number of potential acquisition opportunities have been identified, currently, there are

no plans, arrangements or understandings with any prospective target company or business

regarding the acquisition, and as such it is possible that any acquisition structure determined

necessary by the Company to complete an acquisition may have adverse tax, regulatory or other

consequences for Shareholders which may differ for individual Shareholders depending on their

individual status and residence.
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The Company is dependent upon the Directors to identify potential acquisition
opportunities and to execute an acquisition and the loss of  the services of  any of  the
Directors could materially adversely affect the Company’s ability to identify such
acquisition targets

The Company is dependent upon the Directors to identify potential acquisition opportunities and to

execute an acquisition. The unexpected loss of the services of the Directors (or any one of them)

could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to identify potential acquisition

opportunities and to execute on acquisition.

The Directors may allocate their time to other businesses leading to potential conflicts of
interest in their determination as to how much time to devote to the Company’s affairs,
which could have a negative impact on the Company’s ability to complete an acquisition

None of the Directors are required to commit their full time, or any specified amount of time, to the

Company’s affairs, which could create a conflict of interest when allocating their time between the

Company’s operations and their other commitments. The Company does not intend to have any

executive officers or full time employees prior to the completion of an acquisition. The Directors are

engaged in other business endeavours and are not obligated to devote any specific number of

hours to the Company’s affairs. If the Directors’ other business affairs require them to devote more

substantial amounts of time to such affairs, it could limit their ability to devote time to the

Company’s affairs and could have a negative impact on the Company’s ability to consummate an

acquisition.

If  an acquisition is completed, the Company’s principal source of  operating cash will be
income received from the business it has acquired

If an acquisition is completed, the Company will be dependent on the income generated by the

acquired business to meet the Company’s expenses and operating cash requirements. The

amount of distributions and dividends, if any, which may be paid from any operating subsidiary to

the Company will depend on many factors, including such subsidiary’s results of operations and

financial condition, limits on dividends under applicable law, its constitutional documents,

documents governing any indebtedness of the Company, and other factors which may be outside

the control of the Company. If the acquired business is unable to generate sufficient cash flow, the

Company may be unable to pay its expenses or make distributions and dividends on the Ordinary

Shares.

The Company may encounter difficulties with joint venture partners

From time to time, the Company may enter into joint venture arrangements (such as the Uranium

Project) to fund a portion of the exploration and development costs associated with its investments.

Moreover, other companies may from time to time operate some of the other investments in which

the Company has an ownership interest. Liquidity and cash flow problems encountered by the

partners and co-owners of such assets and any non-compliance by the partners and co-owners

may lead to a delay in the pace of project development that may be detrimental to an investment

or may otherwise have adverse consequences for the Company. In addition, any joint venture

partners may be unwilling or unable to pay their share of the costs of projects as they become due.

In the case of a joint venture partner, the Company may have to obtain alternative funding in order

to complete the exploration and development of the assets subject to the joint venture agreement.

The Company cannot assure investors that it would be able to obtain the capital necessary in order

to fund this contingency. It is also possible that the interests of the Company and those of any joint

venture partners are not aligned resulting in project delays or additional costs.

Annex I, 14.2
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The Company will be subject to competition for its skilled personnel and challenges in
attracting and retaining key personnel, including the Directors and any Senior Managers
could impair the Company’s ability to conduct and grow its operations effectively

The Company’s ability to compete in the competitive natural resources sector depends upon its

ability to retain and attract highly qualified management, geological and technical personnel. The

loss of key management and/or technical personnel could delay the development of the

Company’s assets and negatively impact the ability of the Company to compete in the resources

sector. In addition, the Company will need to recruit new managers and key personnel to develop

its business as and when it expands into fields which require additional skills. Other resource

companies that it competes against for qualified personnel may have greater financial and other

resources, different risk profiles or longer track records than the Company. If this competition is

very intense, the Company might not be able to attract or retain these key persons on conditions

that are economically acceptable. Therefore, the inability of the Company to retain and attract such

key persons could prevent it from achieving its objectives overall which could have a material

adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Company may be subject to foreign investment and exchange risks                                 

The Company’s functional and presentational currency is UK Pound Sterling. As a result, the

Company’s consolidated financial statements will carry the Company’s assets in UK Pounds

Sterling. Any business the Company acquires may denominate its financial information in a

currency other than UK Pounds Sterling, conduct operations or make sales in currencies other

than UK Pounds Sterling. When consolidating a business that has functional currencies other than

UK Pounds Sterling, the Company will be required to translate, inter alia, the balance sheet and

operational results of such business into UK Pounds Sterling. Due to the foregoing, changes in

exchange rates between UK Pounds Sterling and other currencies could lead to significant

changes in the Company’s reported financial results from period to period. Among the factors that

may affect currency values are trade balances, levels of short-term interest rates, differences in

relative values of similar assets in different currencies, long-term opportunities for investment and

capital appreciation and political or regulatory developments. Although the Company may seek to

manage its foreign exchange exposure, including by active use of hedging and derivative

instruments, there is no assurance that such arrangements will be entered into or available at all

times when the Company wishes to use them or that they will be sufficient to cover the risk.

RISKS RELATING TO TAXATION

Taxation of  returns from assets located outside of  the UK may reduce any net return to
investors

To the extent that any assets, company or business which the Company acquires is or are

established outside the UK, it is possible that any return the Company receives from such asset,

company or business may be reduced by irrecoverable foreign withholding or other local taxes and

this may reduce any net return derived by investors from a shareholding in the Company.

Changes in tax law and practice may reduce any net returns for investors                              

The tax treatment of Shareholders of the Company, any special purpose vehicle that the Company

may establish and any company which the Company may acquire are all subject to changes in tax

laws or practices in England and Wales or any other relevant jurisdiction. Any change may reduce

any net return derived by investors from a shareholding in the Company. Investors should not rely

on the general guide to taxation set out in this document and should seek their own specialist

advice. The tax rates referred to in this document are those currently applicable and they are

subject to change.

Annex III, 4.4
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There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to make returns for Shareholders
in a tax-efficient manner

It is intended that the Company will structure the Group, including any company or business

acquired in an acquisition, to maximise returns for Shareholders in as fiscally efficient a manner as

is practicable. The Company has made certain assumptions regarding taxation. However, if these

assumptions are not correct, taxes may be imposed with respect to the Company’s assets or the

Company may be subject to tax on its income, profits, gains or distributions (either on a liquidation

and dissolution or otherwise) in a particular jurisdiction or jurisdictions in excess of taxes that were

anticipated. This could alter the post-tax returns for Shareholders (or Shareholders in certain

jurisdictions). The level of return for Shareholders may also be adversely affected. Any change in

laws or tax authority practices could also adversely affect any post-tax returns of capital to

Shareholders or payments of dividends (if any, which the Company does not envisage the

payment of, at least in the short to medium term). In addition, the Company may incur costs in

taking steps to mitigate any such adverse effect on the post-tax returns for Shareholders.

RISKS RELATING TO THE ORDINARY SHARES

No pre-emption rights and indebtedness related liquidity                                                           

Although the Company will receive the Net Placing Proceeds, the Directors anticipate that the

Company may issue a substantial number of additional Ordinary Shares, or incur substantial

indebtedness to complete one or more acquisitions.

Shareholders do not initially have the benefit of pre-emption rights in respect of the issues of future

shares, which may be issued to facilitate any acquisitions and for other purposes. In addition, the

Company may issue shares or convertible debt securities or incur substantial indebtedness to

complete an acquisition, which may dilute the interests of Shareholders.

Any issue of Ordinary Shares, preferred shares or convertible debt securities may:

•         significantly dilute the value of the Ordinary Shares held by existing Shareholders;

•         cause a change of control (“Change of Control’’) if a substantial number of Ordinary Shares

are issued, which may;

•         inter alia, result in the resignation or removal of one or more of the Directors;

•         in certain circumstances, have the effect of delaying or preventing a Change of Control;

•         subordinate the rights of holders of Ordinary Shares if preferred shares are issued with rights

senior to those of Ordinary Shares; or

•         adversely affect the market prices of the Company’s Ordinary Shares.

If Ordinary Shares, preferred shares or convertible debt securities are issued as consideration for

an acquisition, existing Shareholders will have no pre-emptive rights with regard to the securities

that are issued. The issue of such Ordinary Shares, preferred shares or convertible debt securities

is likely to materially dilute the value of the Ordinary Shares held by existing Shareholders. Where

a target company has an existing large shareholder, an issue of Ordinary Shares, preferred shares

or convertible debt securities as consideration may result in such shareholder subsequently

holding a significant or majority stake in the Company, which may, in turn, enable it to exert

significant influence over the Company (to a greater or lesser extent depending on the size of its

holding) and could lead to a Change of Control.

If the Company were to incur substantial indebtedness in relation to an acquisition, this could

result in:

•         default and foreclosure on the Company’s assets, if its cash flow from operations were

insufficient to pay its debt obligations as they become due;

Annex III, 2
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•         acceleration of its obligation to repay indebtedness, even if it has made all payments when

due, if it breaches, without a waiver, covenants that require the maintenance of financial

ratios or reserves or impose operating restrictions;

•         a demand for immediate payment of all principal and accrued interest, if any, if the

indebtedness is payable on demand; or

•         an inability to obtain additional financing, if any indebtedness incurred contains covenants

restricting its ability to incur additional indebtedness.

The occurrence of any or a combination of these factors could decrease an investor’s ownership

interests in the Company or have a material adverse effect on its financial condition and results of

operations.

The proposed Standard Listing of  the Ordinary Shares will afford investors a lower level of
regulatory protection than a Premium Listing

Application will be made for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to a Standard Listing on the Official

List. A Standard Listing will afford investors in the Company a lower level of regulatory protection

than that afforded to investors in a company with a Premium Listing, which is subject to additional

obligations under the Listing Rules.

While the Company has a Standard Listing, it is not required to comply with the provisions of,

inter alia:

•         Chapter 8 of the Listing Rules regarding the appointment of a sponsor to guide the Company

in understanding and meeting its responsibilities under the Listing Rules in connection with

certain matters. The Company has not and does not intend to appoint such a sponsor in

connection with the Placing and Admission;

•         Chapter 9 of the Listing Rules relating to the ongoing obligations for companies admitted to

the Premium List and therefore does not apply to the Company;

•         Chapter 10 of the Listing Rules relating to significant transactions. It should be noted

therefore that an acquisition will not require Shareholder consent, even if Ordinary Shares

are being issued as consideration for the acquisition;

•         Chapter 11 of the Listing Rules regarding related party transactions. Nevertheless, the

Company will not enter into any transaction which would constitute a ‘related party

transaction’ as defined in Chapter 11 of the Listing Rules without the specific prior approval

of the Directors;

•         Chapter 12 of the Listing Rules regarding purchases by the Company of its Ordinary Shares.

In particular, the Company has not adopted a policy consistent with the provisions of Listing

Rules 12.4.1 and 12.4.2. Until the completion of an acquisition, the Company will have

unlimited authority to purchase Ordinary Shares; and

•         Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules regarding the form and content of circulars to be sent to

Shareholders.

It should be noted that the FCA will not have the authority to (and will not) monitor the

Company’s compliance with any of the Listing Rules which the Company has indicated

herein that it intends to comply with on a voluntary basis, nor to impose sanctions in

respect of any failure by the Company so to comply.

The Company may be unable to seek admission to a Premium Listing or other appropriate
listing venue following an acquisition

The Company is not currently eligible for a Premium Listing under Chapter 6 of the Listing Rules.

Upon completion of an acquisition, the Company’s Standard Listing will be cancelled and it will be

Annex III, 6.1
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treated as a new applicant. The Directors may then seek admission either to a Premium Listing,

Standard Listing or listing on another stock exchange, based on, inter alia, the track record of the

Company or business it acquires, and to fulfilling the relevant eligibility criteria at the time. There

can be no guarantee that the Company will meet such eligibility criteria or that the Company will

qualify for a Premium Listing, Standard Listing or a listing on another stock exchange. For

example, such eligibility criteria may not be met, if the Company acquires less than a controlling

interest in the target. In addition there may be a delay, which could be significant, between the

completion of the acquisition and the date upon which the Company is able to seek or achieve a

Premium Listing, Standard Listing or a listing on another stock exchange.

If the Company does not achieve, or is not capable of achieving, a Premium Listing or the Directors

decide, subject to eligibility, upon a Standard Listing, the Company will not be obliged to comply

with the higher standards of corporate governance or other requirements which it would be subject

to upon achieving a Premium Listing and, for as long as the Company continues to have a

Standard Listing, it will be required to continue to comply with the lesser standards applicable to

a company with a Standard Listing. This would mean that the Company could be operating a

substantial business but would not need to comply with such higher standards as a Premium

Listing provides. Alternatively, in addition to, or in lieu of seeking a Premium Listing, the Company

may determine to seek a listing on another stock exchange, which may not have standards or

corporate governance comparable to those required by a Premium Listing or which Shareholders

may otherwise consider to be less attractive or convenient.

If  the Company proposes making an acquisition and the FCA determines that there is
insufficient information in the market about an acquisition or the target, the Company’s
Ordinary Shares may be suspended from listing or cancelled and may not be readmitted to
listing thereafter, which will reduce liquidity in the Ordinary Shares, potentially for a
significant period of  time, and may adversely affect the price at which a Shareholder can
sell them

An acquisition, if it occurs, will be treated as a reverse takeover. Generally, when a reverse

takeover is announced or leaked, there will be insufficient publicly available information in the

market about the proposed transaction and the listed company will be unable to assess accurately

its financial position and inform the market appropriately. In this case, the FCA will often consider

that suspension of the listing of the listed company’s securities will be appropriate. The London

Stock Exchange will suspend the trading in the listed company’s securities if the listing of such

securities has been suspended by the FCA. However, if the FCA is satisfied that there is sufficient

publicly available information about the proposed transaction it may agree with the listed company

that a suspension is not required. The FCA will generally be satisfied that a suspension is not

required in the following circumstances: (i) the target company is admitted to listing on a regulated

market or another exchange where the disclosure requirements in relation to financial information

and inside information are not materially different than the disclosure requirements under the

Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules; or (ii) the issuer is able to fill any information gap

at the time of announcing the terms of the transaction, including the disclosure of relevant financial

information in relation to the target and a description of the target.

If information regarding a significant proposed transaction were to leak to the market, or the Board

considered that there were good reasons for announcing the transaction at a time when it was

unable to provide the market with sufficient information regarding the impact of the acquisition on

its financial position, the Ordinary Shares may be suspended. Any such suspension would be likely

to continue until sufficient financial information on the transaction was made public. Depending on

the nature of the transaction (or proposed transaction) and the stage at which it is leaked or

announced, it may take a substantial period of time to compile the relevant information, particularly

where the target does not have financial or other information readily available which is comparable

with the information a listed company would be expected to provide under the Disclosure Guidance

and Transparency Rules and the Listing Rules (for example, where the target business is not itself
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already subject to a public disclosure regime), and the period during which the Ordinary Shares

would be suspended may therefore be significant.

Furthermore, the Listing Rules provide that the FCA will generally seek to cancel the listing of a

listed company’s securities when it completes a reverse takeover. In such circumstances, the

Company will be required to seek admission to listing as a new applicant either simultaneously with

completion of any such acquisition or as soon thereafter as is possible but there is no guarantee

that such re-admission would be granted.

A suspension or cancellation of the listing of the Ordinary Shares would materially reduce liquidity

in such shares which may affect an investor’s ability to realise some or all of its investment and/or

the price at which such investor can effect such realisation.

Investors may not be able to realise returns on their investment in Ordinary Shares within a
period that they would consider to be reasonable

Investments in Ordinary Shares may be relatively illiquid. There may be a limited number of

Shareholders and this factor, together with the number of Ordinary Shares to be issued pursuant

to the Placing, may contribute both to infrequent trading in the Ordinary Shares on the London

Stock Exchange and to volatile Ordinary Share price movements. Investors should not expect that

they will necessarily be able to realise their investment in Ordinary Shares within a period that they

would regard as reasonable. Accordingly, the Ordinary Shares may not be suitable for short-term

investment. Admission should not be taken as implying that there will be an active trading market

for the Ordinary Shares. Even if an active trading market develops, the market price for the

Ordinary Shares may fall below the Placing Price.

Dividend payments on the Ordinary Shares are not guaranteed and the Company does not
intend to pay dividends prior to an acquisition

To the extent the Company intends to pay dividends on the Ordinary Shares, it will pay such

dividends at such times (if any) and in such amounts (if any) as the Board determines appropriate

and in accordance with applicable law, but expects to be principally reliant upon dividends received

on shares held by it in any operating subsidiaries in order to do so. Payments of such dividends

will be dependent on the availability of any dividends or other distributions from such subsidiaries.

The Company can therefore give no assurance that it will be able to pay dividends going forward

or as to the amount of such dividends, if any.

Compliance costs

The costs to the Company of complying with the continuing obligations under the Listing Rules,

Prospectus Rules and Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules will be financially significant

due to the Company’s relatively small size and these costs might prove financially onerous. The

Company’s listing might be cancelled if the Company fails to comply with its continuing obligations

under the Listing Rules.

Restrictions on offering Ordinary Shares as consideration for an acquisition or
requirements to provide alternative consideration

In certain jurisdictions, there may be legal, regulatory or practical restrictions on the

Company using its Ordinary Shares as consideration for an acquisition which may mean that

the Company is required to provide alternative forms of consideration. Such restrictions may limit

the Company’s acquisition opportunities or make a certain acquisition more costly which may have

an adverse effect on the results of operations of the Company.

Annex I, 20.7
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PART III

IMPORTANT INFORMATION

The distribution of this document and the Placing may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions

and therefore persons into whose possession this document comes should inform themselves

about and observe any restrictions, including those set out below. Any failure to comply with these

restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.

General

No action has been or will be taken in any other jurisdiction that would permit a public offering of

any Ordinary Shares, or possession or distribution of this document or any other offering material

in any other country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no

Ordinary Shares may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this document nor any

other offering material or advertisement in connection with any Ordinary Shares may be distributed

or published in or from any country or jurisdiction except under circumstances that will result in

compliance with any and all applicable rules and regulations of any such country or jurisdiction.

Any failure to comply with these restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of any

such jurisdiction. This document does not constitute an offer to subscribe for any of the Ordinary

Shares offered hereby to any person in any jurisdiction to whom it is unlawful to make such offer

or solicitation in such jurisdiction.

This document has been approved by the FCA as a prospectus which may be used to offer

securities to the public for the purposes of section 85 of FSMA, and of the Prospectus Directive

(as defined below). No arrangement has however been made with the competent authority in any

other Member State (or any other jurisdiction) for the use of this document as an approved

prospectus in such jurisdiction and accordingly no public offer is to be made in such jurisdiction.

Issue or circulation of this document may be prohibited in Restricted Jurisdictions and in countries

other than those in relation to which notices are given below.

For the attention of all investors

In making an investment decision, prospective investors must rely on their own examination of the

Company, this document and the terms of the Placing, including the merits and risks involved. The

contents of this document are not to be construed as advice relating to legal, financial, taxation,

accounting, regulatory, investment or any other matter.

Prospective investors must rely upon their own representatives, including their own legal and

financial advisers and accountants, as to legal, tax, financial, investment or any other related

matters concerning the Company and an investment therein. An investment in the Company

should be regarded as a long-term investment. There can be no assurance that the Company’s

objective will be achieved. It should be remembered that the price of the Ordinary Shares, and any

income from such Ordinary Shares, can decrease as well as increase.

This document should be read in its entirety before making any investment in the Ordinary Shares.

All Shareholders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, the

provisions of the Articles, which prospective investors should review.

European Economic Area

In relation to each Member State which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a

“Relevant Member State”), an offer to the public of the Ordinary Shares may only be made once

the prospectus has been passported in such Relevant Member State in accordance with the

Prospectus Directive as implemented by such Relevant Member State. For the other Relevant

Member States an offer to the public in that Relevant Member State of any Ordinary Shares may
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only be made at any time under the following exemptions under the Prospectus Directive, if they

have been implemented in that Relevant Member State:

(a)     to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined under the Prospectus Directive;

(b)     to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the

Prospectus Directive) in such Relevant Member Stale subject to obtaining prior consent of

the Company for any such offer; or

(c)      in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive,

provided that no such offer of Ordinary Shares shall result in a requirement for the publication by

the Company of a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive and each person

who initially acquires Ordinary Shares or to whom any offer is made will be deemed to have

represented, warranted and agreed to and with the Joint Bookrunners and the Company that it is

a “qualified investor” within the meaning of the law in that Relevant Member State which has

implemented Article 2(1)(e) of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an ‘offer to the public’ in relation to any offer of

Ordinary Shares in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any

means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and any Ordinary Shares to be offered so

as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the Ordinary Shares, as the same

may be varied in that Relevant Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus

Directive in that Relevant Member State and the expression “Prospectus Directive” means

Directive 2003/7I/EC (and any amendments, thereto, including the 2010 PD Amending Directive,

to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member State) and includes any relevant implementing

measure in each Relevant Member State and the expression “2010 PD Amending Directive”

means Directive 2010/73/EU.

During the period up to but excluding the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented

in all Member States, this document may not be used for, or in connection with, and does not

constitute, any offer of Ordinary Shares or an invitation to purchase or subscribe for any Ordinary

Shares in any Member State in which such offer or invitation would be unlawful.

The distribution of this document in other jurisdictions may be restricted by law and therefore

persons into whose possession this document comes should inform themselves about and

observe any such restrictions.

For the attention of UK investors

This document comprises a prospectus relating to the Company prepared in accordance with the

Prospectus Rules and approved by the FCA under section 87A of FSMA. This document has been

filed with the FCA and made available to the public in accordance with Rule 3.2 of the Prospectus

Rules.

This document is being distributed only to and is directed at persons who (if they are in the EEA)

will fall within one of the categories of persons set out above. In addition, this document is being

distributed only to and is directed at persons in the UK who are:

(a)     persons having professional experience in matters relating to investments falling within the

definition of ‘investment professionals’ in Article 19(5) of the Financial Promotions Order; or

(b)     persons who are high net worth bodies corporate, unincorporated associations and

partnerships and the trustees of high value trusts, as described in Article 49(2)(a)-(d) of the

Financial Promotions Order; or (iii) persons to whom it may otherwise be lawful to distribute

(all such persons together being referred to as “Relevant Persons”).
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Presentation of reserves and resources

The accuracy of reserves estimates and associated economic analysis is, in part, a function of the

quality and quantity of available data and of engineering and geological interpretation and

judgment. This document should be accepted with the understanding that reserves, resources and

financial performance subsequent to the date of the estimates may necessitate revision. These

revisions may be material. Unless otherwise stated, all information about mineral reserves

and resources, forward-looking production estimates and other geological

information has been extracted without material adjustment from the Competent Person’s Reports

in Part XVIII – Competent Person’s Reports of this document.

Rounding

Percentages in tables have been rounded and accordingly may not add up to 100 per cent. Certain

financial data have also been rounded. As a result of this rounding, the totals of data presented in

this document may vary slightly from the actual arithmetic totals of such data.

Data protection

The Company may delegate certain administrative functions to third parties and will require such

third parties to comply with data protection and regulatory requirements of any jurisdiction in which

data processing occurs. Such information will be held and processed by the Company (or any third

party, functionary or agent appointed by the Company) for the following purposes:

(a)     verifying the identity of the prospective investor to comply with statutory and regulatory

requirements in relation to anti-money laundering procedures;

(b)     carrying out the business of the Company and the administering of interests in the Company;

(c)      meeting the legal, regulatory, reporting and/or financial obligations of the Company in the UK

or elsewhere; and

(d)     disclosing personal data to other functionaries of, or advisers to, the Company to operate

and/or administer the Company.

Where appropriate it may be necessary for the Company (or any third party, functionary or agent

appointed by the Company) to:

(e)     disclose personal data to third party service providers, agents or functionaries appointed by

the Company to provide services to prospective investors; and

(f)      transfer personal data outside of the EEA to countries or territories which do not offer the

same level of protection for the rights and freedoms of prospective investors as the UK.

If the Company (or any third party, functionary or agent appointed by the Company) discloses

personal data to such a third party, agent or functionary and/or makes such a transfer of personal

data it will use reasonable endeavours to ensure that any third party, agent or functionary to whom

the relevant personal data is disclosed or transferred is contractually bound to provide an adequate

level of protection in respect of such personal data.

In providing such personal data, investors will be deemed to have agreed to the processing of such

personal data in the manner described above. Prospective investors are responsible for informing

any third party individual to whom the personal data relates of the disclosure and use of such data

in accordance with these provisions.

Presentation of financial information

Prospective investors should consult their own professional advisers to gain an understanding of

the financial information contained in this document. An overview of the basis for presentation of

financial information in this document is set out below. Part XII – Historical Financial Information
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on the Company of this document presents selected financial information extracted without

material adjustment from (i) the audited historical financial information of the Company for the

12 month periods ended 28 February 2019, 28 February 2018 and 28 February 2017.

The financial and volume information in this document, including in a number of tables, has been

rounded to the nearest whole number or the nearest decimal place. The sum of the numbers in a

column in a table may not conform exactly to the total figure given for that column. In addition,

certain percentages presented in the tables in this document reflect calculations based on the

underlying information prior to rounding, and, accordingly, may not conform exactly to the

percentages that would be derived if the relevant calculations were based upon the rounded

numbers.

Pro forma wording

In this document, any reference to “pro forma” financial information is to information which has

been extracted without material adjustment from the unaudited pro forma financial information

contained in Part XIII – Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information for the Enlarged Group of this

document. The unaudited pro forma statement of net assets and the unaudited pro forma income

statement of the Enlarged Group have been prepared for illustrative purposes only in accordance

with Annex II of the Prospectus Rules and should be read in conjunction with the notes set out in

Part XIII – Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information for the Enlarged Group of this document.

The unaudited pro forma financial information has been prepared to illustrate the effect of the Gold

Ridge Acquisition as if it had taken place on 1 March 2018. By its nature, the pro forma financial

information addresses a hypothetical situation and, therefore, does not represent the Group’s

actual financial position nor is it indicative of the results that may or may not be expected to be

achieved in the future.

Market data                                                                                                                                        

Where information contained in this document has been sourced from a third party, the Company

and the Directors confirm that such information has been accurately reproduced and, so far as they

are aware and have been able to ascertain from information published by that third party, no facts

have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

CREST                                                                                                                                                

CREST is a paperless settlement procedure enabling securities to be evidenced otherwise than by

a certificate and transferred otherwise than by written instrument. The Articles permit the holding

of Ordinary Shares under the CREST system. The Ordinary Shares are admitted to CREST and

accordingly, settlement of transactions in the Ordinary Shares following Admission may take place

within the CREST system if any investor so wishes.

CREST is a voluntary system and Shareholders who wish to receive and retain certificates for their

Ordinary Shares will be able to do so. Shareholders may elect to receive Ordinary Shares in

uncertificated form if such Shareholder is a system-member (as defined in the Regulations) in

relation to CREST.

Transferability                                                                                                                                    

The Ordinary Shares are freely transferable and tradable and there are no restrictions on transfer.

International Financial Reporting Standards

As required by the Companies Act and Article 4 of the European Union (“EU”) International

Accounting Standards Regulation, the financial statements of the Company are prepared in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the EU issued

by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations issued by the

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of the IASB as adopted by the EU.

Annex I, 23.2

Annex III, 10.4

Annex III, 4.3

LR 2.2.4(1)

Annex III, 4.8
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No incorporation of information by reference

The contents of the Company’s website (www.metalnrg.com), any website mentioned in this

document or any website directly or indirectly linked to these websites have not been verified and

do not form part of this document, and prospective investors should not rely on them.

Forward-looking statements

This document includes statements that are, or may be deemed to be, ‘forward-looking

statements’. In some cases, these forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of

forward-looking terminology, including the terms ‘targets’, ‘believes’, ‘estimates’, ‘anticipates’,

‘expects’, ‘intends’, ‘may’, ‘will’, ‘should’ or, in each case, their negative or other variations or

comparable terminology. They appear in a number of places throughout the document and include

statements regarding the intentions, beliefs or current expectations of the Company and the Board

of Directors concerning, inter alia: (i) the Company’s objective, acquisition and financing strategies,

results of operations, financial condition, capital resources, prospects, capital appreciation of the

Ordinary Shares and dividends; and (ii) future deal flow and implementation of active management

strategies, including with regard to acquisitions. By their nature, forward-looking statements

involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that

may or may not occur in the future. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future

performance. The Company’s actual performance, results of operations, financial condition,

distributions to Shareholders and the development of its financing strategies may differ materially

from the forward-looking statements contained in this document. In addition, even if the Company’s

actual performance, results of operations, financial condition, distributions to Shareholders and the

development of its financing strategies are consistent with the forward-looking statements

contained in this document, those results or developments may not be indicative of results or

developments in subsequent periods.

Prospective investors should carefully review the ‘Risk Factors’ set out in Part II – Risk Factors of

this document for a discussion of additional factors that could cause the Company’s actual results

to differ materially, before making an investment decision. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing

appearing under the heading “Forward-looking statements” constitutes a qualification of the

working capital statement set out in paragraph 17 of Part XVI – Additional Information of this

document.

Forward-looking statements contained in this document apply only as at the date of this document.

Subject to any obligations under the Listing Rules, the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency

Rules and the Prospectus Rules, the Company undertakes no obligation publicly to update or

review any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments

or otherwise.

Definitions

A list of defined terms used in this document is set out in Part XVII — Definitions of this document.

Currency

Unless otherwise indicated, all references in this document to:

• “UK Pounds Sterling”, “Pounds Sterling”, “pound”, “pence”, “GBP”, “£” or “p” is to the

lawful currency of the UK;

• “CAD”, “C$” and “CAD$” is to the lawful currency of Canada;

• “US Dollars”, “USD”, “US$”, “cents” or “$” is to the lawful currency of the US;

• “A$”, “ASD” or “Australian Dollars” is to the lawful currency of the Commonwealth of

Australia; and

• “Kyrgyzstani som” or “KGS”, is to the lawful currency of the Kyrgyz Republic.
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PART IV

                        ADMISSION AND PLACING STATISTICS                        

Number of Ordinary Shares in issue prior to the Placing 203,368,980

Placing Price per Placing Share 0.3p

Number of Placing Shares being issued pursuant to the Placing 94,333,326

Percentage of Enlarged Issued Share Capital represented by the Placing Shares 32%

Enlarged Issued Share Capital following the Placing 297,702,306

Number of warrants in issue prior to the Placing 27,950,000(1)

Number of options in issue prior to the Placing 9,500,000(2)

Total number of warrants and options in issue following the Placing 131,783,326

Gross proceeds of the Placing £283,000

Estimated Net Placing Proceeds receivable by the Company £193,000

Market capitalisation of the Company at the Placing Price(3) £893,106

(1)   Of these warrants 18,250,000 are exercisable at 3 pence per share and 9,700,000 are exercisable at 2 pence per

share. See Part VII – The Company and the Acquisitions – Warrants for more information.

(2)   Of these options 4,500,000 are exercisable at 0.75 pence per share and 5,000,000 are exercisable at 3 pence

per share.

(3)   The market capitalisation of the Company at any given time will depend on the market price of the Ordinary Shares

at that time. There can be no assurance that the market price of the Ordinary Shares will equal or exceed the Placing

Price.

The dealing codes for the Ordinary Shares will be as follows:

TIDM MNRG

ISIN GB00B15FS791

SEDOL code B15FS79

LEI 2138003C24H79U5QZH21

LR 2.2.7(1)

LR 14.2.2

Annex III, 5.1.2,

5.1.9, 5.3.1, 8.1

Annex III, 4.1
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PART V

EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF EVENTS

Publication of this document 18 July 2019

Admission and dealings expected to commence in the Ordinary Shares 8.00 a.m. on

23 July 2019

CREST accounts expected to be credited with the Placing Shares 23 July 2019

Expected date for definitive share certificates in respect of the Placing Shares by 30 July 2019

References to time are to Greenwich Mean Time unless otherwise stated. Each of the dates in the

above timetable is subject to change without further notice.

Annex III, 4.7,

5.1.3, 5.1.8
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PART VI

DIRECTORS, AGENTS AND ADVISERS

Directors Christopher Latilla-Campbell, Chair
Rolf Gerritsen, Chief  Executive Officer
Christian Schaffalitzky, Non-Executive Director
Gervaise Heddle, Non-Executive Director

Registered office address MetalNRG plc

1 Ely Place

London EC1N 6RY

United Kingdom

Company Secretary City Group PLC

1 Ely Place

London EC1N 6RY

United Kingdom

Joint Bookrunners SI Capital Limited

46 Bridge Street

Godalming GU7 1HL

United Kingdom

Peterhouse Capital Limited

New Liverpool House

15 Eldon Street

London EC2M 7LD

United Kingdom

Legal advisers to the Company Cooley (UK) LLP

Dashwood

69 Old Broad Street

London EC2M 1QS

United Kingdom

Edwards Veeder (UK) Limited

4 Broadgate

Broadway Business Park

Chadderton

Oldham OL9 9XA

United Kingdom

Competent Person In relation to the Uranium Project:
Mr. Philip Alan Jones

Saint Barbara LLP

9 John Street

London WC1N 2ES

United Kingdom

In relation to the Gold Ridge Project:
Mr. Gareth O’Donovan

SRK Exploration Services Limited

12 St Andrew’s Crescent

Cardiff CF10 3DD

United Kingdom

Auditors and Reporting

Accountants
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Annex III, 10.1

Annex I, 2.1
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Registrars Computershare Investor Services plc

The Pavilions

Bridgewater Road

Bristol BS13 8AE

United Kingdom

Company’s website www.metalnrg.com
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PART VII

THE COMPANY AND THE ACQUISITIONS

Investors should read the whole of  this Prospectus and not just rely upon the summarised
information. Where stated, information in this section has been extracted without material
adjustment from Part XII – Historical Financial Information, Part XIII – Operating and Financial
Review and Part XVIII – Competent Person’s Reports.

1.       Introduction                                                                                                                             

The Company was incorporated in England and Wales on 20 February 2006 as a public company
under the name ZimNRG plc and its shares were admitted to trading on the NEX Growth Market
(then known as PLUS Markets) on 21 August 2006. The Company’s original objective was to
create value by investing in natural resource opportunities in Southern Africa, specifically
Zimbabwe.

At a general meeting on 11 March 2016, the Shareholders, by way of special resolution, resolved
to change the Company’s name to MetalNRG plc and simultaneously approved the New Investing
Policy.

The Company’s New Investing Policy is to invest in and/or acquire companies or projects within
the natural resources sector, with potential for growth or value creation. For those projects that
offer substantial growth opportunity, the Company will seek a controlling interest and maintain a
medium to long term investment view. For those projects that offer value creation opportunities, the
Company will seek to list such projects on an appropriate stock exchange and crystallize value in
the short term. The New Investing Policy also allows the Company to consider opportunities in
other related sectors if the Board considers that there is an opportunity to generate an attractive
return for Shareholders. Such related sectors may include natural resource technologies and
fintech opportunities offering leverage to resource identification, processing, recording, storage
and trading businesses.

The opportunities will be managed in one of the two divisions that the Company has created under
the New Investing Policy: the Direct Investment Division and the Indirect Investment Division.

The Company’s Direct Investment Division will have majority investments, board control and add
value to the projects that it invests in. The Company intends to take an active role in these projects
and will drive them along the value chain creating long term Shareholder value.

The Company’s Indirect Investment Division will invest in privately owned projects that can be
structured, packaged and then listed on a major stock exchange. The Company’s role will be to
coordinate and facilitate any pre-IPO funding and the IPO process itself, making sure that the
appropriate advisors are in place to deliver the IPO in a cost and time efficient manner. The
Company will invest directly in some of these opportunities, will earn fees, payable in shares, upon
delivering pre-determined milestones. The Company may take minority stakes in projects and will
be able trade such shares as it sees fit. The Company recently advised Cobra Resources plc
(“Cobra”) on its IPO and listing on the London Stock Exchange as part of its Indirect Investment
Division. In lieu of fees, the Company received 4,166,666 ordinary shares in Cobra (representing
approximately 6.2 per cent. of the entire issued share capital of Cobra) at the placing price of
1.5 pence per ordinary share, worth approximately £62,500 at market value.

The Board will conduct initial due diligence appraisals of potential businesses or projects and,
where they believe further investigation is warranted, intend to appoint appropriately qualified
persons to assist with such reviews.

The Company does not have a separate investment manager. Additionally, the Company does not
currently intend to fund any investments made under the New Investing Policy with debt or other

LR 2.2.1(1), (2)

LR 2.2.2(1), (2),

(3)
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borrowings, but may do so in the future if the Board considers it appropriate. Investments in early
stage assets are expected to be mainly in the form of equity, with debt potentially being raised later
to fund the development of such assets. Investments in later stage assets are more likely to include
an element of debt to equity gearing. The Board may also offer new Ordinary Shares by way of
consideration as well as cash, in order to preserve the Company’s cash for working capital and as
a reserve against unforeseen contingencies including, for example, delays in collecting accounts
receivable, unexpected changes in the economic environment and operational problems. For a
detailed summary of the risks relating to the Company’s business, please see Part II – Risk Factors
of this document.

2.       Current Investments                                                                                                               

Palomino Cobalt Project

On 29 June 2017, the Company announced that it had entered into an agreement to acquire a
cobalt licence in connection with the Palomino Cobalt Project in Western Australia, its first
investment under the New Investing Policy.

The Cobalt Exploration Licence is currently held by Redstone Metals Pty Ltd (“Redstone”). Under
the terms of an agreement entered into between the Company and Redstone on 27 June 2017
(the “Cobalt Application Agreement”), Redstone agreed to, upon the granting of the Cobalt
Exploration Licence, hold the Cobalt Exploration Licence on trust on behalf of the Company. Due
to the regulatory prohibition against transferring an exploration licence within one year of grant, it
was further agreed that on the date falling one year after the granting of the Cobalt Exploration
Licence, the Company would gain the right to acquire the Cobalt Exploration Licence from
Redstone.

On 19 February 2018, the Western Australia Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety
granted the application for the Cobalt Exploration Licence. Therefore, on 20 February 2019, the
Company will gain the right to acquire the Cobalt Exploration Licence from Redstone.

The Company formed a Cobalt division to act as a repository for the Palomino Cobalt Project and
any future additional cobalt interests. MetalNRG Australia, which is incorporated in Australia, will
serve as the operating company for the Palomino Cobalt Project. Once the Company exercises its
option to acquire the Cobalt Exploration Licence from Redstone, MetalNRG Australia will be the
holding entity for the Cobalt Exploration Licence.

Under the terms of the Cobalt Application Agreement, the Company agreed to cover the direct
costs of Redstone in respect of the licence application of up to approximately A$15,000 and to
issue 600,000 Ordinary Shares to Redstone and 400,000 Ordinary Shares to Amy Teresa
Richardson at a deemed price of 1.5p per Ordinary Share. Upon the granting of the Cobalt
Exploration Licence, the Company issued a further 1,200,000 Ordinary Shares to Redstone and
800,000 Ordinary Shares to Amy Teresa Richardson at a deemed price of 1.5p per new Ordinary
Share. On 3 April 2018, the Company also issued 500,000 Ordinary Shares to Redstone at a
deemed price of 1.5p per new Ordinary Share as consideration for its services relating to the
application for the Cobalt Exploration Licence.

US Cobalt project

On 22 March 2018, the Company announced that it had entered into a binding option agreement
to sell its 15.38 per cent. stake in US Cobalt, the owner of the Goodsprings Cobalt and Base
Metals Project, located in the State of Nevada, USA, to Tyranna. On 6 April 2018, the Company
subsequently announced that the due diligence on US Cobalt had been successfully completed by
Tyranna and that the parties (the Company, Tyranna and US Cobalt) would work together to satisfy
all conditions precedent, which includes the drafting of the sale and purchase agreement (the “US

Cobalt SPA”). On 21 August 2018, the Company confirmed that the US Cobalt SPA had been
agreed. Following the approval by Tyranna shareholders of the US Cobalt SPA on 21 September
2018, the Company received 21,719,457 shares in Tyranna which, at the deemed transaction price

Annex 1, 5.2.1

5.2.2, 6.1.1, 6.1.2
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of A$0.017, equates to a consideration received of A$369,231 or circa £211,327 (at the A$:GBP
currency exchange rate on 20 September 2018). 25 per cent. of the consideration shares (i.e.,
5,429,864 Tyranna shares) will remain under voluntary escrow for a six month period following the
date of the US Cobalt SPA.

For more information on the cobalt market, please refer to Part VIII – Market Overview – Overview
of  the cobalt market.

3.       The acquisitions                                                                                                                      

The Gold Ridge Project

Introduction

On 25 July 2018, the Company signed the Gold Ridge Acquisition Agreement with Winston Gold
pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase all of the issued and outstanding shares of
Goldridge Holdings, for cash payments totalling US$219,220 and 21,942,576 Ordinary Shares in
the Company at a deemed price of 1.75 pence per share. On 5 November 2018, the Company
announced the completion of the Gold Ridge Acquisition Agreement and that 21,942,576 Ordinary
Shares had been issued to Winston Gold.

Goldridge Holdings holds the interest in the Gold Ridge Project, located in Cochise County in
south-eastern Arizona, approximately 160 km east of Tucson. The Gold Ridge Project lies
approximately 100 km north of the US-Mexico border, and approximately 50 km west of the Texas
state border.

The Gold Ridge Project comprises three historic mines; the Gold Ridge Mine, the Gold Prince Mine
and the Dives Mine. The mines are located on the lower southern slopes of the Dos Cabezas
Mountains. The Gold Ridge Project area covers approximately 2,305 acres, comprising
77.82 acres of private property, 343 acres of patented mining claims, 112 company-owned
unpatented mining claims and 12 leased unpatented mining claims, sufficient to support any
anticipated exploration, development and mining activities centred on the Gold Prince, Dives and
Gold Ridge portions of the property.

ESMA update
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Arizona is a mining friendly jurisdiction with an established permitting framework. The Fraser

Institute 2017 Investment Attractiveness Index ranked Arizona 2nd by US State (after Nevada) and

9th/91 globally.

History

Mining in the Dos Cabezas district began in the mid-1800s with intermittent work on a wide variety

of Gold-quartz veins and contact metamorphic copper deposits until the mid-1900s. The exact

ownership and history is complicated by changes of names on several of the mines.

Gold production came principally from the Gold Prince Mine, the Gold Ridge Mine and the Dives

Mine. Phelps Dodge Corp. (“Phelps Dodge”) took over the Gold Ridge Project in 1984, although

most pre-Phelps Dodge production occurred in the early 1930s and the Dos Cabezas Mining

Company (“DCMC”) began operating the Gold Prince Mine at its current level in 1949.

The Gold Prince Mine was operated by the small mines division of Phelps Dodge between 1984

and 1986, during which time 14,238 tons were shipped with an average grade of 9.74g/t Au. This

production was shipped to Phelps Dodge smelters and used for flux. Phelps Dodge completed

significant core drilling during this time.

Queenstake Resources U.S.A., Inc. (“Queenstake”) leased the Gold Ridge Project between

October 1986 and September 1992. Queenstake drilled additional core holes, developed

additional mine openings and undertook minor production. The final 22 months of this production

was conducted through agreement with Queenstake by contract miners.

Western States Mining Corp. (“WSMC”) acquired the Gold Ridge Project in 1993 and operated it

into the mid 1990’s until it was shut down.

The following table highlights the historical production summary at the Gold Prince Mine:

                                                                                 Grade g/t Au            Ounces    Operating
Year                                                    Ore Tonnes            (tonnes)        Produced    Company

Pre-1932                                                         N/A                  N/A                  N/A                             

1932 – 1933                                                 3,785               19.88               2,419    DCMC

1949 – 1950                                                 2,541               13.71               1,120    DCMC

1984 – 1986                                               12,920               10.73               4,456    Phelps Dodge

1988                                                                451                11.66                  169    Queenstake

1989                                                             4,638                 8.70               1,298    Queenstake

1990                                                             2,201               14.79               1,047    Queenstake

1991                                                             3,029               16.50               1,607    Queenstake

1992                                                             2,007               10.71                  691    Contract Mining

                                                                                                                                  for Queenstake

1993                                                             1,199                 5.63                  217    WSMC

1994                                                           11,215               15.65               5,642    WSMC

1995                                                             9,549                 7.92               2,430    WSMC

1996                                                             4,479                 6.44                  927    WSMC
                                                               –––––––          –––––––          –––––––
TOTALS                                                     58,015                11.81             22,023

                                                               –––––––          –––––––          –––––––
Geology and mineralisation

Regional geology

The Gold Ridge Project lies within the Dos Cabezas Quadrangle. The region is believed to be a

large, late-Cretaceous to early-Tertiary-aged plutonic-volcanic centre constructed on deformed

and intruded Precambrian, Paleozoic and Cretaceous-aged metavolcanic and metasedimentary

rocks. These rocks were subsequently cut by the Apache Pass fault zone (the “Apache Pass Fault

Zone”), a regional vertical shear zone that is believed to control the location of the high-grade gold

vein systems like that at the Gold Ridge Project.

ESMA update
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The Apache Pass Fault Zone, traced along a west-northwesterly trend for more than 20-miles, is
the dominant structural feature of the Gold Ridge Project area. The Apache Pass Fault Zone is
believed to have had a long history of recurrent movement and is believed to be an important
control for the localization of the ore-bearing veins of the district. Numerous late north-to-
northwesterly-trending faults cross the main shear zone and offset mineralized veins from a few
feet to several hundred feet.

Local geology

Within the Gold Ridge Project, gold-bearing, irregular, quartz-sulfide veins occur within a sheared
and faulted zone in Cretaceous-age sediments. The productive veins of the Gold Prince mine
parallel the main shear zone and are localized along a complex set of related west-northwest,
south dipping quartz veins and shears. The high-grade gold-bearing vein system at the Gold
Prince mine is part of a three-mile vein swarm that includes both barren and mineralized veins.
West of the Gold Prince mine, the Gold Ridge mine appears to have been offset approximately 400
feet to the north along an ill-defined cross-fault. The mines within the Gold Ridge Project are
believed to be mesothermal in nature and similar exhibit similar features to the Low-Sulphide Gold-
Quartz vein model that describes California’s mother-lode and Canadian Abitibi deposits.

Mineralisation

Two principal styles of mineralisation are found in the Dos Cabezas Mining District. Gold-base
metal sulphide quartz veins occur within the Apache Pass Fault Zone and contact metamorphic,
skarn deposits of chalcopyrite, pyrite and magnetite in carbonate rocks are found immediately
adjacent to Laramide stocks. To date, the Gold Ridge Project is known to host gold-base metal
sulphide quartz veins within the Apache Pass Fault Zone.

Gold and silver bearing quartz-sulphide veins consist of coarsely crystalline quartz with pyrite,
galena, sphalerite and chalcopyrite. Native gold occurs in pyrite as very-fine-grained blebs and
fillings in crystal defect sites in pyrite and sphalerite. Native gold is also found preferentially in
friable and cupriferous pyrite relative to massive euhedral pyrite in the quartz veins.

These sulphides are frequently arranged in bands or coarse aggregates within the quartz and are
more common on the hanging wall side of the veins. Oxidation may extend to depths of 90 metres
from the surface. Gold grade ranges from zero to 310g/t Au have been recorded. The gold/silver
ratio is roughly 1:1. Lenticular ore shoots, 30 – 120 metres in length, are found in various locations
throughout the width of the shear zone. They persist from the surface to the lowermost workings.

The Gold Prince Mine also contains gold in disseminated ores in wall rock, in early carbon-calcium
carbonate-quartz veins and in the quartz veins. All are hosted by the Cretaceous Bisbee Group
shales and quartzites. Wallrock alteration associated with the veins includes silicification and
chlorite-sericite-pyrite assemblages. Alteration intensity is greater in the more competent units.

Mineral Estimates

The purpose of SRK Exploration Services Limited’s site visit was to review the geological setting,
mineralisation, and historic exploration work at the Gold Ridge Project and to assess historic
exploration data, rather than to review or examine the physical mine itself.

There are currently no Joint Ore Reserves Committee (“JORC”) compliant mineral resource or
reserve estimates for the Gold Ridge Project as the mines are still in the exploration phase.

Similarly, there is currently no anticipated mine life or estimated duration of commercial activity in
extracting reserves as the Gold Ridge Project is still being explored. The Gold Prince mine has
seen the majority of the recorded production and all of the modern exploration and mining. The
Gold Prince mine is a vein-type deposit developed on 5 levels over a strike length of roughly 300
m. This development appears to be within the confines of a broad southeast-plunging ore shoot.
The nature of the mineralisation remains similar over the roughly 180 m of vertical development
between the surface and the lowest level of the mine. Although the current extent of underground
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development between levels is not completely known, it is probable that mineable material remains
in place, particularly between the 4-level and the 6-level. Mapping and sampling both at surface
and underground confirms that the vein is laterally extensive across the width of the property and
anomalous to strongly mineralised in several places.

SRK Exploration Services Limited considers that the mapping and sampling conducted to date
supports the concept that the Gold Ridge project has potential for the discovery of further,
mineable gold mineralisation.

Mineral rights in Arizona

The following permits and applications may be required for a future mining operation at the Gold
Ridge Project:

•         reclamation plan with a bond posted against its completion;

•         an identification number with both the Federal Mine Safety and Health Administration
(“MSHA”) and the Arizona State Mine Inspectors office as soon as the Gold Ridge Project
advances beyond the exploration phase;

•         an MSHA-approved ventilation plan and a ground support plan;

•         a mine rescue team on call;

•         Arizona Department of Water Resources permits for exploration holes and wells;

•         county highway use restrictions and maintenance requirements;

•         National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Multi-Sector General Permit for Industrial
Activities for storm water runoff issued by the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality;

•         an Air Quality Permit for crushing and screening; and

•         an Aquifer Protection Permit.

Some of these permits/approvals may not be required if the scope and scale of a mining operation
remains below certain thresholds. For example, an Air Quality Permit may not be required if
emissions are below certain threshold values or if the operator uses a contracted, mobile crushing
and screening company who would themselves take responsibility for permitting and ensuring that
Air Quality Permits are attached to the mobile equipment. The mine rescue team requirement
could be met if the Company were to contract within a “mine safety” cooperative as long as the
MSHA rules that a “small and remote” classification would be appropriate for an operation at the
Gold Ridge Project.

Mineral Exploration and Extraction                                                                                                     

The Gold Ridge Project is accessible via a well-developed state and county road system, which
provides reliable year-round access to the project area. State Highway 186 traverses the village of
Dos Cabezas and, near the southern end of the town, the private South Hertado Ranch road forks
off to the southeast. Taking this road for about 4 km takes one to the portal of the Gold Prince mine.
The road is normally passable with a 2-wheel drive vehicle.

Due to the method of mining historically employed at the Gold Ridge Project, tall open stopes exist
above many parts of the mines rendering access unsafe without extensive work to mitigate the
hazard of rock fall. Despite this issue, previous studies of the Gold Prince mine has found a vein
which is 0.6-3 m wide with variable sulphide content, and very high grade in some of the areas
where historic mining had occurred. Investigation along the surface trace of the Gold Ridge vein
system confirmed that the vein outcrops across much of the Company’s land holdings and
represents a geologic target for surface sampling, geochemical studies and drilling that has
potential to discover additional shoots of high-grade material similar to that mined at the Gold
Prince, Gold Ridge and Dives mines.

ESMA update

para 132(c)

ESMA update

para 132(d)

53

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:05



The Uranium Project

Introduction

On 16 August 2018, the Company announced that it had signed the Option Agreement with IMC
to acquire a majority interest in the Uranium Project in the Kyrgyz Republic. The Uranium Project
is currently operated by IMC via its subsidiary Closed Joint Stock Company IMC Invest (“CJSC

IMC”). CJSC IMC is the holder of the Mining Licence.

Under the Option Agreement the Company could own 51 per cent. of the issued share capital in
Newco and IMC would own the remaining 49 per cent.

On 5 December 2018, the Company entered into the Amended Option Agreement to restructure
the cash payments paid by the Company in order to progress the application of the Mining Licence.

On 22 January 2019, the State Committee for Reserves granted the Company’s application to
convert the Exploration Licence, which expired on 31 December 2018, into the Mining Licence.

On 26 March 2019, the Company and IMC entered into the Farm-in Letter Agreement, replacing
the terms of the Option Agreement and the Amended Option Agreement entirely. Under the terms
of the Farm-in Letter Agreement, the Company and IMC acknowledge that the Company has, as
at 26 March 2019, made the Initial Payment (US$170,650). Further, the Company agreed to
transfer to IMC the Second Payment (US$400,000) at a date to be agreed. The Second Payment
shall represent the Entitlement, being a 51 per cent. economic interest in the assets and operations
subject to the Mining License. The Second Payment is to be made using part of the Net Placing
Proceeds.  In order to maintain the Entitlement, the Company has also agreed, under the Farm-in
Letter Agreement, to pay IMC a further US$1,989,350 into over 18 months for the sole purpose of
funding development costs at the Uranium Project. This sum shall be paid by way of the Tranche
Payments.

IMC shall not be prohibited from entering into discussions with third party investors in connection
with obtaining project finance in relation the Uranium Project.  However, before making any Project
Finance Offer, IMC must offer the same terms to the Company, and the Company shall have the
Right of First Refusal over any Project Finance Offer. If the Company elects to provide funding
equal to the amount of the Project Finance Offer, upon such funds being received by IMC, the
Company and IMC shall commit to increase the Entitlement over the economic interest in the
Uranium Project by way of further agreement at a date to be agreed between the parties.

If the Company cannot satisfy any of the Tranche Payments as they fall due, the Right of First
Refusal shall not apply.  Following any Default, IMC shall have the right, subject to approval by the
Company, to enter into project finance arrangements with third party investors in relation to the
Uranium Project, and the Company and IMC shall commit to re-distributing the Entitlement (by
reference to the then prevailing market value of the Uranium Project) by way of further agreement
accordingly at a date to be agreed between the parties.

On 2 May 2019, the parliament of the Kyrgyz Republic voted in favour of the Uranium Ban. The
government of Kyrgyzstan has been instructed to draft legislation to put the Uranium Ban into
effect. In response to the Uranium Ban, the Company and IMC entered into the Side Letter, under
which the parties agreed to suspend the Farm-in Letter Agreement and all obligations of the
Company and IMC thereunder for the duration of the Uranium Ban.

Under the Side Letter, the Company and IMC have agreed that IMC will waive the obligation of the
Company to pay the Second Payment and the Tranche Payments. From the effective date of the
Side Letter, and throughout the duration of the Uranium Ban, the Right of First Refusal shall
continue to apply in favour of the Company. If the Uranium Ban continues for a period of 12 months
from the date of the Side Letter, the Company shall have the right to terminate the Farm-in Letter
Agreement in its entirety by written notice to IMC and the Company shall not be liable for any
unpaid payments thereunder.
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If, within 12 months of the date of the Side Letter, either (i) the Uranium Ban ceases to be in force
or (ii) the government of the Kyrgyz Republic allows IMC to progress work under the Mining
License pursuant to the Waste Exemption, the Company may, in its sole discretion, elect to re-
enter the Farm-in Letter Agreement, subject to the adjustment, if necessary, of the Agreed Dates
in relation to the Tranche Payments and valuation of the Uranium Project.

The Company and IMC maintain the position that the activities at the Uranium Project of ‘cleaning’
the peat and contained groundwater, which carries high levels of uranium (such uranium often
contaminating the local water supplies), amount to those of processing waste and accordingly fall
under the Waste Exemption. The Company and IMC are currently discussing this position with the
government of the Kyrgyz Republic. 

For more information on the uranium market, please refer to Part VIII – Market Overview –
Overview of  the uranium market.

History

The area covered by the Uranium Project has been explored since the 1950s, mainly during the
Soviet era for various commodities. In the 1960s the peat deposits were identified as potential fuel
sources and as part of this investigation it was found that the peats contained anomalous uranium
values. Only basic reconnaissance work was done at that time over the deposits because the peat
was of poor fuel quality and the Soviets were looking at higher grade uranium deposits elsewhere.

IMC first acquired the exploration licence in 2006 when the exploration licence covered
51,600 hectares. Since then, as required by the Kyrgyzstan authorities, the licence area has been
progressively reduced to its present 4,078 hectares. Over this period, IMC have extensively and
systematically explored the Uranium Project area by mapping the outcropping peat deposits and
drilling vertical auger holes over the main deposits on a regular grid. Since mid-2011, this drilling
was extended beyond the ten main, large peat deposits into the numerous smaller peat deposits
within the exploration licence identified with the aid of satellite imagery.

Geography and climate

The Uranium Project is located on the Chu River flood plain approximately 50km north-west of
Bishkek with the northern boundary of the exploration licence being the Kyrgyzstan-Kazakhstan
international border. The Kamushanovskoye uranium deposit is approximately 48km by road from
Bishkek and 95km by road from the Karabalta uranium processing plant.
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Geology and mineralisation

Geological setting

Uranium is geologically highly soluble in acid ground waters and is readily leached from primary
sources usually associated with granitic igneous rocks. Concentrations of secondary uranium
occur where the acidity (pH) or oxidation state (Eh) of the groundwater changes, allowing the
dissolved uranium to precipitate out of solution. Certain organic materials make ideal sites for
dissolved uranium to precipitate on.

Accumulations of Quaternary uranium such as that found at the Uranium Project are commonly
associated with peat or similar organic material. Peat-hosted uranium accumulations are reported
from Canada, USA, Scandinavia, UK and elsewhere in the former Soviet Union. Studies of
peat-hosted uranium accumulations show that much of the uranium is derived from dissolved
uranyl-bicarbonate complexes. The dissolved uranium is eventually fixed by adsorbing U6+ or
reducing U6+ to U4+ producing uraninite (UO2).

Kamushanovskoye geology and mineralisation

The Kamushanovskoye uranium deposit is located within a number of small peat deposits, formed
of decomposing reeds and rushes, located in swampy areas that have formed within the
Quaternary alluvial silts. These peats are mostly exposed at the surface, however some of the
mineralised peats have been found buried below silts by some of the drilling. Ten mineralised peat
deposits had been grid drilled and indicated and inferred resources estimated.

Regional geology

The Kamushanovskoye uranium deposit occurs in Quaternary alluvial deposits along the Chu
River close to the Kyrgyzstan/Kazakhstan border. This Neogene - Quaternary basin extends
650km west-northwest as a broad fan from Tokmak in Kyrgyzstan into Kazakhstan. In Kyrgyzstan,
the sedimentary basin is bounded on the south by the 3000m to 4800m Kyrgyz Mountain Range
and on the north-east by the 1500m to 2000m Kendytas Range. These Neogene and Quaternary
alluvials partly bury older topography, however there are scattered areas of lower and middle
Pleistocene sediments outcropping. The alluvials are dissected by the modern drainage pattern
that converges on the Chu River along the northern margin of the basin.

Roll-front style uranium deposits are known in Neogene and Quaternary deposits on the western
side of the basin and in other adjacent basins.

The Kyrgyz Mountain Range and the Kendytas Range are composed of Riphean to Carboniferous
sediments intruded by granitic intrusions and are the main source of the basin sediments, including
the uranium mineralisation.

Mineral Estimates                                                                                                                               

CJSC IMC has systematically explored these peat deposits with hand-augered holes, up to 15m
deep, over outcropping peat swamps in the exploration licence identified from Google Earth
satellite images. To date, an estimated 2.923 million tonnes of Indicated resources at 0.032%U and
1.31 million tonnes of Inferred resources of peat and silt grading 0.047%U at a 0.0%U lower cut-
off have been identified by this drilling with a further target of 1.6-2.6 million tonnes grading 0.045-
0.064%U within the mapped peats not yet tested by drilling. It is important to note that the potential
quantity and grade of a target estimate is conceptual in nature as there has been insufficient
exploration to define a uranium resource and it is uncertain if further exploration will eventually
result in the determination of a uranium resource in this material.

ESMA update
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Table 10-3 Total Indicated Resource estimates at 0.0%U
3
O

8
and 0.024%U

3
O

8
lower cut-offs.

0.000%U3O8 lower cut-off 0.024% U3O8 lower cut-off
INDICATED                            Tonnes                               U3O8        Tonnes                               U3O8

                                                (1,000)       U3O8%        pounds         (1,000)       U3O8%        pounds
Silt                                            8,706          0.004      685,166               46           0.035        35,930
Peaty Silt                                  3,920          0.010      858,608             385          0.040      342,645
Silty Peat                                  1,867          0.031   1,293,519             842          0,057   1,061,250
Peat                                          1,056          0.033      767,550             412          0.068      617,592
UNKNOWN                                   82           0.029        52,807               29           0.072        45,953
                                            –––––––     –––––––     –––––––     –––––––     –––––––   ––––––––
Total                                       15,632           0.011   3,657,651          1,713          0.056   2,103,370
                                            –––––––      –––––––      –––––––      –––––––      –––––––    ––––––––
                                              Tonnes                               U3O8        Tonnes                               U3O8

INDICATED                             (1,000)       U3O8%        pounds         (1,000)       U3O8%        pounds

Peat and Silty Peat only           2,923          0.032   2,061,069          1,253          0.061   1,678,842
                                            –––––––     –––––––     –––––––     –––––––     –––––––   ––––––––

Table 10-4 Total Inferred Resource Estimate at 0.0%U
3
O

8
and 0.024%U

3
O

8
lower cut-offs.

0.0%U3O8 cut-off 0.024%U3O8 cut-off
                                                                                         U3O8                                                   U3O8

                                                Million                      Thousand         Million                       Thousand
INFERRED                            Tonnes         U3O8%        pounds        Tonnes         U3O8%        pounds

Silt & Peaty Silt                           4.13           0.005             494            0.25           0.046             266
Peat & Silty Peat                        1.31           0.047          1,360            0.79           0.073          1,280
                                            –––––––     –––––––     –––––––     –––––––     –––––––   ––––––––
Total Inferred                             5.45           0.015          1,854            1.05           0.067          1,546
                                            –––––––      –––––––      –––––––      –––––––      –––––––    ––––––––
As there are no JORC Code compliant Ore Reserves or a Feasibility Study with production rates
it is not appropriate to provide an estimated mine life. Further, the potential quantity and grade of
resources in the mine is conceptual in nature as there has been insufficient exploration to define
a uranium resource and it is uncertain if further exploration will eventually result in the
determination of a uranium resource.

Mineral rights and permits                                                                                                                  

CJSC IMC holds the Mining Licence, which, prior to 22 January 2019, was formerly the Exploration
Licence.

The Exploration Licence expired on 31 December 2018.

To convert the Exploration Licence into the Mining Licence, a Kyrgyz government approved
feasibility study was required. Since 2012, the following work was carried out:

•         2012 – 2014: Extensive laboratory and technological tests on ore (peat) excavating,
gravitation concentration, burning (or gasification on the site) and leaching uranium from ash
or char. The uranium extraction was 90-92 per cent. but the processes were not
economically feasible. Ecological tests and a report were produced. The total monetary
spend on this work was US$725,000; and

•         2015 – 2018: Laboratory and field trials on In-situ Leaching method, Russian code feasibility
study (the “Feasibility Study”) including reserve calculations were completed and IMC
stated that all documents required by the State Committee for Reserves were ready for filing
as part of the process to apply for the Mining Licence. The Feasibility Study was filed in
December 2018. The total monetary spend on this work was US$486,000.

ESMA update
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On 22 January 2019, the State Committee for Reserves met to consider reports submitted by
CJSC IMC in relation to the Exploration Licence. The decision of the committee was to approve
the report and convert the Exploration Licence to the Mining Licence.

Production                                                                                                                                           

The Uranium Project has not begun uranium production.

Mineral Exploration and Extraction

The Kamushanovskoye project area is readily accessible all year round by vehicle from the capital
city Bishkek and the industrial town Karabalta to the south-west by bitumen and all weather gravel
roads. Kyrgyzstan is a developing country with limited funds for public infrastructure so some of
these roads are in need of maintenance work.

The Chu valley at Kamushanovskoye has an elevation at about 500m and approximately 20m
below the surrounding terrain. The deposit area is quite flat with a natural elevation range of just
a few metres. Minor earthworks for roads have created highs and lows with an overall range of
less than 10m.

Kamushanovskoye is a farming district with the main crops being beet and wheat. The extreme
temperature ranges experienced through the year, typical of continental areas of high latitudes
influence the agricultural activities. Since the Project is based on deposits in peat bogs, the
extreme range in temperature allows for work at the site to be possible all year round. In summer,
much of the peat deposits are easily dug or drilled however access to the boggier areas is
sometimes easier in winter when they are frozen solid allowing vehicular access to these areas.
Grid electric power and water is available and the existing roads are capable of supporting the
traffic expected with a mining operation of the scale envisaged by IMC. Maintenance and other
services required by a mining operation are available from Bishkek and Karabalta.

Other Acquisition Opportunities 

On 29 April 2019, the Company entered into a non-binding heads of terms agreement (the
“Mkango Heads of Terms Agreement”) with Mkango Resources Ltd and Lancaster Exploration
Limited in order to explore the possibility to earn a 75 per cent. economic interest in the Exclusive
Prospecting Exploration License 0303/10R3 for exploration targets of uranium, niobium and
tantalum (the “Thambani License”) over a three year period.  Following a period of due diligence,
the Company announced on 28 June 2019 that it would not be pursuing the opportunity and
terminated the Mkango Heads of Terms Agreement. 

4.       Warrants

At the date of this document, the Company has 27,950,000 outstanding warrants. Of these
warrants 18,250,000 are exercisable at 3 pence per share and 9,700,000 are exercisable at 2
pence per share. In addition, at Admission the Company will issue 94,333,326 warrants to
subscribe for up to subscribe for up to 94,333,326 new Ordinary Shares (on a one for one basis),
at an exercise price of 0.6 pence per Ordinary Share, to investors who have participated in the
Placing (the “Placing Warrants”).

Pursuant to certain investments in the Company as announced on 23 February 2018, Rolf
Gerritsen will be issued with 2,500,000 warrants. The warrants will have a term of 36 months
expiring on 30 March 2021 and are exercisable at 3 pence per share (and are included within the
18,250,000 warrants exercisable at 3 pence per share, above).

Further details of the terms of the warrants are set out in paragraph 8 of Part XVI – Additional
Information of this document and further details of the Placing Warrants are set out in Part XI –
Terms of  the Warrants of this document.
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5.       Options

At the date of this document, the Company has 9,500,000 outstanding options, each entitling the
holder to subscribe for one Ordinary Share. Of these options, 5,000,000 are exercisable at 3 pence
per share and 4,500,000 are exercisable at 0.75 pence per share.

6.       Fully diluted Ordinary Share capital                                                                                     

The following table sets out the fully diluted Ordinary Share capital as at the date of this document
and as at Admission:

                                                                                                                                                    As a
                                                                                                                                         percentage
                                                                                                                                        of  Enlarged
                                                                                            As at the          As at the   Issued Share
                                                                                        date of  this             date of         Capital at
                                                                                           document       Admission        Admission

Issued share capital                                                       203,368,980    297,702,306                      –
Ordinary Share options at 3p                                             5,000,000        5,000,000                      –
Ordinary Share options at 0.75p                                        4,500,000        4,500,000                      –
Warrants at 3p                                                                 18,250,000      18,250,000                      –
Warrants at 2p                                                                   9,700,000        9,700,000                      –
Placing Shares                                                                                 –      94,333,326                 32%
Placing Warrants                                                                             –      94,333,326                      –

Accordingly, at Admission the Enlarged Issued Share Capital is expected to be 297,702,306
Ordinary Shares with a total of 9,500,000 options and 122,283,326 warrants outstanding. If all the
outstanding options and warrants (including the Placing Warrants) were to be exercised the
Company would receive approximately £1,491,250 in cash and the options and warrants would
represent 31 per cent. of the fully diluted Enlarged Issued Share Capital.

7.       Dividend policy                                                                                                                        

The Company currently intends to retain earnings, if any, for use in its future business operations
and expansion. The Company will only pay dividends to the extent that to do so is in accordance
with the Companies Act and all other applicable laws. There can be no assurance that the
Company will declare and pay, or have the ability to declare and pay, any dividends in the future.

8.       UK Bribery Act 2010

The government of the UK has issued guidelines setting out appropriate procedures for companies
to follow to ensure that they are compliant with the UK Bribery Act 2010 which came into force with
effect from 1 July 2011. The Company has conducted a risk review into its operational procedures
to consider the impact of the UK Bribery Act 2010 and has drafted and implemented an anti-bribery
policy as adopted by the Board and also implemented appropriate procedures to ensure that the
Directors, employees (including any Senior Managers) and consultants comply with the terms of
the legislation.

9.       Risk factors

Shareholders and other prospective investors in the Company should be aware that an investment
in the Company involves a high degree of risk. Your attention is drawn to the risk factors set out in
Part II – Risk Factors of this document.

Annex I, 20.7

Annex I, 21.1.7

Annex III, 9.1
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10.     Further information

You should read the whole of this document and not just rely on the information contained in this
Part VII – The Company and the Acquisitions of this document. Your attention is drawn to the
information set out in Part II – Risk Factors to Part XVI – Additional Information of this document,
which contain further information on the Company.
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PART VIII

MARKET OVERVIEW

1.       Overview of the gold market                                                                                                 

Introduction

Gold is a precious metal, which has been a desirable and valuable commodity for centuries. Gold’s
ability to conduct heat, electricity and its resistance to tarnish mean that it is suitable for use in
many industrial applications. It is also highly sought after as a precious metal for jewellery, coins
and artwork. Gold is a naturally occurring element that is found widely throughout the geological
world. Its value is recognised globally and it has served as a symbol of wealth and a store of value
throughout history. Even in today’s developed and sophisticated financial markets gold remains a
sought after commodity and is seen as a “safe haven” in times of economic uncertainty.

Gold can be hardened by alloying it with other metals such as silver or copper. The term carat is
used to indicate the percentage of gold remaining in the alloy, with 24 carats indicating pure gold
and fractions thereof indicating proportionately less. Gold is measured in troy ounces and 1 troy
ounce equates to 31.1 grams.

Application and demand

The demand for gold can be separated into a number of different markets. The main markets for
gold demand are jewellery, technology and investment. The table below shows the end uses of the
gold produced in 2015-2017 and the average gold price for the last three years:

Gold demand (Tonnes)

                                                                                                  2015                2016               2017

Jewellery                                                                               2,420.8            2,060.6            2,182.1
Technology                                                                              332.0               323.4               333.1
Electronics                                                                                262.1               255.6               265.6
Other Industrial                                                                           51.0                 49.8                 50.7
Dentistry                                                                                      18.9                 18.0                 16.8
Investment                                                                               961.1            1,615.4            1,248.3
Total bar and coin demand                                                    1,086.3            1,068.4            1,042.0
Physical Bar demand                                                                786.6               794.2               778.7
Official Coin                                                                               224.3               207.2               187.9
Medals/Imitation Coin                                                                 75.4                 67.0                 75.3
ETFs & similar products                                                          -125.1               547.0               206.4
Central banks & other inst.                                                    576.5               389.8               374.8
Gold demand                                                                        4,290.4            4,389.2            4,138.3
LBMA Gold Price, US$/oz                                                   1,160.1            1,250.8            1,257.2

(Source: World Gold Council)

Net identifiable gold demand fell to 4,138.3t in 2017 from 4,389.2t in 2016, representing a
5.7 per cent. decrease, with investment demand falling by 22.7 per cent. However, jewellery
consumption, including jewellery, small bars and coins, increased by 5.9 per cent. In terms of
investment demand, there were significant flows of gold from western vaults to eastern markets,
via refiners in North America, Switzerland, and Dubai. This was as a function of large-scale selling
of Exchange Traded Fund (“ETF”) positions among western investors as macro sentiment in the
US improved. This physical metal supply was to some extent met by demand from consumers in
India, China and numerous Asian and Middle Eastern markets.

Gold demand in Q2 2018 was 43.2t lower, compared with Q2 2017 but in line with its 10 year
average. Jewellery demand weakened year-on-year, but the broad 5-year uptrend remains intact.

Annex I, 12.1, 

12.2

Annex I, 6.1.1,

6.2
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Investment demand pulled back from the extremes of last year amid relatively stable price
conditions. Central banks continued to buy gold at a steady pace, albeit with a decline of 5.0t.

Gold as an investment

Gold, as a tangible or real asset, is widely used to increase the diversification of an investment
portfolio. In times of economic uncertainty, a higher level of diversification is recognised to provide
protection to the total value of an investment portfolio against fluctuations in the value of any one
asset type. Therefore, when the investment outlook is unpredictable, the demand for gold as an
investment is expected to increase.

The main feature of gold investment throughout 2017 was the contrast between ETFs, investment
in which decreased by 62.3 per cent. in 2017, as sizable institutional positions were sold, and
demand for medals and imitation coins, which increased by 12.4 per cent. to 75.3t in 2017.
Notwithstanding the surge in medal and coin purchases, annual investment demand was down
22.7 per cent. in 2017.

The decline in investment in ETFs was mirrored in Q2 2018, declining to 33.8t from 62.5t in Q2
2017, a decrease of 45.9 per cent.

Technology

The volume of gold used in technology continued to stabilise in 2017 at 333.1t versus 323.4t in
2016 as the sector benefitted from a better global economic outlook and gold prices fell.

The two main contributing factors were in the electronics segment. On one hand, improved
consumer sentiment (due to economic growth and stability) stimulated the supply chain,
generating a healthy rise in sales of finished goods. On the other hand, further declines in the
production of gold bonding wire offset these gains.

Similar factors contributed to a rise in the use of gold in the electronics segment in Q2 2018, rising
to 66.2t from 64.4t in Q2 2017, a representing an increase of 2.8 per cent

Demand for gold in other industrial uses grew slightly in 2017.

Gold supply

Gold supply comes from mined gold, through recycling of gold already in circulation and from sales
of existing gold stocks by governments and other such entities. In 2017, world gold supply was
4,447.3t of which 3,305.2t was from mined gold production.

Continued shrinkage in recycling activity outweighed modest growth in mine production, which fed
through to a decline in the overall supply of gold during 2017. Insignificant levels of producer
de-hedging had a limited impact on the numbers.

During the second quarter of 2018, 34.1 additional tonnes of gold were supplied to the market
compared with Q2 2017. This 3.1 per cent. increase was almost solely due to growth in mine
supply; recycling was little changed.

                                                                                                   2015                2016                2017

Supply

Mine production                                                                     3,216.0            3,278.7            3,305.2
Net producer hedging                                                                 13.1                 32.7                -25.6
Recycled gold                                                                        1,128.8            1,291.4            1,167.7
                                                                                            –––––––          –––––––          –––––––
Total supply                                                                          4,357.9            4,602.7            4,447.3
                                                                                             –––––––          –––––––          –––––––
(Source: World Gold Council)
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Mined gold

Annual gold mine production grew by 26.5t (0.8 per cent.) in 2017, the bulk of which came through
in the second half of the year. The fourth quarter saw a clear continuation of the trend that was in
place throughout much of the year, new mines either coming on stream or building up to full
capacity and growth in production of existing operations.

Net producer hedging activity, the second component of total mine supply, again had a minimal
impact on supply in 2017. De-hedging of existing positions amounted to just 25.6t, with little or no
evidence to suggest that the lower price environment will encourage producers to embark on any
notable hedging programmes. The fact that the outstanding global hedge book stands at below
100t, the lowest for over a decade, provides a further indication that hedging will contribute little to
gold’s supply profile going forward.

Recycled gold

Gold is usually recoverable from most of its uses and is easily recyclable. Most recycled gold
originates from jewellery, with smaller amounts coming from recycled bars and coins and also
electrical components. The annual supply of recycled gold declined from 1,291.4t in 2016 to
1,167.7t in 2017.

Gold price

Gold has been used throughout history as a proxy for money and has been a relative standard for
currency equivalents specific to economic regions or countries, until recent times. Many European
countries implemented gold standards in the latter part of the 19th century until these were
temporarily suspended in the financial crises involving World War I. After World War II, the Bretton
Woods system pegged the US dollar to gold at a rate of US$35 per troy ounce. The system existed
until the 1971 Nixon shock, when the US unilaterally suspended the direct convertibility of the
US dollar to gold and made the transition to a flat currency system.

Since 1919 the most common benchmark for the price of gold has been the London gold fixing, a
twice-daily telephone meeting of representatives from five bullion-trading firms of the London
bullion market. Furthermore, gold is traded continuously throughout the world based on the
intra-day spot price, derived from over-the-counter gold-trading markets around the world.

Today, the price of gold is driven by supply and demand including demand for speculation.
However, unlike most other commodities, saving and disposal plays a larger role in affecting its
price than its consumption. Most of the gold ever mined still exists in accessible form, such as
bullion and mass-produced jewellery, with little value over its fine weight — and is thus potentially
able to come back onto the gold market for the right price.

The chart below highlights the change in the market value of gold over the last 10 years:

(Source: World Gold Council)

The price of gold is dependent on a number of different factors including movements in foreign
exchange rates, inflation, interest rates and political instability. The influence of these
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macroeconomic factors on the price of gold can be very complex making it difficult to quantify and
predict their effect on the gold market.

2.       Overview of the uranium market

Introduction

U3O8, also known as yellowcake, is produced by crushing and soaking mined uranium ore in an
acid solution. The solution is then dried and filtered, resulting in a yellow powder, which consists
of 80 – 90 per cent. uranium-238.

Uranium is most commonly used as a fuel for nuclear power plants. Nuclear fission is the basis of
the power generation in the nuclear industry, and is the process whereby the uranium isotope
uranium-235 is split into smaller particles, releasing significant amounts of energy. The first
practical use of nuclear power was in 1951, when power from an experimental nuclear reactor was
used to power ordinary lightbulbs. By the late 1950s, full-scale nuclear power plants had been
placed in service throughout the US, the UK, Russia and France. The nuclear industry grew rapidly
throughout the 1960s and 1970s, with the spread of nuclear reactors to Belgium, Bulgaria,
Canada, the former Czechoslovakia, Finland, Germany, Hungary, Japan, Switzerland and Spain.
Uranium is also widely used in the medical industry for research and diagnosis. Radiotherapy also
uses radioisotopes in the treatment of cancer, and more powerful sources are applied to the
sterilisation of syringes, bandages and other medical equipment.

Uranium demand

The primary use of uranium is in production of electricity. Long term energy demands, coupled with
reactor construction, are the key indicator for uranium demand. Historically, the demand for
uranium has been dominated by the US and France, however, increased demand for energy is
being driven by growing economies in non-OECD countries and the increased electrification of
OECD economies, including expected increased demand from electric vehicles (“EVs”). In the UK
alone, National Grid estimates that by 2050, most, if not all, cars will be EVs.

As global energy demand grows, nuclear power is expected to remain a key aspect of the global
energy mix. Based upon research from the US Energy Information Administration, global energy
consumption is expected to increase by 28 per cent. between 2015 and 2040 with more than half
of the increase attributed to non-OECD Asia, where strong economic growth drives increasing
demand for energy, as illustrated by the following table:

(Source: US Energy Information Administration)
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Uranium production and supply

Mining production

Uranium can be mined through traditional open pit or underground methods, where the rock ore is
removed from the ground and processed in order to access the minerals. Alternatively, uranium is
also recovered through In Situ Recovery (“ISR”), whereby oxygenated groundwater is pumped
directly into the orebody and the minerals are recovered from the solution.

After recovery, uranium ore is processed and milled to produce U3O8, containing 80 – 90 per cent.
uranium-238, which is then shipped to a converter, where the U3O8 is converted to uranium
hexafloride (“UF6”). UF6 is suitable for the enrichment and fuel fabrication steps required to make
the fuel ready for insertion into a nuclear reactor.

The World Nuclear Association (“WNA”) reference case for uranium supply projections assumes
that the uranium supply of 189 mmlb in 2017 will decrease to 165 mmlb by 2035, and supply from
current production sources is expected to decrease by 24 per cent. over the same period. As
outlined in the table below, without a significant improvement in the uranium price, few new mining
projects are expected to be developed. Further, any supply response is expected to be delayed
due to the requirement to obtain all necessary approvals for developing and commissioning a
uranium mine.

                                                          2017       2017       2020       2020       2025       2025       2030       2030       2035       2035
                                                        (mmlb)          (%)    (mmlb)          (%)    (mmlb)          (%)    (mmlb)          (%)    (mmlb)          (%)

Current Production Capacity               161        85%         170        86%         153        83%         138        81%         122        74%

Mines Under Development                      –             –             –             –             6          3%             5          3%             5          3%

Planned Mines                                        –             –             –             –             –             –             –             –             –             –

Prospective Mines                                   –             –             –             –             1          0%             2          1%           18        11%

Secondary                                             28        15%           27        14%           24        13%           26        15%           20        12%
                                                        –––––                     –––––                     –––––                     –––––                     –––––
Total                                                    189                         196                         183                         170                         165

                                                        –––––                     –––––                     –––––                     –––––                     –––––
(Source: WNA 2017 Nuclear Fuels Report)

According to the WNA 2017 Nuclear Fuels Report, of the c. 162 mmlb of uranium produced
globally in 2016, 71% was produced in three countries: Kazakhstan (39 per cent.), Canada (22 per
cent.) and Australia (10 per cent.). Production and marketing is dominated by four companies:
Kazatomprom (21 per cent.), Cameco (17 per cent.), Orano (previously, Areva) (13 per cent.), and
ARMZ – Uranium One (13 per cent.).

Due to the declining uranium price environment, the market has seen a reduction in production
capacity as producers have shut down or reduced capacity at existing mines. Additionally, uranium
companies have not been exploring for and developing new sources of uranium.

Secondary supply

The quantities of U3O8 made available from secondary supplies has been decreasing and,
according to the WNA, are currently estimated to be supplying approximately 16 per cent. of global
uranium demand. The key sources of secondary supply include commercial inventories,
government inventories and recycling of materials from reprocessing.

Commercial inventories are predominantly held by utilities to ensure that any supply disruption will
not affect reactor operations and to allow for contract lead time involved in the various fuel cycle
stages. These inventories generally cover between one and three years of reactor requirements.
Commercial inventories beyond this level are regarded as surplus, as such inventories may be
sold or lent to other parties.

Government inventories are generally held for strategic purposes to ensure security of supply, as
well as for new build programmes, especially in the case of countries such as China, India and
Ukraine which have publicly stated their intention to build inventories. While the exact size of
Russian government inventories is not clear, it is thought that they are intended for use both in
domestic nuclear power plants as well as in plants being constructed in other countries.
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Pricing of  uranium

The principal end users of uranium are the global utility companies, which are also the largest
buyers of uranium and other components of the nuclear fuel cycle. As there is no regulated or
underwritten market for uranium, a substantial percentage of utilities’ uranium supply is sourced
from long-term contracts, with the balance purchased on the spot market. Spot market purchases
are defined as purchases for delivery within a year. While long term contract prices may be
obfuscated by privacy agreements or pricing terms, such as ceilings, floors and escalations,
the market has some visibility on prices in the uranium spot market where there are other active
parties, including traders, financial institutions and producers.

Due to the necessity of securing uranium for their reactors, most utilities have historically entered
into long term contracts for uranium for the bulk of their fuel requirements, and maintain a fuel
inventory equivalent to between one and three years of requirements. As is customary, these
utilities are expected to begin renegotiating new long term contracts one to two years before they
fall due. The need to secure new long-term contracts is further underpinned by the risk of a supply
deficit in a near term to mid-term timeframe and the impact this might have on an already thin spot
market.

3.       Overview of the cobalt market

Introduction

Cobalt is a lustrous steel grey metal and one of only three naturally occurring magnetic metals
(along with iron and nickel) which possess similar properties to each other in terms of hardness,
tensile strength, machinability, thermodynamic properties and electrochemistry.

The uses of cobalt can be broken broadly into two groups – metallurgical and chemical.
Metallurgically, cobalt is a critical element in alloys that need to endure severe temperature and
mechanical stress, due to its properties of high temperature resistance, hardness and wear
characteristics. These qualities make it ideal for superalloys, hard metals and diamond tools,
special steels and alloys, as well as high temperature, high strength magnetic materials. The
principal chemical use is in the cathodes of certain rechargeable lithium-ion batteries, as well as
uses as catalysts in the petrochemical and plastic industries, colouring in pigments and ceramics;
and as paint driers and use in the tyre industry.

Cobalt’s attractiveness is often aligned to that of lithium. If one examines the raw materials which
make up a battery, lithium makes up a much smaller percentage than one would imagine, given its
strategic value to the product. Typically, lithium accounts for less than two per cent. of the
composition of an average battery. Cobalt, on the other hand is used for the battery cathode and
can typically be as much as 35 to 40 per cent. of the material used in battery manufacture. Nickel
also makes up a significant proportion of the battery, depending on the use. The primary reason
for considering cobalt as opposed to nickel concerns the geopolitical locations of cobalt and the
potential for disruptive supply from the world’s largest producing country, the Democratic Republic
of Congo (the “DRC”).

Supply and demand

The cobalt market has historically been driven by battery demand (primarily from consumer
electronics) representing 40 per cent. of demand in 2017. However, the growing demand for
electric vehicles (“EVs”) and need for EV batteries with higher energy densities will see the
demand for lithium increase more than threefold from 214 kt to 669 kt Lithium Carbonate
Equivalent (“LCE”) between 2017 and 2025, whereas cobalt will increase by 60 per cent. from
136 kt to 222 kt over the same period. The EV revolution is considered to be the underlying driver
for cobalt demand, with global EV production expected to increase from 3.2 million units in 2017
to 18 million units by 2025, ultimately reaching 26 to 30 million units in 2030. There are several
drivers that will impact the extent and speed of global EV adoption, including government
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regulations and targets, future battery costs, the availability of EV charging and servicing
infrastructure, and consumer preferences.

The cobalt mine supply is currently quite fragmented from a producer perspective, with the top
three players today accounting for just below 40 per cent. of global mine supply; Glencore plc
(“Glencore”) (22 per cent.), DRC state miner Gecamines (“Gecamines”) (9 per cent.) and China
Molybdenum Co., Limited (“China Molybdenum”) (7 per cent.). However, in contrast to lithium,
cobalt mine supply is almost monopolistic in structure when looking at regional supply: the DRC
alone accounted for almost 70 per cent. of globally mined cobalt output in 2017, with Russia, Cuba,
Australia, and Canada, the next largest supply countries, accounting for just 13 per cent. of global
supply.

Approximately 40 to 45kt of the cobalt mine capacity additions by 2025 are expected to come from
two projects, both in the DRC. The announced expansion of Glencore’s Kamoto Copper Company,
operated by the joint venture between Glencore’s Katanga Mining (75 per cent.) and Gecamines
(25 per cent.), is the largest known expansion project and could add up to 30kt of cobalt supply
annually by the end of 2019. The second largest expansions is the Metalkol Roan Tailings
Reclamation project from Eurasian Resources Group, which could add up to 14kt of cobalt supply
annually as early as 2020.

However, several key issues make an accurate determination of future mine supply uncertain.
Firstly, a major complication of cobalt mine supply is the fact that nearly two-thirds of global mine
supply today comes from the DRC and that share is expected to increase even further to
approximately 75 per cent. The DRC has historically seen supply disruptions and is currently
witnessing changes in its mining law and ownership disputes. Furthermore it is mired in concerns
regarding the role of artisanal mining and child labor, which relates to one of the main concerns of
cobalt consumers in the automotive and consumer electronics sector – the traceability of the
material. Having certainty about the origin of the metal and being sure it is not related to child labor
could either lead to a premium for certified material or at least lower the accessible supply for
certain end-use sectors. Indeed, this supply risk is one of the main reasons China has increased
its focus on this strategic country, e.g., China Molybdenum’s acquisition of the Tenke Fungurume
Mine in the DRC. China also has no significant domestic resources of cobalt and 90 per cent. of
China’s cobalt units (in the form of ores or as semiprocessed material, such as alliage blanc with
approximately 25 percent cobalt content) are sourced from the DRC.

Secondly, and in contrast to lithium, approximately 90 per cent. of cobalt mine supply is produced
as a by-product, either from copper (55 per cent.) or nickel (35 per cent.) mines. That makes
several expansion projects not only dependent on the future cobalt demand, supply, and price
dynamics, but also on nickel and copper dynamics. There are only two operating cobalt mines
where cobalt is the main product: Mukondo in the DRC and Bou Azzer in Morocco.

Pricing of  cobalt

Unlike many widely used materials in today’s conventional vehicles, such as copper, aluminium,
and steel, cobalt comes from a far different place in terms of pricing. Cobalt has been seen in the
past as a “minor metal” and does not have high transparency and liquidity around pricing. While
cobalt trades on the London Metal Exchange (“LME”), the contract is very illiquid, averaging open
interests of just 354 contracts since the beginning of 2016. This pales in comparison to copper,
which has an average of 331,000 contracts.

Over time, it is expected that the liquidity and transparency for cobalt will increase as the markets
increase in size. Financial traders are beginning to enter these markets and more liquid contracts
could begin to appear. The maturation of these markets will be important to the long-term success
of the EV battery material market. Cobalt is less transparent than lithium, with deals structured
below the spot price, at various timeframes, and the details of which are not publicly announced.
This means buyers must have a full awareness of the market when structuring deals.
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Significant Recent Trends                                                                                                                

The global gold market is currently undergoing a geographic change as markets in the Far East,
such as China and India, are consuming a much larger amount of gold than in previous years and,
as a result, are enjoying an increasing share of the global market. The future of the market will
likely be influenced by new technologies, such as blockchain, making transactions in gold as a
commodity more cost efficient for market participants. Similarly, new participants to the gold
market, traditionally dominated by banks, will likely continue to have an impact on the price of gold
in 2019. These new participants include, for example, hedge funds and retail investors.

The most significant recent trend in the global cobalt market, which looks set to continue in 2019,
is the increasing demand for cobalt as a key component of lithium-ion batteries (such batteries
being used to power electric vehicles). The Democratic Republic of Congo, the world’s largest
producer of cobalt, recently introduced legislation which increased royalties and taxes on the
extraction of cobalt within its territory, increasing extraction costs for producers.

The global market has seen a consistent, albeit moderate, uranium price growth throughout the
second half of 2018, likely stimulated by the global reduction in stockpiles of the commodity at
production sites. This trend is forecast to continue into 2019, particularly as the uranium market
sees increased interest from US-based funds interested in investing in the commodity. The
uranium market has recently experienced increased demand, particularly from countries such as
China where more nuclear reactors are being built. The demand for uranium may further increase
if other countries attempt to compete with the Chinese market in terms of uranium production. For
example, in 2018, there were requests by the Minerals Council of Australia and certain uranium
producers in the US for an expansion in production.

Annex I

12.1, 12.2
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PART IX

THE PLACING

Details of the Placing                                                                                                                       

The Company has raised approximately £283,000 (before expenses) pursuant to the proposed

issue of the Placing Shares at the Placing Price. The Joint Bookrunners, as the Company’s agents,

have procured commitments to subscribe for the Placing Shares from subscribers in the Placing.

The Placing is conditional upon:

(a)     the Placing Agreement becoming wholly unconditional (save as to Admission) and not

having been terminated in accordance with its terms prior to Admission; and

(b)     Admission occurring by 8.00 am on 23 July 2019 (or such later date as the Company and

the Joint Bookrunners may agree).

If Admission does not proceed, the Placing will not proceed and all monies paid will be refunded

to subscribers.

Following satisfaction of all conditions and subject to the Placing Agreement becoming

unconditional in all respects, application will be made for the Enlarged Issued Share Capital to be

admitted to a Standard Listing on the Official List and to trading on the Main Market of the London

Stock Exchange. It is expected that Admission will become effective and that dealings for normal

settlement in the Ordinary Shares will commence on 23 July 2019.

The Placing Shares will, when issued, rank pari passu in all respects with the Ordinary Shares in

issue on Admission, including the right to receive dividends and other distributions declared

following Admission.

Immediately following Admission, the Enlarged Issued Share Capital will consist of 297,702,306

Ordinary Shares.

Shareholdings immediately prior to Admission will be diluted by approximately 46 per cent. as a

result of the Placing Shares being issued pursuant to the Placing.

When admitted to trading, the Ordinary Shares (including the Existing Ordinary Shares and the

Placing Shares) will continue to be registered with ISIN GB00B15FS791 and SEDOL code

B15FS79 and trade under the TIDM MNRG.

Placing Agreement

The Company, the Directors and the Joint Bookrunners entered into the Placing Agreement dated

17 July 2019 relating to the Placing pursuant to which, subject to certain conditions, the Joint

Bookrunners agreed to use reasonable endeavours to procure subscribers for up to 94,333,326

Placing Shares to be issued by the Company. The Placing Shares subscribed for in the Placing by

subscribers at the Placing Price will represent up to approximately 32 per cent. of the Enlarged

Issued Share Capital.

The Joint Bookrunners, as the Company’s agents, have procured irrevocable commitments to

subscribe for the full amount of Placing Shares from subscribers in the Placing, and there are no

conditions attached to such irrevocable commitments other than Admission.

In accordance with Listing Rule 14.2.2, at Admission at least 25 per cent. of the Ordinary Shares

of this listed class of Ordinary Shares will be in public hands (as defined in the Listing Rules).

Further details of the Placing Agreement are set out in paragraph 10 of Part XVI – Additional
Information of this document.

Annex III, 6.1, 8.1

Annex I, 10.5

Annex III

5.1.1, 5.1.2

5.1.3, 5.1.4

5.1.5, 5.2.3(g)

5.3.1, 9.1

LR 14.2.2
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Use of proceeds                                                                                                                                

The Net Placing Proceeds will be used by the Company as follows: (i) £80,000 is intended to be

spent reviewing all current and historical data with a view to establishing a new database at the

Gold Ridge Project (ii) £22,000 is intended to be spent on exploration costs at the Palomino Cobalt

Project, and (iii) the remaining balance of £91,000 is earmarked for general corporate purposes

(including directors’ fees over 18 months, marketing, website administrative costs, and future

acquisition opportunities).

Lock-up arrangements                                                                                                                     

Under the terms of the Placing Agreement, each of the Directors have agreed with the Company

and the Joint Bookrunners not to dispose of any of their interests in any Ordinary Shares held or

acquired for a period of 180 days from the date of Admission, save in certain limited circumstances.

The aggregate interests following Admission which will be subject to the lock-up and orderly

market arrangements, as described above, will amount to 72,804,075 Ordinary Shares which is

equivalent to approximately 24 per cent. of the Enlarged Issued Share Capital.

Further details of the lock-up and orderly market arrangements are set out in paragraph 11.2 of

Part XVI – Additional Information of this document.

Admission, settlement and dealings                                                                                              

Applications will be made for the Enlarged Issued Share Capital to be admitted to a Standard

Listing on the Official List of the FCA and to trading on the Main Market of the London Stock

Exchange.

A Standard Listing will afford investors in the Company a lower level of regulatory protection than

that afforded to investors in companies with Premium Listings, which are subject to additional

obligations under the Listing Rules.

It is expected that Admission will become effective and dealings, for normal settlement, will

commence on 23 July 2019. No application has been or will be made for any of the warrants to be

admitted to trading on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange or on any other securities

market.

The Ordinary Shares are eligible for CREST settlement. Accordingly, settlement of transactions in

the Ordinary Shares following Admission may take place within CREST if the relevant holder so

wishes. CREST is a voluntary system and Shareholders who wish to receive and retain certificates

will be able to do so.

The warrants are not CREST eligible for settlement and will remain in certificated form.

Pending the dispatch of definitive share certificates (as applicable), instruments of transfer will be

certified against the register. No temporary documents of title will be issued.

Annex III, 3.4

Annex III, 7.3

LR 2.2.3
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PART X

THE DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR MANAGERS

The Directors                                                                                                                                     

The Directors are responsible for the overall management and control of the Company and there

are no other persons who manage the investments of the Company. The Directors will review the

operations of the Company at regular meetings and it is currently intended that the Board will meet

at least four times a year.

The Directors have provided the Company with the necessary combination, at this stage of its

development, of both specialist market sector and corporate and acquisition experience that will

be key to the successful execution of the Company’s strategy. The Board will be reviewed to

ensure that it remains appropriate for the Company such that the constitution of the Board at that

time will reflect the profile of the Company and prevailing corporate governance standards.

Details of  the Directors are listed below:

Christopher Latilla-Campbell, Chair (age 58)

Christopher Latilla-Campbell is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Zimbabwe.

He has held a number of directorships including of a group listed in Luxembourg and

Johannesburg with Southern African investments in mining, agriculture and manufacturing.

Christopher was also part of the Afpenn Group that established the existence of Coalbed Methane

in Zimbabwe. He is also a member of the Management Committee of Golden Valley Mine in

Zimbabwe and sits on a number of family boards and Trusts. Christopher was a founding

shareholder and Director of the Company.

Rolf Gerritsen, Chief  Executive Officer (age 55)

Rolf Gerritsen is an entrepreneurial executive, with strategic, organisational, commercial and

financial skills developed over the last 30 years with specific focus on the Natural Resources

sector. Mr Gerritsen is currently a director of Cobra Resources plc, ECRG Limited, RCA Associates

Ltd, and Pearman Investments LLP. Mr Gerritsen has been working on the Boards of these

companies developing, designing and implementing growth strategies. Mr Gerritsen has also

acted as a consultant, with a focus on investor relations, for Rock Fire Resources plc (then Papua

Mining plc), Pembridge Resources plc (then China Africa Resources plc) and Metal Tiger plc.

Mr Gerritsen also spent three years in Paris working as a consultant with BBSP, France.

Christian Schaffalitzky, Non-Executive Director (age 64)

Christian Schaffalitzky, EurGeol, FIMMM, PGeo, CEng has over 40 years’ experience in minerals

exploration working for companies and also as founder and principal of the geological consultancy

CSA. Christian Schaffalitzky co-established Ivernia West PLC, where he led the exploration,

discovery and development of the Lisheen zinc deposit in Ireland. Currently he is active in precious

and base metals minerals exploration and development in Russia and the former Soviet Union as

Managing Director of Eurasia Mining plc. He is also chairman of Kibo Mining plc and a director of

Two Shields Investments plc.

Gervaise Heddle, Non-Executive Director (age 44)

Gervaise Heddle holds a B.Ec from the University of Adelaide and has held various board roles on

public and private companies. Gervaise is Chief Executive Officer of Greatland Gold PLC.

Previously, Gervaise was a Division Director of Macquarie Bank and a Fund Manager at Merrill

Lynch Investment Managers. Gervaise is a CFA charterholder and has extensive financial market

experience.

Annex I, 14.1

Annex I, III 1.1
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Management equity incentives

Rolf Gerritsen, pursuant to the terms of a service agreement entered into with the Company on

5 December 2018, will be paid a one off equity bonus of 2,500,000 new Ordinary Shares on the

Enlarged Issued Share Capital being admitted to the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange.

The bonus will, at the election of Mr. Gerritsen, take the form of a cash bonus, the net amount of

which (after deduction of payroll taxes) will be reinvested by Mr. Gerritsen subscribing for new

Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company.

Mr. Gerritsen will also be issued with a one off equity bonus of shares in the Company upon the

Company completing a transaction which secures a majority stake in a new project. The quantum

of the bonus is set at the lesser of (i) 2,500,000 million shares or (ii) 15% of the effective sterling

value of the transaction divided by the trading price per share of the Company’s shares on a 5 day

volume weighted average basis over the 5 days preceding the announcement of the triggering

transaction. The bonus will, at the election of Mr. Gerritsen, take the form of a cash bonus, the net

amount of which (after deduction of payroll taxes) will be reinvested by Mr. Gerritsen in subscribing

for new shares in the capital of the Company.

Director options

At the date of this document, the Company has 5,000,000 outstanding Director share options

granted to Rolf Gerritsen and all are exercisable at an exercise price of 3 pence per Ordinary

Share with a term of three years from the date of Rolf Gerritsen’s appointment to the Board.

The Company also has 4,500,000 outstanding share options granted to Paul Johnson, a former

Director, exercisable at an exercise price of 0.75 pence per share until 7 November 2019.

On 15 November 2018, the Company announced that certain of the Directors intended to exercise

their options at exercise prices of 0.5 pence and 0.75 pence and as a result would subscribe for

8,500,000 Ordinary Shares for a total consideration of £62,500 (the “Directors’ Options

Exercise”) in the following proportions:

                                                                                                                  Number of              Option
                                                                                                          Ordinary Share           Exercise
Name of  Director                                                                                           Options                Price

Christopher Latilla-Campbell                                                                      3,000,000               0.75p

Christian Schaffalitzky                                                                                   500,000                 0.5p

                                                                                                                   2,000,000               0.75p

Gervaise Heddle                                                                                        3,000,000               0.75p

Further details of the terms of the options are set out in paragraph 7 of Part XVI – Additional
Information of this document.

Senior Managers

The Company’s Senior Managers, in addition to the Directors listed above, are as follows:

Nick O’Reilly, Technical Director (age 43)

Nick O’Reilly is a qualified exploration geologist and Competent Person for JORC Code and AIM

Rules. He has over 14 years’ experience in mining and exploration programme valuation, audit,

due diligence, design and project management, ranging from grassroots stage through feasibility

study to production across all major commodities, with a developed specialty in gold, uranium and

base metal exploration. Nick provides technical advice to junior mining and exploration companies

looking to develop their own projects, raise capital or divest and technical due diligence to the

mining investment sector. Nick is currently Co-Chairman and Treasurer of the Association of

Mining Analysts, a non-profit London based organisation representing the broad mining investment

community and a Non-Executive Director of Panther Metals PLC. He holds a BSc degree in
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Applied Geology from the University of Leicester and an MSc in Mineral Project Appraisal from the

Royal School of Mines, Imperial College, London.

Windell Callaghan, Accounting (age 44)

Windell is a financial controller with experience in the financial services, pharmaceutical,

automotive and exploration and mining industry sectors. Windell is highly experienced in financial

control, cost management, budgeting & forecasting, financial analysis and auditing. Windell has an

MBA from Henley Management.

Corporate governance                                                                                                                      

The Directors recognise the importance of sound corporate governance and the Company will

comply with the Quoted Companies Alliance (“QCA”) Code, as published by the QCA, to the extent

they consider appropriate in light of the Company’s size, stage of development and resources.

The Company will hold Board meetings periodically, and at least four times a year, as issues arise

which require the attention of the Board. The Board will be responsible for the management of the

business of the Company, setting the strategic direction of the Company, establishing the policies

of the Company and appraising the making of all material investments. It will be the Board’s

responsibility to oversee the financial position of the Company and monitor the business and

affairs of the Company on behalf of the Shareholders, to whom the Directors are accountable. The

primary duty of the Board will be to act in the best interests of the Company at all times. The Board

will also address issues relating to internal control and the Company’s approach to risk

management. The Company has also established an audit committee of the Board (the “Audit

Committee”) with formally delegated duties and responsibilities.

The Audit Committee, which will comprise Christopher Latilla-Campbell as chair and Gervaise

Heddle will meet at least twice a year. The Audit Committee will be responsible for making

recommendations to the Board on the appointment of auditors and the audit fee and for ensuring

that the financial performance of the Company is properly monitored and reported. In addition, the

Audit Committee will receive and review reports from management and the auditors relating to the

interim report, the annual report and accounts and the internal control systems of the Company.

The Company has adopted a share dealing code regulating trading in the Company’s shares for

the Directors and other persons discharging managerial responsibilities (and their persons closely

associated) which contains provisions appropriate for a company whose shares are admitted to

trading on the Official List (particularly relating to dealing during closed periods which will be in line

with the Market Abuse Regulation). The Company will take all reasonable steps to ensure

compliance by the Directors and any relevant employees with the terms of that share dealing code.

Annex I, 16.4

Annex I, 16.3
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PART XI

TERMS OF THE PLACING WARRANTS

The Placing Warrants are constituted by, and issued subject to and with the benefit of, the Placing

Warrant Instrument.

Warrantholders will be bound by all the terms and conditions set out in the Placing Warrant

Instrument. The terms and conditions attached to the Placing Warrants are summarised below in

paragraphs 1 to 9.

Statements made in this Part XI – Terms of  the Placing Warrants are a summary of those made

in the Placing Warrant Instrument.

1.       Definitions

In this Part XI – Terms of  the Placing Warrants of this document, unless otherwise defined in this

document, each of the following expressions has the following meanings:

“Conditions” means the terms and conditions of the Placing Warrants;

“Effective Date” 23 July 2019;

“Final Exercise Date” means 3:00 p.m., London time on 23 July 2021;

“Notice of Exercise” means in relation to a Placing Warrant, the duly completed notice of exercise

in the form, or substantially in the form, contained in the Placing Warrant Certificate;

“Placing Warrants” means the Placing Warrants constituted under the Placing Warrant

Instrument;

“Placing Warrant Certificate” means in relation to an Placing Warrant, a certificate evidencing a

Warrantholder’s entitlement to Placing Warrants;

“Subscription Period” means the period from the Effective Date to the Final Exercise Date;

“Subscription Price” means 0.6 pence per Ordinary Share;

“Subscription Rights” means the right to subscribe for Ordinary Shares conferred by the

Warrants;

“Warrantholder” means a registered holder for the time being of Placing Warrants; and

“Warrant Register” means the register of Warrantholders entitled to the benefit of the Placing

Warrants.

2.       Subscription Rights

2.1     Warrantholders are entitled in respect of every one Placing Warrant held to subscribe for one

Ordinary Share in the Company at the Subscription Price at any time within the Subscription

Period. The Placing Warrants registered in a Warrantholder’s name will be evidenced by a

Placing Warrant Certificate issued by the Company. The Subscription Rights will not be

exercisable in respect of a fraction of an Ordinary Share. The Subscription Price shall be

payable in full on the exercise of the Placing Warrant(s) on any day prior to the Final

Exercise Date provided always that if the same shall not be a Business Day then the Final

Exercise Date shall be the next Business Day to occur.

2.2     The Company undertakes that upon the exercise of the Subscription Rights by a

Warrantholder in accordance with the Conditions it shall allot and issue to that Warrantholder
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the relevant number of Ordinary Shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to the

Subscription Rights.

2.3     The Company undertakes to the Warrantholders that it will seek to put such resolutions as

are necessary to authorise the issue of Ordinary Shares in connection with the exercise of

the Warrants in accordance with the Conditions at the Company’s next general meeting.

2.4     In order to exercise its Subscription Rights in whole or in part a Warrantholder must lodge

with the Company a Notice of Exercise together with its Placing Warrant Certificate (if any)

and the remittance in cleared funds of an amount equal to the Subscription Price multiplied

by the number of Ordinary Shares to be allotted and issued to the Warrantholder as a result

of the exercise of the Placing Warrants which are being exercised.

2.5     Once delivered to the Company in accordance with paragraph 2.4 above, a Notice of

Exercise shall (save with the consent of the Company) be irrevocable.

2.6     Ordinary Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of Subscription Rights will be allotted as

soon as practicable but not later than 14 days after the lodging of the relevant Notice of

Exercise under paragraph 2.4 above and receipt of payment of the aggregate Subscription

Price (“Subscription Date”) and share certificates in respect of such Ordinary Shares will

be issued free of charge not later than 14 days after the Subscription Date to the

Warrantholder in whose name the Placing Warrants are registered at the Subscription Date.

In the event of a partial exercise of the Subscription Rights comprised in the Placing

Warrants the Company shall at the time of issue of share certificates issue free of charge a

fresh Placing Warrant Certificate (if required) in the name of the Warrantholder for any

balance of his Subscription Rights remaining exercisable.

2.7     Ordinary Shares allotted pursuant to the exercise of the Subscription Rights will rank for all

dividends or other distributions declared after the date of allotment of such shares but not

before such date and otherwise pari passu in all respects with the Ordinary Shares in issue

on the date of such exercise.

2.8     The Placing Warrant Instrument constitutes the Placing Warrants from the Effective Date.

2.9     The Placing Warrants have been granted to each Warrantholder by deed poll and no further

or other consideration shall be required from a Warrantholder on the grant of a Placing

Warrant.

3.       Adjustment of Subscription Rights

3.1     The Subscription Rights will be subject to adjustment as follows:

(a)     upon any allotment of fully paid Ordinary Shares by way of a bonus issue to holders

of the Ordinary Shares on the register on a date prior to the Final Exercise Date, the

number of Ordinary Shares to be subscribed for on any subsequent exercise of

the Subscription Rights will be increased in due proportion with effect from the record

date of such bonus issue. No change will be made to the Subscription Price pursuant

to this paragraph 3.1(a); and

(b)     if prior to the Final Exercise Date, the Company should sub-divide or consolidate its

share capital, then the nominal value of Ordinary Shares to be subscribed for on any

subsequent exercise of the Subscription Rights shall be reduced or increased (as

appropriate) in due proportion with effect from the record date for such sub-division or

consolidation.

3.2     Upon the occurrence of an event referred to in paragraph 3.1, the Company shall request

the auditors of the Company from time to time, acting as experts, to determine such

adjustment to the number and/or nominal value of Ordinary Shares to be subscribed on

exercise of the Subscription Rights and/or the Subscription Price as is fair and reasonable
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in accordance with paragraph 3.1 above and, within 14 days thereafter, the Company shall

give notice of such adjustments to the Warrantholders, together with a new Placing Warrant

Certificate (if required) in respect of any additional Ordinary Shares for which that

Warrantholder is entitled to subscribe (if any) in consequence of such adjustments. The

amount of any such adjustments as certified by the auditors shall, in the absence of manifest

error, be final and binding on the Company and the Warrantholders.

3.3     No adjustment shall be made pursuant to this paragraph 3 which would result in the issue

by the Company of a fraction of an Ordinary Share and no adjustments shall be made if, as

a consequence, the Subscription Price would be less than the nominal value of an Ordinary

Share.

3.4     Warrantholders will be given notice in writing of all adjustments. No adjustment will be made

to the Subscription Price if such adjustment would be less than one per cent of

the Subscription Price in force and, on any adjustment by reason of consolidation or

division, the adjusted Subscription Price will be rounded down to the nearest 0.01 pence.

Any adjustment not so made and any amount by which the Subscription Price is rounded

down will be carried forward and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment.

3.5     The Placing Warrants contain an accelerator which shall be triggered at 2.4 pence per

Placing Warrant when the Company has had five continuous trading days of the volume

weighted average price (“VWAP”) of the Ordinary Shares of 2.4 pence. The Warrantholder

shall exercise the Placing Warrants within 30 days after the fifth day of VWAP of 2.4 pence

per Ordinary Share.

4.       Stock Dealing Exchanges

Provided that at the time of issue of any Ordinary Shares pursuant to the exercise of Placing

Warrants, the Ordinary Shares (or any of them) are quoted on the Official List of the FCA or

are traded on AIM or the NEX Growth Market or permission has been granted for dealings

therein on any other recognised investment exchange in any part of the world, the Company

will apply to such body for permission to deal in or for quotation of such Ordinary Shares (as

the case may be) and shall use its best endeavours to secure such permission or quotation

no later than five business days after the issue of such Ordinary Shares.

5.       Winding up of the Company

5.1     If an order is made or an effective resolution is passed on or before the Final Exercise Date

for the voluntary winding up of the Company each Warrantholder will be entitled for the

purpose of ascertaining his rights in the winding up to be treated as if he had immediately

before the date of the passing of the resolution fully exercised his rights to acquire Ordinary

Shares pursuant to his Placing Warrants and in that event he shall be entitled to receive out

of the assets available in the liquidation pari passu with the holders of the Ordinary Shares

such a sum as he would have received had he been the holder of all such Ordinary Shares

entitled to by virtue of such exercise after deducting a sum equal to the aggregate

Subscription Price which would have been payable in respect of such exercise.

5.2     The rights of the Warrantholders under this paragraph 5 shall be calculated by the auditors

of the Company whose determination shall (save in the case of manifest error) be binding

on the Company and the Warrantholders.

5.3     Subject to this condition the Placing Warrants shall lapse on liquidation of the Company.

6.       Variation of Rights

6.1     All or any of the rights for the time being attached to the Placing Warrants may from time to

time (whether or not the Company is being wound up) be altered, amended or abrogated

only with the prior sanction of a special resolution of the Warrantholders and the agreement
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of the Company and shall be effected by an instrument by way of deed executed by the

Company and expressed to be supplemental to the Placing Warrant Instrument.

6.2     All the provisions of the Articles for the time being of the Company relating to general

meetings shall apply mutatis mutandis as though the Placing Warrants were a class of

shares forming part of the share capital of the Company except that:

(a)     the necessary quorum shall be the Warrantholders (present in person or by proxy)

entitled to subscribe for one-third in nominal amount of the Ordinary Shares subject to

outstanding Placing Warrants;

(b)     every Warrantholder present in person at any such meeting shall be entitled on a show

of hands to one vote and on a poll every Warrantholder present in person or by proxy

at any such meeting shall be entitled to one vote for every Ordinary Share for which

he is entitled to subscribe pursuant to the Placing Warrants;

(c)      any Warrantholder or Warrantholders holding 10 per cent or more of the aggregate

outstanding Placing Warrants present in person or by proxy may demand or join in

demanding a poll; and

(d)     if at any adjourned meeting a quorum as above defined is not present those holders

of outstanding Placing Warrants who are then present in person or by proxy shall be

a quorum.

7.       Other Provisions

7.1     So long as any Subscription Rights remain exercisable the Company shall not:

(a)     (other than Ordinary Shares paid out of distributable reserves and issued in lieu of a

cash dividend) issue securities by way of capitalisation of profits or reserves except

fully paid Ordinary Shares issued to the holders of its Ordinary Shares;

(b)     prior to the Final Exercise Date in any way modify the rights attached to its existing

Ordinary Shares as a class, or create any new class of shares except for shares which

carry, as compared with the existing Ordinary Shares, no greater rights as regards

voting, dividend or capital provided that nothing herein shall restrict the right of the

Company to increase or to consolidate or sub-divide its share capital;

(c)      issue any Ordinary Shares credited as fully paid by way of capitalisation of profits or

reserves; or

(d)     except with the sanction of a special resolution of the Warrantholders or except by the

redemption of redeemable shares reduce its share capital or any share premium

account or capital redemption reserve fund provided that nothing shall prevent the

Company from purchasing any of its shares for the time being in issue on such terms

as it may think expedient nor require the sanction of a special resolution of the

Warrantholders for any such purchase.

7.2     The Company shall keep available for issue sufficient authorised but unissued share capital

to satisfy in full all Subscription Rights remaining exercisable.

7.3     If at any time whilst the Subscription Rights remain capable of being exercised an offer or

invitation is made to all holders of Ordinary Shares (or all such shareholders other than the

offeror and/or any company controlled by the offeror and/or persons acting in concert with

the offeror) to acquire the whole or any part of the issued Ordinary Shares and the Company

becomes aware that as a result of such offer or invitation the right to cast a majority of votes

which may ordinarily be cast at a general meeting of the Company has become vested in

the offeror and/or such persons or companies, the Company shall, so far as it is able,

procure, subject to deducting a sum equal to the aggregate Subscription Price which would
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have been payable in respect of such exercise, that a like offer or invitation is made or

extended at the same time to each Warrantholder as if the Placing Warrants had been

exercised in full and as if the Ordinary Shares issued pursuant to such exercise had been

issued immediately prior to the record date for such an offer or invitation.

7.4     The Company shall send to the Warrantholders a copy of every document sent to the

holders of its Ordinary Shares at the same time as it is sent to such holders.

8.       Transfer

8.1     The Company shall maintain a Warrant Register and the provisions of paragraph 8.2 will

apply in relation to any transfer.

8.2     The Company shall be entitled to treat each Warrantholder as the absolute owner of a

Placing Warrant and, accordingly, shall not, except as required by law or a court of

competent jurisdiction, be bound to recognise any equitable or other claim to or interest in a

Placing Warrant on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall have express or other

notice of such a claim.

8.3     Every Warrantholder will be recognised by the Company as entitled to the Placing Warrants

free from any equity, set-off or cross claim on the part of the Company against the original

or any intermediate holder of the Placing Warrants.

8.4     The Placing Warrants are non-transferable except by a corporate entity to rights holding

company, any of its subsidiaries or any subsidiary of such holding company and in any event

only in accordance with the provisions of the Articles relating to the transfer of Ordinary

Shares.

8.5     Placing Warrants transferred in accordance with paragraph 8.4 are transferable by

instrument of transfer in writing in any usual form or in another form approved by the

Directors and the instrument shall be executed by or on behalf of the transferor.

8.6     When a Warrantholder transfers the whole or part only of relevant instrument of transfer and

the Placing Warrant Certificate to the Company at its registered office (or such other its

holding of Placing Warrants in accordance with paragraph 8.4 the transferor shall deliver the

place as may be agreed by the Company) and the Company shall cancel the Placing

Warrant Certificate and issue a new Placing Warrant Certificate to the transferee in respect

of the Placing Warrants transferred and a new Placing Warrant certificate to the transferor in

respect of the balance (if any) of Placing Warrants retained by him, in each case without

charge, and shall update the Warrant Register accordingly.

8.7     The transferor is deemed to remain the holder of the Placing Warrants (as the case may be)

until the name of the transferee is entered in the Warrant Register in respect of it.

8.8     The Company may not charge a fee for registering the transfer of a Placing Warrant or other

document relating to or affecting the title to a Placing Warrant or the right to transfer it or for

making any other entry in the Warrant Register.

9.       Tradability

The Placing Warrants shall not be listed or traded on a recognized stock exchange.

10.     Uncertificated Securities Regulations

The Placing Warrant Instrument does not impose any obligation on the Company to procure

that the Placing Warrants are capable of being held in uncertificated form. However, if at any

time there are Placing Warrants which are requested to be held in uncertificated form or an

application has been made by the Company for Placing Warrants to be held in uncertificated

form to the operator of a relevant system (such application being able to be made by the
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Company without the prior consent of the Warrantholders), then no provision (or any term of

issue of the Placing Warrants) shall apply or have effect to the extent that it is in any respect

inconsistent with:

(a)     the holding of the Placing Warrants in uncertificated form;

(b)     the transfer of title to the Placing Warrants by means of a relevant system; or

(c)      the Conditions.
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                                                   PART XII                                                    

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

Part A: Accountants’ Report on the Historical Financial Information of the Group

The Directors                                                                                          

MetalNRG plc

1 Ely Place

London

EC1N 6RY

18 July 2019

Dear Sirs

MetalNRG plc (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together with the Company, the

“Group”) – accountants’ report on the historical financial information of the Group for

the financial years ended 28 February 2019, 28 February 2018 and 28 February 2017 (the

“Historical Financial Information”) 

Introduction

We report on the Historical Financial Information relating to the Group as set out in this Part XII of

the prospectus dated 18 July 2019 (the “Prospectus”) relating to the proposed admission of the

entire issued ordinary share capital of the Company to listing on the standard segment of the

official list of the Financial Conduct Authority and to trading on the main market for listed securities

of London Stock Exchange plc (“Admission”). The Historical Financial Information has been

prepared for inclusion in the Prospectus and on the basis of the accounting policies set out in

note 2 to the Historical Financial Information. This report is given for the purpose of complying with

Annex 1 item 20.1 of Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004 (the “Prospectus Directive

Regulation”) and is given for the purpose of complying with that requirement and for no other

purpose.

Responsibility

The directors (the “Directors”) of the Company are responsible for preparing the Historical

Financial Information on the basis of preparation set out in the notes to the Historical Financial

Information and in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as

adopted by the European Union.

It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the Historical Financial Information, and to report our

opinion to you. Save for any responsibility arising under Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f) to any

person as and to the extent there provided, to the fullest extent permitted by law we do not assume

any responsibility and will not accept any liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any

such other person as a result of, arising out of, or in connection with this report or our statement,

required by and given solely for the purposes of complying with Annex I item 23.1 to Commission

Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004, consenting to its inclusion in the Prospectus.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our work in accordance with the Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the

Auditing Practices Board in the United Kingdom. Our work included an assessment of evidence

relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the Historical Financial Information. It also included an

assessment of significant estimates and judgements made by those responsible for the

Annex II, 1

Annex I, 3.1,

20.1, 20.4.1,

20.5.1

Annex III, 10.2
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preparation of the Historical Financial Information and whether the accounting policies are

appropriate to the Company and consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

The Unaudited Interim Historical Financial Information has not been audited, whereas the Audited

Full Year Historical Financial Information has been audited by us.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all of the information and explanations which

we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable

assurance that the Historical Financial Information is free from material misstatement whether

caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Historical Financial Information gives, for the purpose of the Prospectus, a true

and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 August 2019 and of its results, cash flows

and changes in equity for the period then ended in accordance with the applicable financial

reporting framework and has been prepared in a form that is consistent with the accounting

policies adopted by the Group.

Declaration

For the purposes of Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f) we are responsible for this report as part of the

Prospectus and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the information

contained in this report is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains

no omission likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Prospectus in compliance

with Annex I item 1.2 of the Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004.

Yours faithfully

Edwards Veeder (UK) Limited

Reporting Accountants
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PART B: HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

Consolidated statement of Financial Position

The consolidated statement of financial position of the group is set out below:

As at
                                                                                       28 February     28 February     28 February
                                                                           Note                2019                2018                2017
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

Assets

Non-current assets
Intangible fixed assets                                           10           621,151                      –                      –

Investments                                                            11           168,919           175,433                      –

Available for sale assets                                                       107,800                      –                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
                                                                                             897,870           175,433                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

Current assets
Trade and other receivables                                  12           190,650               2,396             23,181

Cash and cash equivalents                                                    24,168           209,673           128,526
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
                                                                                             214,818           212,069           151,707
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
TOTAL ASSETS                                                                1,112,688           387,502           151,707
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
EQUITY

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Called up share capital                                          13            257,114           250,709           243,563

Share premium                                                      14        1,886,524        1,095,221           715,361

Retained earnings                                                 14       (1,210,550)         (972,442)         (815,525)

Foreign currency reserve                                      14               1,127                      –                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
TOTAL EQUITY                                                                    934,215           373,488           143,399
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables                                     15           178,473             14,014               8,308
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
TOTAL LIABILITIES                                                             178,473             14,014               8,308

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES                                   1,112,688           387,502           151,707
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
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Consolidated statement of Income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group is set out below:

Year ended
                                                                                       28 February     28 February     28 February
                                                                           Note                2019                2018                2017
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Revenue                                                                                           –                      –                      –

Administrative expenses                                                      (249,629)         (157,037)           (37,983)

Other operating income                                                          11,279                      –                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
OPERATING LOSS                                                 4          (238,413)         (157,037)           (37,983)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Finance Income                                                       6                  305                  120                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX                                            (238,108)         (156,917)           (37,983)

Income Tax                                                              8                      –                      –                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
LOSS FOR THE PERIOD                                                   (238,108)         (156,917)           (37,983)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

Consolidated statement of Comprehensive Income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group is set out below:

Year ended
                                                                                       28 February     28 February     28 February
                                                                           Note                2019                2018                2017
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

Loss after tax                                                                       (238,108)         (156,917)           (37,983)

Items that may subsequently be reclassified 

to profit or loss:

– Foreign exchange
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
– Foreign exchange movements                                              1,127                      –                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS 

OF THE PARENT                                                                (236,981)         (156,917)           (37,983)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
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Consolidated statement of Changes in Equity

The consolidated statement of changes in equity of the Group is set out below:

                                                                                                                          Foreign
                                                            Share            Share   Accumulated      currency
                                                           capital       Premium              deficit        reserve              Total
                                                                    £                    £                      £                  £                    £

At 1 March 2016                              241,660        667,260         (777,542)                –        131,378

Changes in equity

Issue of share capital                           1,903          48,101                     –                  –          50,004

Loss for the year                                         –                    –           (37,983)                –         (37,983)
                                                   –––––––––   –––––––––     ––––––––– –––––––––   –––––––––
At 28 February 2017                       243,563        715,361         (815,525)                –        143,399

Changes in equity

Issue of share capital                           7,146        379,860                     –                  –        387,006

Loss for the year                                         –                    –         (156,917)                –       (156,917)
                                                   –––––––––   –––––––––     ––––––––– –––––––––   –––––––––
At 28 February 2018                       250,709     1,095,221         (972,442)                –        373,488

Changes in equity

Issue of share capital                           6,405        791,303                     –                  –        797,708

Loss for the year                                         –                    –         (238,108)                          (238,108)

Translation differences                                –                    –                                  1,127            1,127
                                                   –––––––––   –––––––––     ––––––––– –––––––––   –––––––––
At 28 February 2019                       257,114     1,886,524      (1,210,550)         1,127        934,215
                                                   –––––––––   –––––––––     ––––––––– –––––––––   –––––––––
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Consolidated statement of Cash Flows

The consolidated cash flow statement of the Group is set out below:

Year ended
                                                                                       28 February     28 February     28 February
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017
                                                                                            (Audited)          (Audited)          (Audited)
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss for the period before taxation                                      (238,108)         (156,917)           (37,983)

Adjustment for:
Finance income                                                                          (305)                (120)                     –

Profit on disposal of investments                                           (11,279)                     –                      –

Shares received in lieu of fees                                              (62,500)                     –                      –

Impairment of investments                                                      92,878                      –                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
                                                                                            (219,314)         (157,037)           (37,983)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

Changes in:
Trade and other debtors                                                      (153,254)            20,785              (4,431)

Trade and other creditors                                                     129,078               5,706              (2,191)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Cash generated from operations                                     (243,490)         (130,546)           (44,605)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

Cash flows from Investing activities

Purchase of fixed asset investments                                   (147,822)         (175,433)                     –

Purchase of intangible assets                                             (621,251)                     –                      –

Proceeds from sale of assets                                                 26,118                      –                      –

Creditors on acquisition                                                          37,927                      –                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Cash used in investing activities                                     (705,028)         (175,433)                     –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

Cash flows from financing activities

Issue of shares                                                                     762,708           387,006             50,004

Interest received                                                                          305                  120                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Cash generated by Financing activities                           763,013           387,126             50,004
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

Net (decease)/increase in cash and 

cash equivalents                                                                (185,505)            81,147               5,399

Cash and cash equivalents at 

beginning of year                                                                209,673           128,526           123,127
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year                         24,168           209,673           128,526
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information

1.       General information                                                                                                                

The Company is a public company limited by shares which is incorporated in England. The

registered office of the Company is 1 Ely Place London EC1N 6RY, United Kingdom. The

registered number of the Company is 05714562.

2.       Statement of compliance

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with IFRS, including

interpretations made by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The standards have been applied

consistently.

The Historical Financial Information is presented in pounds sterling.

3.       Accounting policies

Basis of  preparation

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified by

the revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities and investment properties measured at fair

value through profit or loss.

The Historical Financial Information is prepared in pounds sterling, which is the functional currency

of the Company.

Transition to IFRS

The entity transitioned from previous FRS102 to IFRS as at 1 March 2017. Details of how IFRS

has affected the reported financial position and financial performance is given in note 20.

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet applied

(i)       New and amended standards mandatory for the first time for the financial period beginning
01 March 2018

There were no IFRS or IFRC interpretations that were effective for the first time for the financial

period beginning 1 March 2018 that had a material impact on the Company.

(ii)      New standards, amendments and Interpretations in issue but not yet effect of  not yet
endorses and not early adopted:

The standards and interpretations that are relevant to the Company, issued, but not yet effective,

up to the most recent date of the Historical Financial Information are listed below. The Company

intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

Standard Impact on initial application Effective date

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

Annual Improvements 2015 – 2017 Cycle 1 January 2019

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax 1 January 2019

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the

Company and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being

made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking

into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty.

LR 2.2.1(1)

LR 2.2.2(1)

Annex I, 5.1.1,

5.1.2
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Basis of  consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and

companies controlled by the Company, the Subsidiary Companies, drawn up to 28 February each

year.

Control is recognised where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating

policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The results of subsidiaries

acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from

the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, where appropriate. 

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the

accounting policies used into line with those used by the Group. All intra-group transactions,

balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. Non-controlling interests in the

net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. 

Non-controlling interests consist of the amounts of those interests at the date of the original

business combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the

combination.

Short term debtors and creditors

Debtors and creditors with no stated interest rate and receivable or payable within one year are

recorded at transaction price. Any losses arising from impairment are recognised in the income

statement in other operating expenses.

Judgements and key sources of  estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the Historical Financial Information requires the Directors to make judgements,

estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported. These estimates and judgements are

continually reviewed and are based on experience and other factors, including expectations of

future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Accounting estimates and assumptions are made concerning the future and, by their nature, may

not accurately reflect the related actual outcome. There are no key assumptions and other sources

of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Foreign currencies

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each

Group entity are expressed in pounds sterling, which is the presentation currency for the

consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than

the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary items denominated in

foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the reporting date. Exchange

differences arising are included in the profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of preparing consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the

Group’s foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date.

Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. Gains and

losses from exchange differences so arising are shown through the Consolidated Statement of

Changes in Equity.

Investments

Fixed asset investments are initially recorded at cost, and subsequently stated at cost less any

accumulated impairment losses.
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Listed investments are measured at fair value with changes in fair value being recognised in profit

or loss.

Impairment of  fixed assets

A review for indicators of impairment is carried out at each reporting date, with the recoverable

amount being estimated where such indicators exist. Where the carrying value exceeds the

recoverable amount, the asset is impaired accordingly. Prior impairments are also reviewed for

possible reversal at each reporting date.

For the purposes of impairment testing, when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount

of an individual asset, an estimate is made of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit

to which the asset belongs. The cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets

that includes the asset and generates cash inflows that largely independent of the cash inflows

from other assets or groups of assets.

For impairment testing of goodwill, the goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the

acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from

the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Company

are assigned to those units.

Intangible assets

Trademarks, licences and customer contracts, Separately acquired trademarks and licences are

shown at historical cost. Trademarks, licenses and customer contracts acquired in a business

combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a finite useful life and

are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Impairment of  intangible assets 

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and

are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances

indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An

impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its

recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of

disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the

lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent

of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial

assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the

impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Financial instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the

contractual arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a

residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all of its financial liabilities.

Where the contractual obligations of financial instruments (including share capital) are equivalent

to a similar debt instrument, those financial instruments are classed as financial liabilities. Financial

liabilities are presented as such in the balance sheet. Finance costs and gains or losses relating

to financial liabilities are included in the profit and loss account. Finance costs are calculated so

as to produce a constant rate of return on the outstanding liability.

Where the contractual terms of share capital do not have any terms meeting the definition of a

financial liability then this is classed as an equity instrument. Dividends and distributions relating

to equity instruments are debited direct to equity.
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Financial liabilities

The Directors determine the classification of the Company’s financial liabilities at initial recognition.

The financial liabilities held comprise other payables and accrued liabilities and these are classified

as loans and receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers any cash on short-term deposits and other short term investments to be

cash equivalents.

Share capital

The Company’s ordinary shares of nominal value 0.01 pence each (“Ordinary Shares”) are

recorded at such nominal value and proceeds received in excess of the nominal value of Ordinary

Shares issued, if any, are accounted for as share premium. Both share capital and share premium

are classified as equity. Costs incurred directly to the issue of Ordinary Shares are accounted for

as a deduction from share premium, otherwise they are charged to the income statement.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax charge represents tax payable less a credit for deferred tax. The tax payable is based on

profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from the loss for the year as reported in the Consolidated

Statement of Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of income or expense that are

taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items of income or expense that are

never taxable or deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that

have been enacted or substantively enacted by the Statement of Financial Position date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities in the Historical Financial Information and the corresponding tax

bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred

tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available

against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to set off

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the

same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on

a net basis.

Going concern

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared on the assumption that the group will

continue as a going concern. Under the going concern assumption, an entity is ordinarily viewed

as continuing in business for the foreseeable future with neither the intention nor the necessity of

liquidation, ceasing trading or seeking protection from creditors pursuant to laws or regulations. In

assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, the Directors take into account

all available information for the foreseeable future, in particular for the twelve months from the date

of approval of the Historical Financial Information.

Following the review of ongoing performance and cash flows, the Directors have a reasonable

expectation that the group has adequate resources to continue operational existence for the

foreseeable future. 
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4.       Operating profit

Operating profit or loss is stated after charging/(crediting):

                                                                                                                 Year ended
                                                                                       28 February    28 February    28 February 
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

Impairment of debtors                                                                       -             17,570                      –

Impairment of investments                                                      92,878                      –                      –

Profit on disposal of investments                                           (11,279)                     –                      –

Foreign exchange differences                                                         –              13,114            (16,147)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

5.       Auditor’s remuneration

                                                                                                                 Year ended
                                                                                       28 February    28 February    28 February 
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

Audit services                                                                           7,860               5,940               6,480
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

6.       Net finance income

                                                                                                                 Year ended
                                                                                       28 February    28 February    28 February 
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

Finance income – interest received                                             305                  120                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

7.       Director’s emoluments

                                                                                                                 Year ended
                                                                                       28 February    28 February    28 February 
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

Fees                                                                                        67,500             20,000                      –

Salaries                                                                                   15,000                      –                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Finance income – interest received                                        82,500             20,000                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

The Directors were the key management personnel.

                                                                                                                 Year ended
                                                                                       28 February    28 February    28 February 
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

Average number of employees                                                        1                      –                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
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8.       Income Tax

Reconciliation of  tax income

The tax assessed on the loss on ordinary activities for the year is higher than the standard rate of

corporation tax in the UK of 19%

                                                                                                                 Year ended
                                                                                       28 February    28 February    28 February 
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

Loss before tax                                                                    (238,108)         (156,917)           (37,983)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

Corporation tax at 19%                                                          (45,241)           (29,814)             (7,597)

Effect of:

Losses for which no deferred tax is recognised                     45,241             29,814               7,597
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total tax charge                                                                               –                      –                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

9.       Loss per share

Basic loss per share

                                                                                                                 Year ended
                                                                                       28 February    28 February    28 February 
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017

Basic loss per share from continuing

operations (pence per share)                                                    (0.14)               (0.11)               (0.06)
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––

The loss and weighted average number of shares used in the calculation of basic loss per share

are as follows:

                                                                                                                 Year ended
                                                                                       28 February    28 February    28 February 
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

Loss used in the calculation of basic 

loss per share from continuing operations                          (238,108)         (156,917)           (37,983)
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––

Weighted average number of Ordinary

Shares in issue                                                              169,015,298    138,826,404      67,359,271
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––

Diluted loss per share

                                                                                                                 Year ended
                                                                                       28 February    28 February    28 February 
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017

Diluted loss per share from continuing

operations (pence per share)                                                    (0.12)               (0.09)               (0.05)
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––
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The loss and weighted average number of shares used in the calculation of diluted loss per share

are as follows:

                                                                                                                 Year ended
                                                                                       28 February     28 February     28 February
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

Loss used in the calculation of basic 

loss per share from continuing operations                          (238,108)         (156,917)           (37,983)
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––

Weighted average number of Ordinary

Shares in issue                                                              169,015,298    138,826,404      67,359,271

Share options granted                                                       9,500,000      13,000,000      10,000,000

Warrants issued                                                               27,950,000      29,500,000                      –
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––

Weighted average number of Ordinary 

Shares in issue used in the calculation 

of diluted loss per Ordinary Share                                 206,465,298    171,826,404      77,359,271
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––

10.     Intangible Fixed Assets

                                                                                                                     Licenses                 Total
                                                                                                                                 £                      £

At 01 March 2016, 01 March 2017 and 

01 March 2018                                                                                                         –                      –

On acquisition of subsidiary                                                                          621,151           621,151
                                                                                                             –––––––––––  –––––––––––
At 28 February 2019                                                                                     621,151           621,151
                                                                                                             –––––––––––  –––––––––––

11.     Investments

                                                                               Available for sale     Investments                 Total
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

At 01 March 2016 and 01 March 2017                                            –                      –                      –

Additions                                                                                          –           175,433           175,433
                                                                                    –––––––––––  –––––––––––  –––––––––––

At 28 February 2018                                                                        –           175,433           175,433

Additions                                                                               265,658           147,822           413,480

Transfer                                                                                            –              (1,319)             (1,319)

Disposals                                                                               (64,980)         (153,017)         (217,997)

Impairment                                                                             (92,878)                     –            (92,878)
                                                                                    –––––––––––  –––––––––––  –––––––––––
At 28 February 2019                                                             107,800           168,919           276,719
                                                                                    –––––––––––  –––––––––––  –––––––––––

12.     Trade and other receivables

                                                                                                                           As at
                                                                                       28 February     28 February     28 February
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

Subscription for shares                                                           35,000                      –                      –

Other receivables                                                                         502                  101             21,432

Prepayments and accrued income                                       155,148               2,295               1,749
                                                                                    –––––––––––  –––––––––––  –––––––––––
                                                                                             190,650               2,396             23,181
                                                                                    –––––––––––  –––––––––––  –––––––––––
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13.     Called up share capital

Authorised share capital

As At
28 February 2019 28 February 2018

(Audited) (Audited)
                                                                          No.                       £                    No.                       £

Ordinary Shares of £0.0001 each   5,131,730,000            513,173  5,131,730,000            513,173

Deferred Ordinary Shares of 

£0.0049 each                                        48,332,003            236,827       48,332,003            236,827
                                                       –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– ––––––––––––
                                                        5,180,062,003            750,000  5,180,062,003            750,000
                                                       –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– ––––––––––––

As at
28 February 2017

(Audited)
                                                                                                                             No.                      £

Ordinary Shares of £0.005 each                                                         5,131,730,000           513,173

Deferred Ordinary Shares of £0.0049 each                                             48,332,003           236,827
                                                                                                             –––––––––––  –––––––––––
                                                                                                            5,180,062,003           750,000
                                                                                                            –––––––––––   –––––––––––

Issued and fully paid

As At
28 February 2019 28 February 2018

(Audited) (Audited)
                                                                          No.                       £                    No.                       £

Ordinary Shares of £0.0001 each      202,868,980              20,287     138,826,404              13,883

Deferred Ordinary Shares of 

£0.0049 each                                        48,332,003            236,827       48,332,003            236,827
                                                       –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– ––––––––––––
                                                           251,200,986             257,114     187,158,407            250,710
                                                       –––––––––––– –––––––––––– –––––––––––– ––––––––––––

As at
28 February 2017

(Audited)
                                                                                                                             No.                     £.

Ordinary Shares of £0.005 each                                                              67,359,271               6,736

Deferred Ordinary Shares of £0.0049 each                                             48,332,003           236,827
                                                                                                             –––––––––––  –––––––––––
                                                                                                               115,691,274           243,563
                                                                                                             –––––––––––  –––––––––––

93

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:16



Share movements

                                                                                                                             No.                      £

Ordinary Shares of  £0.005 each
At 01 March 2016                                                                                    48,332,003           241,660

Shares cancelled                                                                                    (48,332,003)         (241,660)
                                                                                                             –––––––––––  –––––––––––
At 28 February 2017                                                                                               –                      –
                                                                                                             –––––––––––  –––––––––––

                                                                                                                             No.                      £

Ordinary Shares of  £0.0001 each
At 01 March 2016                                                                                                    –                      –

Issue of shares                                                                                         67,359,271               6,736
                                                                                                             –––––––––––  –––––––––––
At 28 February 2017                                                                               67,359,271               6,736

Issue of shares                                                                                         71,467,133               7,147
                                                                                                             –––––––––––  –––––––––––
At 28 February 2018                                                                             138,826,404             13,883

Issue of shares                                                                                         64,042,576               6,404
                                                                                                             –––––––––––  –––––––––––
At 28 February 2019                                                                             202,868,980             20,287
                                                                                                             –––––––––––  –––––––––––

                                                                                                                             No.                      £

Deferred Ordinary Shares of  £0.0049 each
At 1 March 2016                                                                                                      –                      –

Issue of shares                                                                                         48,332,003           236,827
                                                                                                             –––––––––––  –––––––––––
At 28 February 2017                                                                               48,332,003           236,827

Issue of shares                                                                                                         –                      –
                                                                                                             –––––––––––  –––––––––––
At 28 February 2018                                                                               48,332,003           236,827

Issue of shares                                                                                                         –                      –
                                                                                                             –––––––––––  –––––––––––
At 28 February 2019                                                                               48,332,003           236,827
                                                                                                             –––––––––––  –––––––––––

At the period-end there were 37,450,000 warrants and options outstanding:

No of  warrants Exercise price (pence) Final exercise date Vested

15,750,000 3 08 June 2020 01 June 2018

2,500,000 3 30 March 2021 23 February 2018

9,700,000 2 15 November 2020 15 November 2018
–––––––––––– –––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––

No of  options Exercise price (pence) Final exercise date Vested

1,500,000 0.75 07 November 2019 07 November 2016

5,000,000 3 23 February 2021 23 February 2018
–––––––––––– –––––––––––––––––– –––––––––––––––– ––––––––––––––––

Each Ordinary Share is entitled to one vote in any circumstances. Each Ordinary Share is entitled

pari passu to dividend payments or any other distribution and to participate in a distribution arising

from a winding up of the Company.

Each Deferred Share has no voting rights and is not entitled to receive a dividend or other

distribution. Deferred Shares are only entitled to receive the amount paid up after the holders of

Ordinary Shares have received the sum of £1 million for each Ordinary Share, and the Deferred

Shares have no other rights to participate in the assets of the Company.
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14.     Reserves

The following describes the nature and purpose of certain reserves within owners equity:

Share premium account - This reserve records the amount above the nominal value received for

shares sold, less transaction costs.

Retained earnings - This reserve records retained earnings and accumulated losses.

Foreign currency reserve – Gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of the Group into

pounds sterling.

15.     Trade and other payables

                                                                                                                           As at
                                                                                       28 February     28 February     28 February
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

Trade creditors                                                                      162,355               6,945               1,239

Social security and other taxes                                                 3,944                      –                      –

Accruals and deferred income                                                12,174               7,069               7,069
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––
                                                                                             178,473             14,014               8,308
                                                                                      ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––

16.     Capital commitments

As at 28 February 2019, the group had no capital commitments (2018 £nil).

17.     Contingent Liabilities

As at 28 February 2019, the group had no contingent liabilities (2018 £nil).

18.     Financial Instruments – risk management

The Group’s financial instruments comprise investments, cash at bank and various items such as

available for sale assets, other debtors, loans and creditors. The Group has not entered into

derivative transactions nor does it trade financial instruments as a matter of policy.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk arises primarily from cash at bank, other debtors and the risk the

counterparty fails to discharge its obligations. At 28 February 2019 £35,000 (2018 - £nil) was

unpaid for shares in the Company but not impaired.

The company’s credit risk primarily arises from intercompany debtors, which are considered to

form part of the company’s investment in the subsidiaries (see note 8) and cash at bank and other

debtors, as per the Group. Should the subsidiaries’ exploration activities not be successful, it is

possible that these debtors may become irrecoverable.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the management of cash funds and working capital. The risk is that the

Group will fail to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group operates within the

constraints of available funds and cash flow projections are produced and regularly reviewed by

management.

Interest rate risk profile of  financial assets

The only financial assets (other than short term debtors) are cash at bank and in hand, which

comprises money at call. The interest earned in the year was negligible. The directors believe the

fair value of the financial instruments is not materially different to the book value.
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Foreign currency risk

The Group has an Australian and United States subsidiaries, which can affect the Group’s sterling

denominated reported results as a consequence of movements in the sterling/Australian dollar/US

dollar exchange rates. The Group also incurs costs denominated in foreign currencies which gives

rise to short term exchange risk. The Group does not currently hedge against these exposures as

they are deemed immaterial and there is no material exposure as at the year end (2018 - £nil). 

Market risk

The Group is also exposed to market risk arising from listed investments which are stated at their

fair value.

19.     Capital management

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a

going concern and develop its mining and exploration activities to provide returns for shareholders.

The Group’s funding comprises equity and debt. The directors consider the Company’s capital and

reserves to be capital. When considering the future capital requirements of the Group and the

potential to fund specific project development via debt, the directors consider the risk

characteristics of all the underlying assets in assessing the optimal capital structure.

20.     Related Party Transactions

There is no individual with ultimate overall control of the Company.

C.P. Latilla-Campbell is a director and shareholder of the Company and also a director and sole

shareholder of London Finance & Investment Corporation Limited (LFIC). Accountancy charges

incurred by the Company amounting to £3,000 (2018: £3,750) represent proportional recharges in

respect of the time spent on Company business by the LFIC company accountant. At the year end

there was £nil (2018: £250) outstanding to LFIC.

R Gerritsen is a director and shareholder of the Company. During the year he provided consultancy

services totalling £67,500 (2018: £20,000) in respect of his fees as a director of the Company. 

R Gerritsen is a director of AIM listed Company Cobra Resources plc. On 15 November 2018 the

Company entered into an Advisory Service Agreement with Cobra Resources plc whereby

MetalNRG plc (the “Adviser”) agreed to provide advisory services to Cobra Resources plc during

its admission to the main market on the London Stock Exchange. MetalNRG plc was entitled to a

fee in connection with Admission to be satisfied by the issued of 4,166,666 new ordinary shares in

Cobra Resources plc, amounting to £62,500. 

21.     Ultimate controlling party

The Directors consider there to be no ultimate controlling party as no Shareholder owns more than

50 per cent. of the share capital of the Company.

22.     Nature of financial information

The Historical Financial Information presented above does not constitute statutory financial

statements for the period under review.
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                                                  PART XIII                                                   

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

FOR THE ENLARGED GROUP

Section A: Accountant’s Report on the Pro Forma Financial Information of the Enlarged

Group

The Directors                                                                                          

MetalNRG plc

1 Ely Place

London EC1N 6RY

United Kingdom

18 July 2019

Dear Sirs

MetalNRG Plc (the “Company”)

Introduction

We report on the unaudited pro forma financial information (the “Pro Forma Financial

Information”) set out in Section B of this Part XIII – Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information
for the Enlarged Group of the Company’s prospectus dated 18 July 2019 (the “Prospectus”).

The Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared on the basis described, for illustrative

purposes only, to provide financial information about how the acquisition by the Company of Gold

Ridge Holdings Limited (the “Gold Ridge Project”) might affect the income, expenses and net

assets presented on the basis of the accounting policies adopted by the Company in preparing the

audited financial information for the year ended 28 February 2018. This report is required by

Annex I, item 20.2 of Commission Regulation (EC) N 809/2004 Rules and is given for the purpose

of complying with that requirement and for no other purpose.

The Company and the Gold Ridge Project are, where the context requires, together referred to as

the “Enlarged Group”).

The Pro Forma Financial Information comprises the unaudited pro forma income statement for the

year ended 28 February 2019 prepared based on the consolidated income statement of the

Enlarged Group for the year ended 28 February 2019.

The Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared to illustrate the impact of the Gold Ridge

Project on the consolidated income statement and financial position of the Enlarged Group as if

the Acquisitions had been completed on 1 March 2018.

Responsibilities

It is the responsibility of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) to prepare the Pro Forma

Financial Information in accordance with Annex I, item 20.2 and Annex II, items 1 to 6 of

Commission Regulation (EC) N 809/2004.

It is our responsibility to form an opinion, in accordance with Annex I, item 20.2 of Commission

Regulation (EC) N 809/2004, as to the proper compilation of the Pro Forma Financial Information

and to report that opinion to you in accordance with Annex II, item 7 of Commission Regulation

(EC) N 809/2004.

Annex I, 20.2,

20.4.3

Annex III, 10.2

Annex II, 2, 5, 6

Annex II, 1

Annex I, 1.2
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Save for any responsibility arising under Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f) to any person as to the

extract there provided and, to the fullest extent permitted by law we do not assume any

responsibility and will not accept any liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any such

other person as a result of, arising out of, or in accordance with this report or our statements,

required by and given solely for the purposes of complying with Annex 1 item 23.1 of the

Prospectus Directive legislation, consenting to its inclusion in the Prospectus.

In providing this opinion we are not updating or refreshing any reports or opinions previously made

by us on any financial information used in the compilation of the Pro Forma Financial Information,

nor do we accept responsibility for such reports or opinions beyond that owed to those to whom

those reports or opinions were addressed by us at the dates of their issue.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our work in accordance with Standards of Investment Reporting issued by the

Auditing Practices Board in the United Kingdom. The work that we performed for the purpose of

making this report, which involved no independent examination of any of the underlying financial

information, consisted primarily of comparing the unadjusted financial information with the source

documents, considering the evidence supporting the adjustments and discussing the Pro Forma

Financial Information with the Directors.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we

considered necessary in order to provide us with reasonable assurance that the Pro Forma

Financial Information has been properly compiled on the basis stated and that such basis is

consistent with the accounting policies of the Company.

Our work has not been carried out in accordance with auditing or other standards and practices

generally accepted in jurisdictions outside the United Kingdom, including the United States of

America, and accordingly should not be relied upon as if it had been carried out in accordance with

those standards and practices.

Opinion

In our opinion:

(a)     the Pro Forma Financial Information has been properly complied on the basis stated; and   

(b)     such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the Company that will be used in the

preparation of the next financial statements.

Declaration

For the purpose of Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R, we are responsible for this report as part of the

Prospectus and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the information

contained in this report is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains

no omission likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Prospectus in compliance

with Annex I, item 1.2 of Commission Regulation (EC) N 809/2004.

Yours faithfully

Edwards Veeder (UK) Limited

Reporting Accountants

Annex II, 4
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Section B: Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The Pro Forma Financial Information set out below in this Section B of this Part XIII – Unaudited
Pro Forma Financial Information For The Enlarged Group of this Prospectus has been prepared in

a manner consistent with the accounting policies to be adopted by the Company in preparing the

Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the period ended 28 February 2019 on

the basis set out in the notes to the Pro Forma Financial Information in accordance with Annex II

to Commission Regulation (EC) No.809/2004. The adjustments in the Pro Forma Financial

Information are expected to have a continuing impact on the Enlarged Group, unless stated

otherwise.

The Pro Forma Financial Information comprises the unaudited pro forma income statement for the

year ended 28 February 2019 prepared based on the consolidated income statement of the

Enlarged Group for the year ended 28 February 2019.

The Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared to illustrate the impact of the Gold Ridge

Project on the consolidated income statement of the Enlarged Group as if the Gold Ridge Project

had been completed on 1 March 2018.

The Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared on the basis that the Gold Ridge Project

will be accounted for under the acquisition method pursuant to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”.

Under the acquisition method, assets and liabilities are recorded at their fair values on the date of

purchase and any excess of the fair value of the total purchase price over the fair values of the

tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. As of the

date of this Prospectus, the valuation studies necessary to finalise the fair values of the purchase

price, the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed have not been finalised.

The Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared for illustrative purposes only and, by its

nature, addresses a hypothetical situation and, therefore, does not represent the Company’s or the

Enlarged Group’s actual financial position or results.

The Pro Forma Financial Information does not constitute financial statements within the meaning

of Section 434 of the Companies Act 2006. Shareholders should read the whole of the Prospectus

and not rely solely on the summarised financial information in this Part XIII – Unaudited Pro Forma
Financial Information for the Enlarged Group. Edwards Veeder (UK) Limited’s report on the Pro

Forma Financial Information is set out in Section A of this Part XIII – Unaudited Pro Forma
Financial Information for the Enlarged Group.

The Pro Forma Financial Information does not purport to represent what the Enlarged Group’s

financial position and results of operations actually would have been if the Gold Ridge Project had

been completed on the date indicated nor does it purport to represent the results of operations for

any future period or the financial condition at any future date.

Annex II, 4
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Unaudited Pro Forma Income Statement of the Enlarged Group year ended 28 February 2019

The consolidated pro forma statement of income of the Group is set out below:

                                                                                                                                          Pro Forma
                                                                  MetalNRG         Goldridge                            Consolidated
                                                                   Group as          Holdings       Pro Forma             Income
                                                                     reported             Limited     Adjustments        Statement
                                                                                £                      £                      £                      £
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Revenue                                                                  –                      –                      –                      –

Administrative expenses                             (249,692)           (16,274)                                 (265,966)

Other operating income                                  11,279             55,642                      –             66,921
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT                    (238,413)            39,368                      –          (199,045)
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Finance Income                                                   305                      –                      –                  305
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE 

INCOME TAX                                              (238,108)            39,368                      –          (198,740)

Income Tax                                                              –                      –                      –                      –
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR              (238,108)            39,368                      –          (198,740)
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

Consolidated statement of Comprehensive Income

The pro forma consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the Group is set out below:

                                                                                                                                          Pro Forma
                                                                  MetalNRG         Goldridge                            Consolidated
                                                                   Group as          Holdings       Pro Forma             Income
                                                                     reported             Limited     Adjustments        Statement
                                                                                £                      £                      £                      £
(Loss)/Profit after tax                                   (238,108)            39,368                      –          (198,740))

Items that may subsequently be 

reclassified to profit or loss:

– Foreign exchange movements                      1,127                      –                      –               1,127
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY

HOLDERS OF THE PARENT                     (236,981)            39,368                      –          (197,613)
                                                                  ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

Notes to the Pro Forma Income Statement for the year ended 28 February 2019

The financial information for the Company for the year ended 28 February 2019 has been

extracted from the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2019

incorporated by reference in Part XII – Historical Information of  the Company, of this document.

The financial information for Goldridge Holdings not already included in the Company’s

consolidated income statement has been extracted from the financial records of Goldridge

Holdings for the period 01 January 2018 to 05 November 2018, being the actual date of

acquisition. The reporting accountant is of the view that the results for the period 01 March 2018

to 05 November 2018 are equal to those for the period of account.

As there was no trading between the Company and Goldridge Holdings for the period under

review, no pro forma adjustments are required.
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PART XIV

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW (INCLUDING LIQUIDITY AND

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND CAPITALISATION AND

INDEBTEDNESS)

SECTION A: THE COMPANY                                                                                                            

The following operating and financial review contains financial information that has been extracted
or derived without material adjustment from the Company’s Historical Financial Information for the
years ended 28 February 2019, 28 February 2018 and 28 February 2017, which are the only
relevant periods prepared in accordance with IFRS.

This discussion contains forward-looking statements, which, although based on assumptions that
the Directors consider reasonable, are subject to risks and uncertainties which could cause actual
events or conditions to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking
statements. Investors should read the notice in relation to forward-looking statements contained on
page 43.

The key risks and uncertainties, include, but are not limited to those described in Part II – Risk
Factors of  this document on pages 23 to 38.

Overview

The Company was incorporated in England and Wales on 20 February 2006 as a public company

under the name ZimNRG plc and its shares were admitted to trading on the NEX Growth Market

(then known as PLUS Markets) on 21 August 2006. The Company’s original objective was to

create value by investing in natural resource opportunities in Southern Africa, specifically

Zimbabwe.

At a general meeting on 11 March 2016, the Shareholders, by way of special resolution, resolved

to change the Company’s name to MetalNRG plc and simultaneously approved the New Investing

Policy.

The Company’s New Investing Policy is to invest in and/or acquire companies or projects within

the natural resources sector, with potential for growth or value creation. For those projects that

offer substantial growth opportunity, the Company will seek a controlling interest and maintain a

medium to long term investment view. For those projects that offer value creation opportunities, the

Company will seek to list such projects on an appropriate stock exchange and crystallize value in

the short term. The New Investing Policy also allows the Company to consider opportunities in

other related sectors if the Board considers that there is an opportunity to generate an attractive

return for Shareholders. Such related sectors may include natural resource technologies and

fintech opportunities offering leverage to resource identification, processing, recording, storage

and trading businesses.

The opportunities will be managed in one of the two divisions that the Company has created under

the New Investing Policy: the Direct Investment Division and the Indirect Investment Division.

The Company’s Direct Investment Division will have majority investments, board control and add

value to the projects that it invests in. The Company intends to take an active role in these projects

and will drive them along the value chain creating long term Shareholder value.

The Company’s Indirect Investment Division will invest in privately owned projects that can be

structured, packaged and then listed on a major stock exchange. The Company’s role will be to

coordinate and facilitate any pre-IPO funding and the IPO process itself, making sure that the

appropriate advisors are in place to deliver the IPO in a cost and time efficient manner.
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The Company will invest directly in some of these opportunities, will earn fees, payable in shares,

upon delivering pre-determined milestones. The Company may take minority stakes in projects

and will be able trade such shares as it sees fit. The Company recently advised Cobra on its IPO

and listing on the London Stock Exchange as part of its Indirect Investment Division. In lieu of fees,

the Company received 4,166,666 ordinary shares in Cobra (representing approximately

6.2 per cent. of the entire issued share capital of Cobra) at the placing price of 1.5 pence per

ordinary share, worth approximately £62,500 at market value.

The Board will conduct initial due diligence appraisals of potential businesses or projects and,

where they believe further investigation is warranted, intend to appoint appropriately qualified

persons to assist with such reviews.

The Company does not have a separate investment manager. Additionally, the Company does not

currently intend to fund any investments made under the New Investing Policy with debt or other

borrowings, but may do so in the future if the Board considers it appropriate. Investments in early

stage assets are expected to be mainly in the form of equity, with debt potentially being raised later

to fund the development of such assets. Investments in later stage assets are more likely to include

an element of debt to equity gearing. The Board may also offer new Ordinary Shares by way of

consideration as well as cash, in order to preserve the Company’s cash for working capital and as

a reserve against unforeseen contingencies including, for example, delays in collecting accounts

receivable, unexpected changes in the economic environment and operational problems. For a

detailed summary of the risks relating to the Company’s business, please see Part II – Risk Factors
of this document.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

COMPARED TO THE FINANCIAL YEARS ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018 AND 28 FEBRUARY

2017

The table below sets forth the Company’s results of operations for the financial year ended

28 February 2019 compared to the financial years ended 28 February 2018 and 28 February 2017:

                                                                                                                 Year ended
                                                                                       28 February     28 February     28 February
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017
                                                                                             (Audited)          (Audited)          (Audited)
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Revenue                                                                                           –                      –                      –

Administrative expenses                                                      (249,692)         (157,037)           (37,983)

Other operating income                                                          11,279                      –                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
OPERATING LOSS                                                             (238,413)         (157,037)           (37,983
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Finance income                                                                           305                  120                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX                                            (238,108)         (156,917)           (37,983)

Income tax                                                                                       –                      –                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
LOSS FOR THE PERIOD                                                   (238,108)         (156,917)           (37,983)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

The Company did not record any revenue for either the financial years ended 28 February 2019,

28 February 2018 and 28 February 2017. The Company is yet to generate any income from its

New Investing Policy.

Administrative Expenses

The Company incurred administrative expenses of £249,692 for the financial year ended

28 February 2019, compared to £157,037 for the financial year ended 28 February 2018, and

£37,983 for the financial year ended 28 February 2017. Such increase in the financial year ended
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28 February 2019 was primarily due to costs associated with the Goldridge Acquisition and the

Uranium Project.

Finance Income

The Company received finance income of £305 for the financial year ended 28 February 2019,

compared to the £120 received for the financial year ended 28 February 2018 as a result of interest

paid on cash at bank. The Company did not receive any finance income for the financial year

ended 28 February 2017.

Income Tax

The Company’s income tax loss increased by 51.7 per cent. to £45,241 for the financial year ended

28 February 2019 compared to £29,814 for the financial year ended 28 February 2018 and £7,597

for the financial year ended 28 February 2017, reflecting an increase in operating loss before tax. 

The table below sets forth a breakdown of corporate income tax for the financial years ended

28 February 2019 and 28 February 2018:

Year ended
                                                                                       28 February     28 February     28 February
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

Loss before tax                                                                    (238,108)         (156,917)           (37,983)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Corporation tax at 19% (2019, 2018)/20% (2017)                (45,241)           (29,814)             (7,597)

Effect of:

Losses for which no deferred tax is recognised                     45,241             29,814               7,597
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Total tax charge                                                                               –                      –                      –
                                                                                           ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

The total income tax charge applicable to the Company remained at nil for the financial years

ended 28 February 2019, 28 February 2018 and 28 February 2017, because the tax loss was

offset against the loss for the period.

Loss for the Period

The Company recorded a loss for the financial year ended 28 February 2019 of £238,108,

compared to a loss of £156,917 for the financial year ended 28 February 2018 and £37,983 for the

financial year ended 28 February 2017. Such loss was caused due to the increase in

administrative expenses as described above.
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Cash Flow Analysis

The following table presents the Company’s cash flow summary for the financial years ended

28 February 2019, 28 February 2018 and 28 February 2017:

Year ended
                                                                                       28 February     28 February     28 February
                                                                                                   2019                2018                2017
                                                                                            (Audited)          (Audited)          (Audited)
                                                                                                         £                      £                      £

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss for the period before taxation                                      (238,108)         (156,917)           (37,983)

Adjustment for:
Finance income                                                                          (305)                (120)                     –

Profit on disposal of investments                                           (11,279)                     –                      –

Shares received in lieu of fees                                              (62,500)                     –                      –

Impairment of investments                                                      92,878                      –                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
                                                                                            (219,314)         (157,037)           (37,983)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

Changes in:
Trade and other debtors                                                      (153,254)            20,785              (4,431)

Trade and other creditors                                                     129,078               5,706              (2,191)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Cash generated from operations                                     (243,490)         (130,546)           (44,605)
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

Cash flows from Investing activities

Purchase of fixed asset investments                                   (147,822)         (175,433)                     –

Purchase of intangible assets                                             (621,251)                     –                      –

Proceeds from sale of assets                                                 26,118                      –                      –

Creditors on acquisition                                                          37,927                      –                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Cash used in investing activities                                     (705,028)         (175,433)                     –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

Cash flows from financing activities

Issue of shares                                                                     762,708           387,006             50,004

Interest received                                                                          305                  120                      –
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Cash generated by Financing activities                           763,013           387,126             50,004
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and 

cash equivalents                                                                (185,505)            81,147               5,399

Cash and cash equivalents at 

beginning of year                                                                209,673           128,526           123,127
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year                         24,168           209,673           128,526
                                                                                          ––––––––        ––––––––        ––––––––

Net cash flows from operating activities                                                                                        

For the financial year ended 28 February 2019, the Company’s net cash generated from operating

activities was a loss of £243,490 compared to a loss of £130,546 for the financial year ended

28 February 2018 and a loss of £44,605 for the financial year ended 28 February 2017. Such loss

was due to administrative expenses of £249,692 for the financial year ended 28 February 2019,

compared to £157,037 for the financial year ended 28 February 2018 and £37,983 for the financial

year ended 28 February 2017. 

Net cash flows from investing activities

For the financial year ended 28 February 2019, the Company’s net cash used in investing activities

was £705,028 compared to £175,433 for the financial year ended 28 February 2018 and £nil for

the financial year ended 28 February 2017. The increased cash used in investing activities is

mainly attributable to the purchase of fixed asset investments of £168,919 in the financial year
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ended 28 February 2019 compared to the £175,433 for the financial year ended 28 February 2018

and £nil for the financial year ended 28 February 2017.

Net cash flows from financing activities

For the financial year ended 28 February 2019, the Company’s net cash generated from financing

activities was £763,013 compared to £387,126 for the financial year ended 28 February 2018 and

£50,004 for the financial year ended 28 February 2017. All cash generated through financing

activities is attributable to issuances of the Company’s Ordinary Shares.

Liquidity and Capital resources                                                                                                      

The Company currently has a cash balance of £289,033. The cash balance is the sum of (i) the

cash balance of £6,033 as at 30 June 2019 plus the Gross Placing Proceeds of £283,000. It will

use such cash to fund the expenses of the Placing, including legal and professional fees, ongoing

costs and expenses (including the FCA listing application, listing and vetting fee and competent

person report fee of £32,000, the London Stock Exchange listing fee of £10,000, the Registrar’s

basic fees of £2,500 per year and the London Stock Exchange’s fee of £7,500 per year), the Joint

Bookrunners’ fees of £30,000 and an estimated annual audit fee of £15,000, all exclusive of VAT,

and the costs and expenses to be incurred in connection with developing the Gold Ridge Project

and the Palomino Cobalt Project. The costs and expenses of any further acquisition will likely

comprise legal, financial and tax due diligence in relation to any target company; however, the

Company would only reach this stage after the Directors have carried out an initial commercial

review of the target and the Company has entered into a non-disclosure agreement and/or heads

of terms. In addition to any share consideration used by the Company in relation to any acquisition,

the Company may raise additional capital in connection with the consummation of that acquisition

(dependent upon the size of such acquisition and the ability of the Company to satisfy the

consideration in shares). Such capital may be raised through share issues (such as rights issues,

open offers or private placings) or borrowings. The Company may also make an acquisition or fund

part of any acquisition through share-for-share exchanges. 

Although the Company envisages that any capital raised will be from new equity, the Company

may also choose to finance all or a portion of an acquisition with debt financing. Any debt financing

used by the Company is expected to take the form of bank financing, although no financing

arrangements will be in place at Admission. The Company envisages that debt financing may be

necessary if, for example, a target company has been identified but would require a certain amount

of cash consideration in addition to, or instead of, share consideration.

Any associated debt financing (if any) for an acquisition will be assessed with reference to the

projected cash flow of the target company or business and may be incurred at the Company level

or by any subsidiary of the Company. Any costs associated with the debt financing will be paid with

the proceeds of such financing.

If debt financing is utilised, there will be additional servicing costs. Furthermore, while the terms of

any such financing cannot be predicted, such terms may subject the Company to financial and

operating covenants or other restrictions, including restrictions that might limit the Company’s

ability to make distributions to Shareholders.

Substantially all of the cash raised (including cash from any subsequent share offers) is expected

to be used for working capital. Following an acquisition, the Company’s future liquidity will depend

in the medium to longer term primarily on: (i) the profitability of the company or business it

acquires; (ii) the Company’s management of available cash; (iii) cash distributions on sale of

existing assets; (iv) the use of borrowings, if any, to fund short-term liquidity needs; and

(v) dividends or distributions from subsidiary companies.
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Capitalisation and indebtedness                                                                                                    

The following table shows the Group’s indebtedness as at 1 July 2019 (distinguishing between

guaranteed and unguaranteed, secured and unsecured indebtedness) and the Group’s

capitalisation as at 28 February 2019.

                                                                                                                                                   As at 
                                                                                                                                        28 February
                                                                                                                                                   2019
                                                                                                                                                         £

Total current debt                                                                                                                   178,473

Guaranteed                                                                                                                                       –

Secured                                                                                                                                            –

Unguaranteed/unsecured                                                                                                      178,473

Total non-current debt (excluding current portion of non-current debt)

Guaranteed                                                                                                                                       –

Secured                                                                                                                                            –

Unguaranteed/unsecured                                                                                                                 –

Shareholders’ equity                                                                                                                         –

Share capital                                                                                                                          257,114

Legal reserve                                                                                                                                    –

Other reserves                                                                                                                           1,127
                                                                                                                                         –––––––––
Total capitalisation                                                                                                                 436,714
                                                                                                                                         –––––––––

Since 28 February 2019, there has been no material change in the capitalisation of the Company. 

The following table shows the Group’s net indebtedness as at 1 July 2019.

                                                                                                                                                   As at
                                                                                                                                         1 July 2019
                                                                                                                                                         £

Cash                                                                                                                                          7,693

Liquidity                                                                                                                                            –

Current creditors                                                                                                                      75,301

Net current financial indebtedness                                                                                                   –

Non-current financial indebtedness                                                                                                  –
                                                                                                                                         –––––––––
Net financial indebtedness                                                                                                     67,608
                                                                                                                                         –––––––––
As at 1 July 2019, the Group has no guaranteed, secured, unguaranteed or unsecured debt and

no indirect or contingent indebtedness.

Hedging arrangements and risk management

The Company may use forward contracts, options, swaps, caps, collars and floors or other

strategies or forms of derivative instruments to limit its exposure to changes in the relative values

of investments that may result from market developments, including changes in prevailing interest

rates and currency exchange rates, as previously described. It is expected that the extent of risk

management activities by the Company will vary based on the level of exposure and consideration

of risk across the business.

The success of any hedging or other derivative transaction generally will depend on the

Company’s ability to correctly predict market changes. As a result, while the Company may enter

into such a transaction to reduce exposure to market risks, unanticipated market changes may

result in poorer overall investment performance than if the transaction had not been executed. In

addition, the degree of correlation between price movements of the instruments used in connection

with hedging activities and price movements in a position being hedged may vary. Moreover, for a
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variety of reasons, the Company may not seek, or be successful in establishing, an exact

correlation between the instruments used in a hedging or other derivative transactions and the

position being hedged and could create new risks of loss. In addition, it may not be possible to fully

or perfectly limit the Company’s exposure against all changes in the values of its assets, because

the values of its assets are likely to fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, some of which will

be beyond the Company’s control.

Critical Accounting Policies

Basis of  preparation

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified by

the revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities and investment properties measured at fair

value through profit or loss.

The Historical Financial Information is prepared in pounds sterling, which is the functional currency

of the Company.

Transition to IFRS

The entity transitioned from previous FRS102 to IFRS as at 1 March 2017. Details of how IFRS

has affected the reported financial position and financial performance is given in note 19.

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet applied

(i)       New and amended standards mandatory for the first time for the financial period beginning
01 March 2018

There were no IFRS or IFRC interpretations that were effective for the first time for the financial

period beginning 1 March 2018 that had a material impact on the Company.

(ii)      New standards, amendments and Interpretations in issue but not yet effect of  not yet
endorses and not early adopted

The standards and interpretations that are relevant to the Company, issued, but not yet effective,

up to the most recent date of the Historical Financial Information are listed below. The Company

intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

Standard                                                           Impact on initial application            Effective date

IFRS 16                                                            Leases                                            1 January 2019

Annual Improvements                                     2015 – 2017 Cycle                         1 January 2019

IFRIC 23                                                          Uncertainty over Income Tax          1 January 2019

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the

Company and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being

made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking

into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty.

Basis of  consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and

companies controlled by the Company, the subsidiary companies, drawn up to 28 February each

year.

Control is recognised where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating

policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The results of subsidiaries

acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from

the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, where appropriate. 
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Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the

accounting policies used into line with those used by the Group. All intra-group transactions,

balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. Non-controlling interests in the

net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. 

Non-controlling interests consist of the amounts of those interests at the date of the original

business combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the

combination.

Short term debtors and creditors

Debtors and creditors with no stated interest rate and receivable or payable within one year are

recorded at transaction price. Any losses arising from impairment are recognised in the income

statement in other operating expenses.

Judgements and key sources of  estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the Historical Financial Information requires the Directors to make judgements,

estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported. These estimates and judgements are

continually reviewed and are based on experience and other factors, including expectations of

future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Accounting estimates and assumptions are made concerning the future and, by their nature, may

not accurately reflect the related actual outcome. There are no key assumptions and other sources

of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Foreign currencies

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each

Group entity are expressed in pounds sterling, which is the presentation currency for the

consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than

the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary items denominated in

foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the reporting date. Exchange

differences arising are included in the profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of preparing consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the

Group’s foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date.

Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. Gains and

losses from exchange differences so arising are shown through the Consolidated Statement of

Changes in Equity.

Investments

Fixed asset investments are initially recorded at cost, and subsequently stated at cost less any

accumulated impairment losses.

Listed investments are measured at fair value with changes in fair value being recognised in profit

or loss.

Impairment of  fixed assets

A review for indicators of impairment is carried out at each reporting date, with the recoverable

amount being estimated where such indicators exist. Where the carrying value exceeds the

recoverable amount, the asset is impaired accordingly. Prior impairments are also reviewed for

possible reversal at each reporting date.
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For the purposes of impairment testing, when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount

of an individual asset, an estimate is made of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit

to which the asset belongs. The cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets

that includes the asset and generates cash inflows that largely independent of the cash inflows

from other assets or groups of assets.

For impairment testing of goodwill, the goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the

acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from

the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Company

are assigned to those units.

Intangible assets

Trademarks, licences and customer contracts, separately acquired trademarks and licences are

shown at historical cost. Trademarks, licenses and customer contracts acquired in a business

combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a finite useful life and

are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Impairment of  intangible assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and

are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances

indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An

impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its

recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of

disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the

lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent

of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial

assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the

impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Financial instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the

contractual arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a

residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all of its financial liabilities.

Where the contractual obligations of financial instruments (including share capital) are equivalent

to a similar debt instrument, those financial instruments are classed as financial liabilities. Financial

liabilities are presented as such in the balance sheet. Finance costs and gains or losses relating

to financial liabilities are included in the profit and loss account. Finance costs are calculated so

as to produce a constant rate of return on the outstanding liability.

Where the contractual terms of share capital do not have any terms meeting the definition of a

financial liability then this is classed as an equity instrument. Dividends and distributions relating

to equity instruments are debited direct to equity.

Financial liabilities

The Directors determine the classification of the Company’s financial liabilities at initial recognition.

The financial liabilities held comprise other payables and accrued liabilities and these are classified

as loans and receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers any cash on short-term deposits and other short term investments to be

cash equivalents.
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Share capital

The Company’s ordinary shares of nominal value 0.01 pence each (“Ordinary Shares”) are

recorded at such nominal value and proceeds received in excess of the nominal value of Ordinary

Shares issued, if any, are accounted for as share premium. Both share capital and share premium

are classified as equity. Costs incurred directly to the issue of Ordinary Shares are accounted for

as a deduction from share premium, otherwise they are charged to the income statement.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax charge represents tax payable less a credit for deferred tax. The tax payable is based on

profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from the loss for the year as reported in the Consolidated

Statement of Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of income or expense that are

taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items of income or expense that are

never taxable or deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that

have been enacted or substantively enacted by the Statement of Financial Position date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities in the Historical Financial Information and the corresponding tax

bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred

tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available

against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to set off

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the

same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on

a net basis.

Going concern

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared on the assumption that the Company will

continue as a going concern. Under the going concern assumption, an entity is ordinarily viewed

as continuing in business for the foreseeable future with neither the intention nor the necessity of

liquidation, ceasing trading or seeking protection from creditors pursuant to laws or regulations. In

assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, the Directors take into account

all available information for the foreseeable future, in particular for the twelve months from the date

of approval of the Historical Financial Information.

Following the review of ongoing performance and cash flows, the Directors have a reasonable

expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue operational existence for the

foreseeable future.
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                                                  PART XV                                                   

TAXATION

Certain UK tax considerations

General

The following statements are intended only as a general guide to certain UK tax considerations

and do not purport to be a complete analysis of all potential UK tax consequences of acquiring,

holding or disposing of the Ordinary Shares. They are based on current UK tax legislation and what

is understood to be the current published practice of HMRC (which may not be binding on HMRC)

as at the date of this document, both of which may change at any time, possibly with retrospective

effect. They are written on the basis that the Company is and remains solely resident in the UK for

tax purposes. They apply only to Shareholders who are resident and, in the case of individuals,

domiciled, for tax purposes in (and only in) the UK (except insofar as express reference is made

to the treatment of non-UK residents) who hold their Ordinary Shares as an investment (other than

in an individual savings account or a Self-Invested Personal Pension) and who are the absolute

legal and beneficial owners of both the Ordinary Shares and any dividends paid in respect of them.

The tax position of certain categories of Shareholders who are subject to special rules (such as

trustees, persons acquiring their Ordinary Shares in connection with employment, dealers in

securities, investment managers, insurance companies, charities or tax-exempt organisations and

collective investment schemes) is not considered.

These paragraphs summarise the current position and are intended as a general guide only. They

do not describe all of the circumstances in which holders of Ordinary Shares may benefit from an

exemption or relief from UK taxation. Prospective investors who are in any doubt as to their tax

position or who may be subject to tax in a jurisdiction other than the UK are strongly recommended

to consult their own professional advisers.

Taxation of dividends

The Company is not required to withhold UK tax from dividend payments it makes. Liability to

income tax on dividends will depend upon the individual circumstances of a Shareholder.

UK resident individual Shareholders

An individual Shareholder who is resident for tax purposes in the UK and who receives a cash

dividend from the Company will generally not pay income tax on the first £2,000 of dividend income

in the 2019/2020 tax year (the “nil rate band”). An individual UK resident Shareholder who is

subject to income tax at a rate or rates not exceeding the basic rate will (subject to the availability

of any income tax personal allowance) be liable to income tax on the dividend in excess of the nil

rate band at the rate of 7.5 per cent. An individual UK resident Shareholder who is subject to

income tax at the higher rate or the additional rate will (subject to the availability of any income tax

personal allowance) be liable to tax on the dividend in excess of the nil rate band at the rate of

32.5 per cent. or 38.1 per cent., respectively, to the extent that such sum, when treated as the top

slice of that Shareholder’s income, falls above the threshold for higher rate or additional rate

income tax.

UK resident corporate Shareholders

It is likely that most dividends paid in respect of the Ordinary Shares to UK resident corporate

Shareholders would fall within one or more of the classes of dividend qualifying for exemption from

corporation tax. However, it should be noted that the exemptions are not comprehensive and are

also subject to anti-avoidance rules. If the conditions for exemption are not, or cease to be,

satisfied, or such a Shareholder elects for an otherwise exempt dividend to be taxable, the

Annex III, 4.11
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Shareholder will be subject to UK corporation tax on dividends received from the Company at the

rate of 19 per cent.

Non-UK resident Shareholders

A Shareholder resident outside the UK may be subject to non-UK taxation on dividend income

under local law. A Shareholder who is not resident for tax purposes in the UK should not be

chargeable to UK income tax on dividends received from the Company unless he or she carries

on (whether solely or in partnership) any trade, profession, or vocation in the UK through a branch

or agency to which the Ordinary Shares are attributable (subject to certain exceptions for trading

through independent agents, such as some brokers and investment managers). A Shareholder

who is resident outside the UK for tax purposes should consult his own tax adviser concerning his

tax position on dividends received from the Company.

Taxation of  disposals

A disposal or deemed disposal of Ordinary Shares by a Shareholder who is resident in the UK for

tax purposes may, depending upon the Shareholder’s circumstances and subject to any available

exemption or relief (such as the annual exempt amount for individuals and (in respect of assets

acquired prior to 1 January 2018) indexation for corporate shareholders), give rise to a chargeable

gain or an allowable loss for the purposes of UK taxation of capital gains.

For an individual Shareholder within the charge to UK capital gains tax, capital gains tax is charged

on gains on the disposal of Ordinary Shares to the extent that the gain exceeds any applicable

annual exemption. The current rate is 10 per cent. for individuals who are subject to income tax at

the basic rate, save to the extent that any capital gains when aggregated the Shareholder’s other

taxable income and gains in the relevant tax year exceeds the upper limit of the income tax basic

rate band, in which case the excess will be taxed at a rate of 20 per cent. The current rate for all

trustees and personal representatives, and individuals who are subject to income tax at the higher

or additional rates is 20 per cent. For a corporate Shareholder within the charge to UK corporation

tax, corporation tax is charged on chargeable gains at the current rate of 19 per cent.

Non-UK resident Shareholders

Shareholders who are not resident in the UK will not generally be subject to UK taxation of capital

gains on the disposal or deemed disposal of Ordinary Shares unless they are carrying on a trade,

profession or vocation in the UK through a branch or agency (or, in the case of a corporate

Shareholder, a permanent establishment) in connection with which the Ordinary Shares are used,

held or acquired. Non-UK tax resident Shareholders may be subject to non-UK taxation on any

gain under local law.

An individual Shareholder who has ceased to be resident in the UK for tax purposes, or is treated

as resident outside the UK for the purposes of a double tax treaty, and who disposes of all or part

of their Ordinary Shares during that period may be liable to capital gains tax on his return to the

UK if the temporary non-residence rules are met, subject to any available exemptions or reliefs.

Stamp duty and SDRT

The statements in this section apply to any holders of Ordinary Shares irrespective of their

residence, summarise the current position and are intended as a general guide only. Special rules

apply to agreements made by, amongst others, intermediaries, brokers and dealers.

Issue of  Ordinary Shares

No UK stamp duty or Stamp Duty Reserve Tax (“SDRT”) is payable on the issue of the Ordinary

Shares.
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Transfers of  certificated Ordinary Shares

Stamp duty at the rate of 0.5 per cent. (rounded up to the next multiple of £5) of the amount or

value of the consideration given is generally payable on an instrument transferring Ordinary

Shares. An exemption from stamp duty is available on an instrument transferring Ordinary Shares

where the amount or value of the consideration is £1,000 or less, and it is certificated on the

instrument that the transaction effected by the instrument does not form part of a larger transaction

or series of transactions for which the aggregate consideration exceeds £1,000. A charge to SDRT

will also arise on an unconditional agreement to transfer Ordinary Shares (at the rate of 0.5 per

cent. of the amount or value of the consideration payable). However, if within six years of the date

of the agreement becoming unconditional an instrument of transfer is executed pursuant to the

agreement, and stamp duty is paid on that instrument, or the instrument is otherwise exempt, any

SDRT already paid will be refunded (generally, but not necessarily, with interest) provided that a

claim for repayment is made, and any outstanding liability to SDRT will be cancelled. The liability

to pay stamp duty or SDRT is generally satisfied by the purchaser or transferee.

Ordinary Shares transferred through paperless means including CREST

Paperless transfers of Ordinary Shares, such as those occurring within CREST, are generally

liable to SDRT rather than stamp duty, at the rate of 0.5 per cent. of the amount or value of the

consideration. CREST is obliged to collect SDRT on relevant transactions settled within the system

and to pay this to HMRC. The charge is generally borne by the purchaser. Under CREST, no stamp

duty or SDRT will arise on a transfer of Ordinary Shares into the system unless such a transfer is

made for consideration in money or money’s worth, in which case a liability to SDRT (usually at a

rate of 0.5 per cent.) will arise.

Ordinary Shares held through Clearance Systems or Depositary Receipt Arrangements

Special rules apply where Ordinary Shares are issued or transferred to, or to a nominee or agent

for, either a person whose business is or includes issuing depositary receipts within Section 67 or

Section 93 of the Finance Act 1986 or a person providing a clearance service within Section 70 or

Section 96 of the Finance Act 1986, under which SDRT or stamp duty may be charged at a rate

of 1.5 per cent. Following litigation, HMRC confirmed that they will no longer seek to apply the

1.5 per cent. SDRT charge on an issue of shares into a clearance service or depositary receipt

system on the basis that the charge is not compatible with EU law. It was announced in the Autumn

Budget on 22 November 2017 that the government will not seek to reintroduce this charge

following the departure of the UK from the EU. HMRC’s view is that the 1.5 per cent. SDRT or

stamp duty charge will continue to apply to transfers of shares into a clearance service or

depositary receipt arrangement unless they are an integral part of an issue of share capital. Any

liability for stamp duty or SDRT in respect of such a transfer will strictly be accountable by the

clearance service or depositary receipt system operator or their nominee, as the case may be, but

will, in practice, be payable by the participants in the clearance service or depositary receipt

system.

Where a clearance service has made and maintained an election under section 97A of the Finance

Act 1986, the 1.5 per cent. charge will not apply. Rather, stamp duty or SDRT will be charged at

the normal rate of 0.5 per cent. on the transfer of existing shares into and within the clearance

service.

Accordingly, specific professional advice should be sought before incurring a 1.5 per cent. stamp

duty or SDRT charge in any circumstances.

Inheritance tax

The Ordinary Shares will be assets situated in the UK for the purposes of UK inheritance tax. A gift

of such assets by, or the death of, an individual holder of such assets may (subject to certain

exemptions and reliefs) give rise to a liability to UK inheritance tax even if the holder is neither

domiciled in the UK nor deemed to be domiciled there under certain rules relating to long residence
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or previous domicile. For inheritance tax purposes, a transfer of assets at less than full market

value may be treated as a gift and particular rules apply to gifts where the donor reserves or retains

some benefit.

Special rules also apply to close companies and to trustees of settlements who hold Ordinary

Shares, bringing them within the charge to inheritance tax. Shareholders should consult an

appropriate tax adviser if they make a gift or transfer at less than market value or intend to hold

any Ordinary Shares through trust arrangements. They should also seek professional advice in a

situation where there is potential for a double charge to UK inheritance tax and an equivalent tax

in another country or if they are in any doubt about their UK inheritance tax position.

Certain Canadian Federal income tax considerations

General

The following is a general summary, as of the date hereof, of the principal Canadian federal income

tax considerations under the Income Tax Act of 1985 (Canada) and regulations thereunder (the

“Tax Act”), generally applicable to a holder who acquires, as beneficial owner, the Ordinary

Shares, and who, for purposes of the Tax Act and at all relevant times, holds the Ordinary Shares

as capital property and deals at arm’s length with the Company, the Underwriters and any

subsequent purchaser of such securities. This summary only addresses holders who meet all of

the foregoing requirements (“Holder”). The Ordinary Shares will generally be considered to be

capital property to a Holder unless they are held in the course of carrying on a business or were

acquired in one or more transactions considered to be an adventure or concern in the nature of

trade.

This summary is not applicable to a Holder (i) that is a “financial institution”, as defined in the Tax

Act for purposes of the mark-to-market rules in the Tax Act, (ii) that is a “specified financial

institution”, as defined in the Tax Act, (iii) an interest in which is a “tax shelter investment” as

defined in the Tax Act, (iv) that has elected to report its Canadian tax results in a currency other

than the Canadian currency, or (v) that has entered into or will enter into a “derivative forward

agreement”, a “synthetic equity arrangement”, a “synthetic disposition arrangement” (as those

terms are defined in the Tax Act) or a similar arrangement, with respect to the Ordinary Shares.

Any such Holders should consult their own tax advisors.

Additional considerations, not discussed herein, may be applicable to a Holder that is a corporation

resident in Canada and is, or becomes (or does not deal at arm’s length for purposes of the Tax

Act with a corporation resident in Canada that is or becomes), as part of a transaction or series of

transactions or events that includes the acquisition of the Ordinary Shares, controlled by a non-

resident corporation for purposes of the “foreign affiliate dumping” rules in section 212.3 of the Tax

Act. Such Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the consequences of

acquiring the Ordinary Shares.

This summary is based on the provisions of the Tax Act in force as of the date hereof, all specific

proposals to amend the Tax Act that have been publicly and officially announced by or on behalf

of the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof (the “Proposed Amendments”) other

than as noted below, and our understanding of the current administrative and assessing policies

and practices of the Canada Revenue Agency (the “CRA”) published in writing prior to the date

hereof. This summary assumes the Proposed Amendments will be enacted in the form proposed.

However, no assurance can be given that the Proposed Amendments will be enacted in their

current form, or at all. This summary does not take into account the consultation paper released

on 18 July 2017 by the Minister of Finance (Canada) proposing that the tax treatment of passive

investment income (such as interest, dividends and capital gains) earned through a private

corporation be changed, or related follow-up announcements or legislative proposals (including

those contained in the 2018 federal Budget), and affected holders should consult with their own

tax advisors in this regard. This summary is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income

tax considerations and, except for the Proposed Amendments, does not take into account or

anticipate any changes in the law or any changes in the CRA’s administrative and assessing
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policies or practices, whether by legislative, governmental or judicial action or decision, nor does

it take into account or anticipate any other federal or any provincial, territorial or foreign tax

considerations, which may differ significantly from those discussed herein. Any particular Holder

should consult their own tax advisors with respect to provincial, territorial or foreign tax

considerations. This summary is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal

or tax advice to any particular holder, and no representations with respect to the income tax

consequences to any Holder are made. Consequently, holders should consult their own tax

advisors with respect to the tax consequences applicable to them, having regard to their

own particular circumstances. The discussion below is qualified accordingly.

Currency conversion

In general, for purposes of the Tax Act, all amounts relating to the acquisition, holding or disposition

of the Ordinary Shares must be converted into CAD based on the daily noon rate as quoted by the

Bank of Canada for the applicable day or such other rate of exchange that is acceptable to the

CRA.

Taxation of Resident Holders

The following portion of this summary applies to Holders (as defined above) who, for the purposes

of the Tax Act, are or are deemed to be resident in Canada at all relevant times (herein, “Resident

Holders”) and this portion of the summary only addresses such Resident Holders. Certain

Resident Holders who might not otherwise be considered to hold their Ordinary Shares as capital

property may be entitled, in certain circumstances, to treat their Ordinary Shares, and every other

“Canadian security” as defined for this purpose in the Tax Act, as capital property by making an

irrevocable election under subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act. A Resident Holder should consult its

own tax advisor with respect to whether the election is available and advisable in its particular

circumstances.

Taxation of dividends

A Resident Holder will be required to include in computing income for a taxation year any dividends

received, or deemed to be received, in the year by the Resident Holder on the new Ordinary

Shares. In the case of a Resident Holder that is an individual (other than certain trusts), such

dividends will be subject to the gross-up and dividend tax credit rules normally applicable under

the Tax Act to taxable dividends received from taxable Canadian corporations, including the

enhanced gross-up and dividend tax credit provisions where the Company designates the dividend

as an “eligible dividend” in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Act. There may be restrictions

on the ability of the Company to designate any dividend as an “eligible dividend”, and the Company

has made no commitments in this regard.

A dividend received or deemed to be received by a Resident Holder that is a corporation must be

included in computing its income but will generally be deductible in computing the corporation’s

taxable income, subject to all of the rules and restrictions under the Tax Act in that regard. In

certain circumstances, subsection 55(2) of the Tax Act will treat a taxable dividend received by a

Resident Holder that is a corporation as proceeds of disposition or a capital gain. A corporation that

is a “private corporation” (as defined in the Tax Act) or any other corporation controlled (whether

because of a beneficial interest in one or more trusts or otherwise) by or for the benefit of an

individual (other than a trust) or a related group of individuals (other than trusts), generally will be

liable to pay an additional tax (refundable under certain circumstances) under Part IV of  the Tax
Act on dividends received or deemed to be received on the Ordinary Shares in a year to the extent

such dividends are deductible in computing taxable income for the year.

Disposition of the Ordinary Shares

A Resident Holder who disposes, or is deemed to dispose of, an Ordinary Share, generally will

realise a capital gain (or capital loss) equal to the amount, if any, by which the proceeds of
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disposition, net of any reasonable costs of disposition, are greater (or are less) than the adjusted

cost base to the Resident Holder of such Ordinary Shares immediately before the disposition or

deemed disposition. The taxation of capital gains and losses is generally described below under

the heading “Capital Gains and Capital Losses”.

Capital gains and capital losses

Generally, a Resident Holder is required to include in computing income for a taxation year one-

half of the amount of any capital gain (a “taxable capital gain”) realised by the Resident Holder

in such taxation year. Subject to and in accordance with the rules contained in the Tax Act, a

Resident Holder is required to deduct one-half of the amount of any capital loss (an “allowable

capital loss”) realised in a particular taxation year against taxable capital gains realized by the

Resident Holder in the year. Allowable capital losses not so deductible in a particular taxation year

may be carried back and deducted in any of the three preceding taxation years or carried forward

and deducted in any subsequent taxation year against net taxable capital gains realised in such

years, to the extent and under the circumstances described in the Tax Act.

The amount of any capital loss realised by a Resident Holder that is a corporation on the

disposition or deemed disposition of an Ordinary Share may be reduced by the amount of any

dividends received or deemed to have been received by such Resident Holder on such Ordinary

Shares, to the extent and under the circumstances described in the Tax Act. Similar rules apply

where a corporation is a member of a partnership or a beneficiary of a trust that owns the Ordinary

Shares, directly or indirectly. Corporations to whom these rules may be relevant should consult

their own tax advisors.

A Resident Holder that is throughout the relevant taxation year a “Canadian-controlled private

corporation” (as defined in the Tax Act) may be liable to pay an additional tax (refundable in certain

circumstances) on certain investment income, including taxable capital gains. Such Resident

Holders should consult their own tax advisors.

Alternative minimum tax

Capital gains realised and dividends received or deemed to be received by a Resident Holder that

is an individual or a trust, other than certain specified trusts, may give rise to alternative minimum

tax under the Tax Act. Resident Holders should consult their own tax advisors in this regard.

Taxation of Non-Resident Holders

The following portion of this summary is generally applicable to Holders (as defined above) who,

for the purposes of the Tax Act and at all relevant times: (i) are not resident or deemed to be

resident in Canada, and (ii) do not use or hold the Ordinary Shares in carrying on a business in

Canada. This portion of the summary only addresses non-resident holders who meet all of the

foregoing requirements (“Non-Resident Holders”). Special rules, which are not discussed in this

summary, may apply to a Non-Resident Holder that is an insurer carrying on business in Canada

and elsewhere. Such Non-Resident Holders should consult their own tax advisors.

Receipt of dividends

Dividends paid or credited or deemed to be paid or credited to a Non-Resident Holder by the

Company are subject to Canadian withholding tax at the rate of 25 per cent. of the gross amount

of the dividend unless reduced by the terns of an applicable tax treaty between Canada and the

Non-Resident Holder’s jurisdiction of residence. Under the convention Between Canada and the

US with respect to taxes on income and on capital, signed September 26, 1980 (the “Canada-US

Tax Convention”), the rate of withholding tax on dividends paid or credited to a Non-Resident

Holder that is a resident in the US for purposes of the Canada-US Tax Convention and that is

entitled to benefits under the Canada-US Tax Convention (a “US Holder”) is generally limited to

15 per cent. of the gross amount of the dividend (or 5 per cent. in the case of a US Holder that is
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a company beneficially owning at least 10 per cent. of the Corporation’s voting shares). Non-

Resident Holders should consult their own tax advisors in this regard.

Disposition of Ordinary Shares

A Non-Resident Holder generally will not be subject to tax under the Tax Act in respect of a capital

gain realized on the disposition or deemed disposition of an Ordinary Share unless it constitutes

“taxable Canadian property” (as defined in the Tax Act) to the Non-Resident Holder at the time of

disposition and the gain is not exempt from tax pursuant to the terms of an applicable tax treaty

between Canada and the Non-Resident Holder’s jurisdiction of residence.

Provided the Ordinary Shares are listed on a “designated stock exchange”, as defined in the Tax

Act (which currently includes the London Stock Exchange) at the time of disposition, the Ordinary

Shares will generally not constitute taxable Canadian property of a Non-Resident Holder at that

time, unless at any time during the 60-month period immediately preceding the disposition the

following two conditions are satisfied: (i) (a) the Non-Resident Holder; (b) persons with whom the

Non-Resident Holder did not deal at arm’s length; (c) partnerships in which the Non-Resident

Holder or a person described in (b) holds a membership interest directly or indirectly through one

or more partnerships; or (d) any combination of the persons and partnerships described in

(a) through (c), owned 25 per cent. or more of the issued shares of any class or series of shares

of the Company; and (ii) more than 50 per cent. of the fair market value of the Ordinary Shares,

as applicable, was derived directly or indirectly from one or any combination of real or immovable

property situated in Canada, “Canadian resource properties”, “timber resource properties” (each

as defined in the Tax Act), and options in respect of, or interests in or for civil law rights in, such

properties.

A Non-Resident Holder’s capital gain (or capital loss) in respect of the Ordinary Shares that

constitute or are deemed to constitute taxable Canadian property (and are not “treaty-protected

property”, as defined in the Tax Act) will generally be computed in the manner described above

under the subheading “Taxation of  Resident Holders – Disposition of  the Ordinary Shares”.

Non-Resident Holders who may hold the Ordinary Shares as taxable Canadian property should

consult their own tax advisors.

THE ABOVE SUMMARY IS NOT INTENDED TO CONSTITUTE A COMPLETE ANALYSIS OF

ALL CANADIAN TAX CONSIDERATIONS APPLICABLE TO HOLDERS WITH RESPECT TO

THE OWNERSHIP, EXERCISE OR DISPOSITION OF THE ORDINARY SHARES. HOLDERS

SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE TAX CONSIDERATIONS

APPLICABLE TO THEM IN THEIR PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES.
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PART XVI

                    CONSEQUENCES OF A STANDARD LISTING                    

As the Company intends to migrate its listing of Ordinary Shares from the NEX Exchange Growth

Market to the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange, listing of the Existing Issued Share

Capital will be cancelled and an application will be made for the immediate admission of the

Enlarged Issued Share Capital to a Standard Listing (pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules)

and to trading on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange. The Company intends to comply

with the Listing Principles set out in Chapter 7 of the Listing Rules at Listing Rule 7.2.1 which apply

to all companies with their securities admitted to the Official List. In addition, the Company also

intends to comply with the Listing Principles at Listing Rule 7.2.1A notwithstanding that they only

apply to companies which obtain a Premium Listing. With regard to the Listing Principles at 7.2.1A,

the Company is not, however, formally subject to such Listing Principles and will not be required

to comply with them by the FCA.

While the Company has a Standard Listing, it is not required to comply with the provisions of,

inter alia:

•         Chapter 8 of the Listing Rules regarding the appointment of a sponsor to guide the Company

in understanding and meeting its responsibilities under the Listing Rules in connection with

certain matters. The Company has not and does not intend to appoint such a sponsor in

connection with Admission;

•         Chapter 9 of the Listing Rules relating to the ongoing obligations of companies with a

Premium Listing and therefore does not apply to the Company;

•         Chapter 10 of the Listing Rules relating to significant transactions. It should be noted

therefore that an acquisition will not require Shareholder consent – even if Ordinary Shares

are being issued as consideration for the acquisition;

•         Chapter 11 of the Listing Rules regarding related party transactions. Nevertheless, the

Company will not enter into any transaction which would constitute a “related party

transaction” as defined in Chapter 11 of the Listing Rules without the specific prior approval

of the Directors;

•         Chapter 12 of the Listing Rules regarding purchases by the Company of its Ordinary Shares.

In particular, the Company has not adopted a policy consistent with the provisions of Listing

Rules 12.4.1 and 12.4.2; and

•         Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules regarding the form and content of circulars to be sent to

Shareholders.

•         The Company is not currently eligible for a Premium Listing under Chapter 6 of the Listing

Rules.

Upon completion of an acquisition, the Company’s Standard Listing will be cancelled and the

Company will be treated as a new applicant. At that point the Directors may seek admission as a

Standard Listing or as a Premium Listing or another appropriate listing venue, based on the track

record of the company or business it acquires, subject to fulfilling the relevant eligibility criteria at

the time. Alternatively, it may determine to seek re-admission to a Standard Listing, subject to

eligibility criteria. If admission with a Premium Listing is possible (and there can be no guarantee

that it will be) and the Company decides to seek a Premium Listing, the various Listing Rules

highlighted above as rules with which the Company is not required to comply will become

mandatory and the Company will comply with the continuing obligations contained within the

Listing Rules (and the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules) in the same manner as any

other company with a Premium Listing.

Annex III, 6.1, 6.2
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It should be noted that the UKLA will not have the authority to (and will not) monitor the

Company’s compliance with any of the Listing Rules which the Company has indicated

herein that it intends to comply with on a voluntary basis, nor to impose sanctions in

respect of any failure by the Company so to comply. However, the FCA would be able to

impose sanctions for non-compliance where the statements regarding compliance in this

document are themselves misleading, false or deceptive.
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PART XVII

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1.       Responsibility statements                                                                                                      

The Company and the Directors, whose names appear on page 46 of this document, accept
responsibility for all the information contained in this document. To the best of the knowledge of the
Company and the Directors (who have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case),
the information contained in this document is in accordance with the facts and does not omit
anything likely to affect the import of such information.

2.       Incorporation and registration                                                                                              

2.1     The Company was incorporated and registered in England and Wales on 20 February 2006
under the Companies Act 1985 as a public limited company with the name ZimNRG plc and
registered number 05714562. On 11 March 2016, the Company changed its name to
MetalNRG plc.

2.2     The registered office of the Company and its principal place of business is 1 Ely Place,
London, EC1N 6RY, United Kingdom. The telephone number of the Company’s principal
place of business is +44 (0)207 796 9060.

2.3     The Company is not regulated by the FCA or any financial services or other regulator. The
Company is subject to the Listing Rules and the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules (and the resulting jurisdiction of the FCA), to the extent such rules apply to companies
with a Standard Listing pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

2.4     The principal legislation under which the Company operates, and pursuant to which the
Ordinary Shares have been created, is the Companies Act and the regulations made
thereunder. The Company operates in conformity with its constitution.

2.5     The business of the Company and its principal activity is to act as an investing company
focused on the natural resource sector.

3.       Group structure                                                                                                                       

The Company currently has two wholly-owned subsidiaries: (1) MetalNRG Australia Pty Ltd, which
is incorporated in Australia with Australian Company Number 620 704 663 and which will serve as
the operating company for the Palomino Cobalt Project; and (2) Goldridge Holdings Limited, which
is incorporated in British Columbia under the Canada Business Corporations Act (R.S.C.) 1985
and which serves as the operating company for the Gold Ridge Project.

As part of a binding option agreement entered into by the Company on 22 March 2018 to sell its
15.38 per cent. shareholding in US Cobalt to Tyranna, an exploration company listed on the
Australian Stock Exchange, the Company received 21,719,457 shares in Tyranna, which at the
deemed price of A$0.017, equates to a consideration received of A$369,231 or circa £211,327 (at
the A$:GBP currency exchange rate on 20 September 2018). 25 per cent. of the consideration
shares (i.e., 5,429,864 Tyranna shares) remain under a voluntary escrow for a six month period
following the date of the sale and purchase agreement for the consideration shares, being
21 August 2018.

On 16 August 2018, the Company announced that it had signed an Option Agreement with IMC to
acquire a majority interest in the Uranium Project in the Kyrgyz Republic. Under the Option
Agreement, the Company would own 51 per cent. of the share capital in a Newco into which IMC
would transfer the Mining Licence, which grants the right to operate the Uranium Project in full.
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On 5 December 2018, the Company entered into the Amended Option Agreement to restructure
the cash payments paid by the Company in order to progress the application of the Mining Licence.

On 26 March 2019, the Company and IMC entered into the Farm-in Letter Agreement, replacing
the terms of the Option Agreement and the Amended Option Agreement entirely. Under the terms
of the Farm-in Letter Agreement, the Company and IMC acknowledge that the Company has, as
at 26 March 2019, made the Initial Payment (US$170,650). Further, the Company agreed to
transfer to IMC the Second Payment (US$400,000) at a date to be agreed. The Second Payment
shall represent the Entitlement, being a 51 per cent. economic interest in the assets and operations
subject to the Mining License. The Second Payment is to be made using part of the Net Placing
Proceeds.  In order to maintain the Entitlement, the Company has also agreed, under the Farm-in
Letter Agreement, to pay IMC a further US$1,989,350 into over 18 months for the sole purpose of
funding development costs at the Uranium Project. This sum shall be paid by way of the Tranche
Payments. 

IMC shall not be prohibited from entering into discussions with third party investors in connection
with obtaining project finance in relation the Uranium Project. However, before making any Project
Finance Offer, IMC must offer the same terms to the Company, and the Company shall have the
Right of First Refusal over any Project Finance Offer. If the Company elects to provide funding
equal to the amount of the Project Finance Offer, upon such funds being received by IMC, the
Company and IMC shall commit to increase the Entitlement over the economic interest in the
Uranium Project by way of further agreement at a date to be agreed between the parties.

If the Company cannot satisfy any of the Tranche Payments as they fall due, the Right of First
Refusal shall not apply.  Following any Default, IMC shall have the right, subject to approval by the
Company, to enter into project finance arrangements with third party investors in relation to the
Uranium Project, and the Company and IMC shall commit to re-distributing the Entitlement (by
reference to the then prevailing market value of the Uranium Project) by way of further agreement
accordingly at a date to be agreed between the parties.

On 2 May 2019, the parliament of the Kyrgyz Republic voted in favour of the Uranium Ban. The
government of Kyrgyzstan has been instructed to draft legislation to put the Uranium Ban into
effect. In response to the Uranium Ban, the Company and IMC entered into the Side Letter, under
which the parties agreed to suspend the Farm-in Letter Agreement and all obligations of the
Company and IMC thereunder for the duration of the Uranium Ban.

Under the Side Letter, the Company and IMC have agreed that IMC will waive the obligation of the
Company to pay the Second Payment and the Tranche Payments. From the effective date of the
Side Letter, and throughout the duration of the Uranium Ban, the Right of First Refusal shall
continue to apply in favour of the Company. If the Uranium Ban continues for a period of 12 months
from the date of the Side Letter, the Company shall have the right to terminate the Farm-in Letter
Agreement in its entirety by written notice to IMC and the Company shall not be liable for any
unpaid payments thereunder.

If, within 12 months of the date of the Side Letter, either (i) the Uranium Ban ceases to be in force
or (ii) the government of the Kyrgyz Republic allows IMC to progress work under the Mining
License pursuant to the Waste Exemption, the Company may, in its sole discretion, elect to re-
enter the Farm-in Letter Agreement, subject to the adjustment, if necessary, of the Agreed Dates
in relation to the Tranche Payments and valuation of the Uranium Project.

The Company and IMC maintain the position that the activities at the Uranium Project of ‘cleaning’
the peat and contained groundwater, which carries high levels of uranium (such uranium often
contaminating the local water supplies), amount to those of processing waste and accordingly fall
under the Waste Exemption. The Company and IMC are currently discussing this position with the
government of the Kyrgyz Republic. 
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For more information on the cobalt market, please refer to Part VIII – Market Overview – Overview
of  the cobalt market.

For more information on the uranium market, please refer to Part VIII – Market Overview –
Overview of  the uranium market.

4.       Share capital                                                                                                                            

4.1     The issued and fully paid up Ordinary Share capital of the Company, as at the date of this
document and as it is expected to be immediately following Admission, is as follows:

As at the date of  this Immediately
document following Admission

                                                       Number of                                Number of
                                                           Ordinary           Nominal          Ordinary           Nominal
Class of  shares                                    Shares             value/£            Shares             value/£

Ordinary shares issued
and fully paid                                203,368,980             0.0001    297,702,306             0.0001

4.2     The following table sets out the fully diluted Ordinary Share capital as at the date of this
document and as at Admission:

                     As a
       percentage of

As at the As at the   Enlarged Issued
date of  this date of       Share Capital

document Admission         at Admission

Issued share capital 203,368,980 297,702,306                           –
Ordinary Share options at 3p 5,000,000 5,000,000                           –
Ordinary Share options at 0.75p 4,500,000 4,500,000                           –
Warrants at 3p 18,250,000 18,250,000                           –
Warrants at 2p 9,700,000 9,700,000                           –
Placing Shares – 94,333,326                      32%
Placing Warrants – 94,333,326                           –

Accordingly, at Admission the Enlarged Issued Share Capital is expected to be 297,702,306
Ordinary Shares with a total of 9,500,000 options and 122,283,326 warrants outstanding. If
all the outstanding options and warrants (including the Placing Warrants) were to be
exercised the Company would receive approximately £1,491,250 in cash and the options
and warrants would represent 31 per cent. of the fully diluted Enlarged Issued Share Capital.

4.3     Save as disclosed in this document:                                                                                        

(A)     no share or loan capital of the Company has been issued or is proposed to be issued;

(B)     no person has any preferential subscription rights for any shares of the Company;

(C)     no share or loan capital of the Company (or any of its subsidiaries) is under option or
is the subject of an agreement, conditional or unconditional to be put under option; or

(D)     no commissions, discounts, brokerages or other special terms have been granted by
the Company since its incorporation in connection with the issue or sale of any share
or loan capital of the Company.

4.4     All Ordinary Shares in the capital of the Company are in registered form.

4.5     The Ordinary Shares will have a Standard Listing on the Official List and will be traded on
the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange. The Ordinary Shares are not listed or
traded on, and no application has been or is being made for the admission of the Ordinary
Shares to listing or trading on any other stock exchange or securities market.
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4.6     The Articles do not contain any limit on the number of Ordinary Shares which the Company
may issue. However, the ability of the Company to issue shares is subject to the terms of
any resolution passed by Shareholders.

4.7     At the date of incorporation, the issued share capital of the Company was £100,000.00
divided into 10,000,000 ordinary shares of nominal value 1 pence each and issued, for nil
consideration, to the subscribers to the Company’s memorandum of association.

The following changes have occurred in the issued share capital of the Company since
20 August 2010, being the date of its incorporation:

(A)     on 24 March 2006, each ordinary share of 1 pence was subdivided into 10 ordinary
shares of 0.1 pence;

(B)     on 11 April 2006, the Company allotted:

(i)       1,000,000 ordinary shares at a price of 0.1 pence per share to Loeb & Aron
Company Limited;

(ii)      3,499,990 ordinary shares at a price of 0.1 pence per share to Somers
Investments Limited; and

(iii)     499,990 ordinary shares at a price of 0.1 pence per share to Alan Mason;

(C)     on 21 June 2006, the Company:

(i)       allotted 2,800 ordinary shares of nominal value 0.5 pence at a price of 0.5 pence
per share to Loeb & Aron Company Limited;

(ii)      allotted 800,000 ordinary shares of nominal value 0.5 pence at a price of
0.5 pence per share to Somers Investments Limited;

(iii)     allotted 400,000 ordinary shares of nominal value 0.5 pence at a price of
0.5 pence per share to Alan Mason;

(iv)     increased its share capital by £650,000 beyond the registered capital of
£100,000 to £750,000; and

(v)      consolidated every five of the issued and unissued ordinary shares of 0.1 pence
each into one ordinary share of 0.5 pence each;

(D)     on 29 February 2012, the Company issued 1,102,067 ordinary shares of nominal
value 0.5 pence to certain directors in lieu of the Directors’ fees;

(E)     on 11 March 2016, each of the issued ordinary shares of 0.5 pence was sub-divided
into one ordinary share of 0.01 pence and 1 deferred share of 0.49 pence;

(F)     on 31 March 2017, the Company issued 68,500,000 new Ordinary Shares at a price
of 0.5 pence;

(G)     on 25 August 2017, the Company issued:

(i)       1,000,000 Ordinary Shares at a deemed price of 1.5 pence per share as
consideration (£15,000) to secure 100 per cent. of the rights over the licence
applications in respect of the Palomino Project; and

(ii)      1,967,133 Ordinary Shares at a deemed price of 1.5 pence per share as
consideration (£29,507) for an option fee in respect of an option over 81.82 per
cent. of the equity in US Cobalt not then owned by the Company;
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(H)     on 10 April 2018, the Company issued 2,000,000 Ordinary Shares at a deemed price
of 1.5 pence per share as consideration for the grant of the licence applications in
respect of the Palomino Project;

(I)      on 8 June 2018, the Company issued 15,750,000 Ordinary Shares at a price of
1 pence to certain shareholders, including Director, Christopher Latilla-Campbell,
following the exercise of their 15,750,000 warrants, of which Christopher Latilla-
Campbell exercised his 3,500,000;

(J)      on 8 June 2018, the Company issued 3,000,000 Ordinary Shares to Gervaise Heddle
following the exercise of 3,000,000 options at 0.5 pence per share;

(K)     on 5 November 2018, the Company issued 21,942,576 Ordinary Shares at a price of
1.75 pence per share to Winston Gold in satisfaction of the consideration pursuant to
the Gold Ridge Acquisition Agreement;

(L)     on 15 November 2018, the Company (i) issued 9,700,000 Ordinary Shares pursuant
to the Strategic Financing (with each Ordinary Share issued pursuant to such
Strategic Financing accompanied by one warrant to subscribe for one new Ordinary
Share at an exercise price of 2 pence per share, expiring on 15 November 2020) and
(ii) received notice that certain of the Directors would be subscribing for 8,500,000
Ordinary Shares in connection with the Directors’ Options Exercise; and

(M)    on 15 December 2018, the Company issued 150,000 Ordinary Shares to Rolf
Gerritsen at 2 pence per share.

4.8     By resolution passed on 7 August 2018, the Company granted the following powers and
authorities to the Directors to issue ordinary shares:

(A)     the Directors were generally and unconditionally authorised pursuant to section 551 of
the UK Companies Act 2006 (the “Companies Act”) to exercise all the powers of the
Company to allot shares in the Company and grant rights to subscribe for or convert
any security into such shares (all of which transactions are referred to hereafter as an
allotment of “relevant securities”) up to an aggregate amount of £25,000. The authority
conferred by this resolution expires at the conclusion of the annual general meeting
(“AGM”) to be held in 2019, save that the Company may before such expiry,
revocation or variation make an offer or agreement which would or might require
relevant securities to be allotted after such expiry, revocation or variation and the
Directors may allot relevant securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if
the authority hereby conferred had not expired or been revoked or varied; and

(B)     the Directors were empowered pursuant to section 570 of the Companies Act to allot
equity securities (as defined by section 560 of the Companies Act) for cash up to an
aggregate amount of £25,000, as if section 561 of the Companies Act did not apply to
any such allotment. This power expires at the conclusion of the AGM to be held in
2019, save that the Company may before such expiry, revocation or variation make an
offer or agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after
such expiry, revocation or variation and the Directors may allot relevant securities in
pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the authority hereby conferred had not
expired or been revoked or varied.

4.9     The provisions of section 551 of the Companies Act, which confers on shareholders rights
of pre-emption in respect of the allotment of equity securities which are, or are to be, paid
up fully in cash, other than by way of allotment to employees under an employee share
scheme (as defined in section 1166 of the Companies Act) will apply to the ordinary share
capital of the Company, to the extent that such rights are not disapplied by special resolution
by the shareholders pursuant to section 570 of the Companies Act in accordance with
paragraph 4.7 above or otherwise.
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4.10   The Existing Ordinary Shares and Placing Shares will have the rights and be subject to the
restrictions referred to in paragraph 5.4(B) of this Part XVI — Additional Information of this
document.

4.11   The Ordinary Shares comprising the Enlarged Issued Share Capital will, on Admission, be
credited as fully paid and will rank pari passu in all respects with the Ordinary Shares,
including the right to receive all dividends and other distributions declared, made or paid
after the date of this document.

4.12   Save as disclosed in this document, no commission, discounts, brokerages or other specific
terms have been granted by the Company in connection with the issue or sale of any of its
share or loan capital.

4.13   During the period between the incorporation of the Company and Admission, more than
10 per cent. of the issued share capital of the Company, has been paid for by assets other
than cash.

4.14   The Company does not have in issue any shares not representing share capital.                 

4.15   None of the share capital of the Company is held by or on behalf of the Company or by any
subsidiary of the Company.

4.16   Save as set out below the Company does not have any convertible securities, exchangeable
securities or securities with warrants currently in issue.

(A)     Expiring 30 September 2019, there are 15,750,000 warrants outstanding to subscribe
for new Ordinary Shares at 3 pence per Ordinary Share.

(B)     Expiring 15 November 2020, there are 9,700,000 warrants outstanding to subscribe
for new Ordinary Shares at 2 pence per Ordinary Share.

(C)     Expiring 30 March 2021, there are 2,500,000 warrants outstanding to subscribe for
new Ordinary Shares at 3 pence per Ordinary Share. These warrants were issued to
Paul Johnson, a former Director, following his subscription in March 2018 for
2,500,000 Ordinary Shares at 2 pence per Ordinary Share.

(D)     A further 2,500,000 warrants will be issued to Rolf Gerritsen on completion of his
subscription for 2,500,000 new Ordinary Shares. These warrants exercisable at
3 pence per share will expire 36 months from their date of issue.

(E)     Save in respect of the options and warrants set out, there are no acquisition rights
and/or obligations over the unissued share capital of the Company and the Company
has not given any undertaking to increase its share capital.

(F)     A total of 5,000,000 share options granted to Rolf Gerritsen are outstanding and all are
exercisable at an exercise price of 3 pence per share from the first anniversary of his
appointment to the Board and until the third anniversary of this appointment.

(G)     Expiring on 23 July 2021, a total of 94,333,326 Placing Warrants will be issued,
conditional upon Admission, exercisable at a price of 0.6 pence per Ordinary Share in
connection with the Placing.

Further details of the outstanding share options and its operation is set out in paragraph 10
below.

4.17   None of the Directors nor members of their families have a related financial product
referenced to the Ordinary Shares.

4.18   The Ordinary Shares will be registered with the ISIN GB00B15FS791.                                  

Annex I, 21.1.4

Annex III, 4.1

Annex I, 25

125

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:30



4.19   The Ordinary Shares are in registered form and, following Admission, will be capable of
being held in uncertificated form, enabled through CREST. Definitive share certificates for
Shareholders not settling through CREST are planned to be dispatched on or about 25 July
2019. No temporary documents of title will be issued.

5.       Articles                                                                                                                                     

5.1     The Articles were adopted by a special resolution of the Shareholders passed in a general
meeting on 15 November 2018. A summary of the terms of the Articles is set out below. The
summary below is not a complete copy of the terms of the Articles.

5.2     The Articles do not provide for any objects of the Company by virtue of section 31(1) of the
Companies Act, and accordingly the Company’s objects are unrestricted. The Articles also
do not state any purposes for which the Company was established and therefore the
Company is able to undertake any activities permitted by the laws of England and Wales.

5.3     The liability of the Company’s members is limited to any unpaid amount on the Ordinary
Shares held by them.

5.4     The Company’s Articles contain, inter alia, provisions to the following effect:

(a)      Share capital

The Company’s Existing Issued Share Capital currently consists of Ordinary Shares
and Deferred Shares. The Company may issue shares with such rights or restrictions
as may be determined by ordinary resolution, including shares which are to be
redeemed, or are liable to be redeemed at the option of the Company or the holder of
such shares.

(b)      Rights attaching to shares

Subject to the provisions of the Articles and the Companies Act, and in particular to
those conferring rights of redemption, and without prejudice to any special rights
conferred on the holders of any shares or class of shares, any shares in the Company
may be issued with or have attached to them such preferred, deferred, qualified or
other special rights or such restrictions, whether in regard to dividend, voting, return of
capital or otherwise, as the Company may by ordinary resolution determine or, if there
has not been any such determination or so far as the same shall not make specific
provision, as the Directors may determine.

Subject to the Companies Act, any shares may be issued on the terms that they are,
or at the option of the Company are to be liable, to be redeemed on such terms and
in such manner as the Company may by special resolution determine.

The Board may issue share warrants to the bearer in respect of any fully paid shares
under the Company’s seal or in any other manner authorised by the Board. Any share
while represented by such warrant shall be transferable by delivery of the warrant
relating to it. In any case in which a warrant is so issued, the Board may provide for
the payment of dividends or other moneys on the shares represented by the warrant
by coupons or otherwise. The Board may decide, either generally or in any particular
case, that any signature on a warrant may be applied by mechanical means or printed
on it or that the warrant need not be signed by any person.

(c)      Voting                                                                                                                             

The Shareholders have the right to receive notice of, and to vote at, general meetings
of the Company. Each Shareholder who is present in person (or, being a corporation,
by representative) at a general meeting has one vote and, on a poll, every such holder
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who is present in person (or, being a corporation, by representative) or by proxy has
one vote in respect of every share held by him.

(d)      Variation of  class rights                                                                                               

Subject to the Companies Act and the terms of their issue, all or any of the rights and
restrictions for the time being attached to any class of shares for the time being issued
may from time to time (whether or not the Company is being wound up) be varied,
added to or abrogated with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than three-
fourths in nominal value of the issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a
special resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of such shares.

(e)      Transfers of  Shares                                                                                                      

(i)       In the case of certificated shares any member may, subject to the Articles,
transfer all or any of his shares by an instrument of transfer in the usual common
form or in any manner (whether or not by written instrument) which the Directors
may approve. Any written instrument of transfer of a share shall be signed by or
on behalf of the transferor (and, in the case of a share which is not fully paid by
or on behalf of the transferee) and the transferor shall be deemed to remain the
holder of the shares until the name of the transferee is entered in the register of
members of the Company in respect thereof.

(ii)      In the case of uncertificated shares and subject to the Companies Act but
notwithstanding any other provision of the Articles, a member is entitled to
transfer his shares and other securities by means of a relevant system.

(iii)     The Directors may refuse to register the transfer of a share which is not fully
paid, providing that any such refusal will not prevent dealings in the shares from
taking place on an open and proper basis.

(iv)     The Directors may decline to register any transfer of a certificated share unless
any written instrument of transfer, duly stamped, is lodged with the Company,
accompanied by the relevant certificate and such other evidence as the
Directors may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the
transfer, the instrument is in respect of only one class of share and, in the case
of a transfer to joint holders the number of joint holders does not

(f)      Allotment of  shares and pre-emption rights                                                              

Subject to the Companies Act and to any rights attached to existing shares, any share
may be issued with or have attached to it such rights and restrictions as the Company
may by ordinary resolution determine, or if no ordinary resolution has been passed or
so far as the resolution does not make specific provision, as the Directors may
determine (including shares which are to be redeemed, or are liable to be redeemed
at the option of the Company or the holder of such shares).

In accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act, the Directors may be generally
and unconditionally authorised to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot
shares up to an aggregate nominal amount equal to the amount stated in the relevant
ordinary resolution authorising such allotment. The authorities referred to in paragraph
5.4(a) and 5.4(c) above were included in the special resolution passed on 7 August
2018 and remain in force at the date of this document.

The provisions of section 561 of the Companies Act (which confer on Shareholders
rights of pre-emption in respect of the allotment of equity securities which are paid up
in cash) apply to the Company except to the extent disapplied by special resolution of
the Company. Such pre-emption rights have been disapplied to the extent referred to
in paragraph 5.4(c) above pursuant to the special resolution passed on 7 August 2018.
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(g)      Section 793 of  the 2006 Act

Without limitation to the powers of the Directors under section 793 of the 2006 Act,
where a member fails to comply with any notice (a “statutory notice”) given by the
Directors under section 793 of the 2006 Act requiring such member or any other
named person to give particulars of any interest in respect of shares in the Company,
the Company may, no earlier than fourteen days after the service of the statutory
notice, give the registered holder of such shares a notice (a “restriction notice”)
stating or to the effect that, the shares in respect of which the default has occurred
(“default shares”), are subject to certain sanctions for so long as the default
continues.

(h)      General meetings                                                                                                          

The Company must convene and hold AGMs in accordance with the Companies Act.

No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present
when the meeting proceeds to business, but the absence of a quorum shall not
preclude the choice or appointment of a Chair of the meeting which shall not be
treated as part of the business of the meeting. Save as otherwise provided by the
articles, two Shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall be
a quorum for all purposes.

(i)       Directors                                                                                                                         

(i)       Unless and until the Company in general meeting shall otherwise determine, the
number of Directors shall not be less than two and there shall not more than
fifteen.

(ii)      The quorum necessary for the transaction of business may be determined by
the Board and until otherwise determined shall be two persons, each being a
Director or an alternate Director.

(iii)     Questions and matters requiring resolution arising at a meeting shall be decided
by a majority of votes of the participating Directors, with each director having
one vote. In the case of an equality of votes, the Chair will only have a casting
vote or second vote (unless he is not entitled to vote on the resolution in
question).

(iv)     Subject to the Companies Act and the Articles, no Director or proposed or
intending Director shall be disqualified by his office from entering into any
contract or arrangement with the Company either with regard to his tenure of
any office or employment or as a vendor, purchaser or otherwise. Nor shall any
such contract be liable to be avoided. Nor shall any Director so contracting be
liable to account to the Company for any remuneration, profit or other benefit
realised by any such contract or arrangement by reason of such Director holding
that office or of the fiduciary relationship thereby established, but such Director
shall declare the nature of his interest in accordance with the Companies Act.

(v)      The Board may, in accordance with the requirements in the Articles, authorise
any matter proposed to them by any Director which would, if not authorised,
involve a Director breaching his duty under the Companies Act to avoid conflicts
of interests.

(vi)     A Director seeking authorisation in respect of such conflict shall declare to the
Board the nature and extent of their interest in a conflict as soon as is
reasonably practicable. The Director shall provide the Board with such details of
the matter as are necessary for the Board to decide how to address the conflict
together with such additional information as may be requested by the Board.

Annex I, 21.2.2

Annex I, 21.2.5

128

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:30



(j)       Restrictions on voting by Directors

Save as otherwise provided by the Articles, a Director shall not vote nor be counted in
the quorum on any resolution of the Directors concerning his own appointment as the
holder of any office or place of profit with the Company. Save as otherwise provided
by the Articles a Director shall not vote on any resolution of the Directors concerning
a matter in which he has directly or indirectly an interest or duty which is material and
which conflicts or may conflict with the interests of the Company unless his interest or
duty only arises because the case falls within one or more of the following paragraphs:

(i)       the giving of any guarantee, security or indemnity in respect of money lent or
obligations incurred by him for the benefit of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries;

(ii)      the giving of any guarantee, security or indemnity to a third party in respect of a
debt or obligation of the Company or any of its subsidiaries for which he himself
has assumed responsibility in whole or in part under a guarantee or indemnity
or by the giving of security;

(iii)     his interest arises by virtue of his subscribing or agreeing to subscribe for any
shares, debentures or other securities of the Company or any of its subsidiary
undertakings, or by virtue of his being, or intending to become, a participant in
the underwriting or sub-underwriting of an offer of any such shares, debentures,
or other securities by the Company or any of its subsidiary undertakings for
subscription, purchase or exchange;

(iv)     the resolution relates in any way to any proposal concerning a retirement, death
or disability benefits scheme or a share option scheme, share incentive scheme
or profit-sharing scheme which either relates to both employees and Directors
and/or directors of any subsidiary undertaking and does not provide to any
Director as such any privilege or advantage not accorded to the employees to
whom such scheme or fund relates or has been approved by or is conditional
on approval by HMRC for tax purposes;

(v)      a contract, arrangement, transaction or proposal concerning any other body
corporate in which he or any person connected with him is interested, directly or
indirectly, and whether as an officer, shareholder, creditor or otherwise, if he and
any persons connected with him do not to his knowledge hold an interest (as
that term is used in sections 198 to 211 of the Companies Act) representing one
per cent. or more of either any class of the equity share capital of such body
corporate (or any other body corporate through which his interest is derived) or
of the voting rights available to members of the relevant body corporate (any
such interest being deemed for the purpose of this Article to be a material
interest in all circumstances); and

(vi)     any proposal concerning an insurance which the Company is empowered to
purchase and/or maintain for the benefit of and against any liability incurred by
any Directors or persons who include the Directors.

(k)      Remuneration of  Directors

(i)       Each of the Directors may be paid a fee at such rate as the Directors may from
time to time determine. The fees paid to Directors (excluding amounts payable
under any other Article) shall not exceed £300,000 per annum or such larger
amount as the Company may by ordinary resolution determine.

(ii)      Each Director may be paid his reasonable travelling, hotel and other expenses
properly and reasonably incurred by him in attending and returning from
meetings of the Directors or any committee of the Directors or meetings of
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shareholders or debenture holders of the Company or otherwise in connection
with the business of the Company or the discharge of his duties as a Director.
Any Director who, by request, goes to reside abroad for any purposes of the
Company or who performs services which in the opinion of the Directors go
beyond the ordinary duties of a Director may be paid such extra remuneration
(whether by way of salary, commission, participation in profit or otherwise) as
the Directors may determine and such extra remuneration shall be in addition to
any remuneration provided for by or pursuant to any other article.

(l)       Appointments to office

Subject to the provisions of the Articles, the Company may by ordinary resolution elect
any person to be a Director, either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Board.

The Company may by special resolution, or by ordinary resolution of which special
notice has been given in accordance with the Companies Act, remove any Director
before the expiration of his period of office and may (subject to these Articles) by
ordinary resolution appoint another person in his place. Any person so appointed shall
be subject to retirement at the same time as if he had become a Director on the day
on which the Director in whose place he is appointed was last elected a Director.

Without prejudice to the power of the Company in general meeting pursuant to any of
the provisions of these Articles to appoint any person to be a Director, the Board shall
have power at any time and from time to time to appoint any person to be a Director,
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board. Any Director so
appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the earlier to occur of the close of
the next following AGM and someone being appointed in his place at that meeting.
Such a Director shall be eligible for re-election at that meeting but shall not be taken
into account in determining the Directors or the number of Directors who are to retire
by rotation at the meeting.

(m)     Rotation of  Directors

(i)       At every AGM one-third of the Directors for the time being or, if their number is
not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to and not exceeding one-third
shall retire from office and each Director shall retire from office at least once
every three years. If there is only one Director who is subject to retirement by
rotation, he shall retire.

(ii)      The Directors to retire on each occasion shall be those subject to retirement by
rotation who have been longest in the office since their last election, but as
between persons who became or were re-elected Directors on the same day
those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree amongst themselves) be
determined by lot. The Directors to retire on each occasion (both as to number
and identity) shall be determined by composition of the Board at the date of the
notice convening the AGM, and no Director shall be required to retire or be
relieved from retiring by reason of any change in the number or identify of
Directors after the date of such notice but before the close of the meeting.

(iii)     A Director who retires at the AGM shall be eligible for re-election. If he is not
reappointed he shall retain office until the meeting appoints someone in his
place, or if it does not do so, until the end of the meeting.

(iv)     Subject to the provisions of the Articles, the Company at the meeting at which a
Director retires in the manner aforesaid may fill the vacated office by electing a
person and in default the retiring Director shall, if willing to continue to act, be
deemed to have been re-elected, unless at such meeting it is expressly resolved
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not to fill such vacated office or unless a resolution for the re-election of such
Director shall have been put to the meeting and lost or such Director has given
notice in writing to the Company that he is unwilling to be re-elected or such
Director has attained any retiring age applicable to him as Director pursuant to
the Companies Act.

(n)      Borrowing powers                                                                                                         

The Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money, and to
mortgage or charge the whole or any part of its undertaking, property and uncalled
capital, and to issue debentures and other securities. The Directors must ensure that
the aggregate amount for the time being of all borrowings of the Company and its
subsidiaries (other than owing by the Company and any of its subsidiary undertakings
in respect of the intra group borrowings) shall not at the date of any such borrowings,
without the previous sanction of an ordinary resolution of the Company, exceed an
amount equal to £5,000,000.

(o)      Pensions, gratuities etc.

The Directors may, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, exercise all the
powers of the Company to grant pensions, annuities or other allowances and benefits
in favour of any person including any Director or former Director or the relations,
connections or dependants of any Director or former Director, provided that no
pension, annuity or other allowance or benefit (except such as may be provided for by
the Articles) shall be granted to a Director or former Director who has not been an
executive Director or held any other office or place of profit under the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or to a person who has no claim on the Company except as a
relation, connection or dependant of such a Director or former Director without the
approval of an ordinary resolution of the Company.

(p)      Dividends

(i)       Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the Directors may pay such
interim dividend as they think fit.

(ii)      Subject to the Companies Act, the Company in general meeting may declare
dividends, but no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the
Directors. Except in so far as the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any
share otherwise provides, all dividends shall be declared and paid according to
the nominal amounts paid up on the shares (excluding any premium), but no
amount paid up on a share in advance of calls shall be treated for this purpose
as paid up on such share, and all dividends shall be apportioned and paid pro
rata to the amounts paid up on the shares during any portion of the period in
respect of which the dividend is paid.

(q)      Unclaimed dividends

Any dividend unclaimed for a period of 12 years after it became due for payment shall
be forfeited and shall revert to the Company.

(r)      Return of  capital

Save as otherwise provided in the Articles and subject to the rights attached to any
shares issued on any special terms and conditions, on return of assets on a winding
up or otherwise the surplus assets of the Company after discharge of its liabilities shall
belong to and be distributed amongst the holders of shares in proportion to the number
of such shares held by them irrespective of the amount paid or credited as paid on any
share.
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6.       The Takeover Code                                                                                                                 

The City Code on Takeovers and Mergers (the “Takeover Code”) applies to the Company. Under
A.3.4.9 Rule 9 of the Takeover Code (“Rule 9”), any person who acquires an interest in shares,
whether by a series of transactions over a period of time or not, which, taken together with any
interest in shares held or acquired by persons acting in concert (as defined in the Takeover Code)
with him, in aggregate carry 30 per cent. or more of the voting rights of a company, that person is
normally required by the Takeover Panel to make a general offer to all of the remaining
shareholders to acquire their shares.

Similarly when any person, together with persons acting in concert with him, is interested in shares
which in aggregate carry not less than 30 per cent. of the voting rights of such a company but does
not hold shares carrying more than 50 per cent. of such voting rights, a general offer will normally
be required if any further interests in shares are acquired by any such person which increases the
percentage of shares carrying voting rights in which they are interested.

An offer under Rule 9 must be in cash or be accompanied by a cash alternative and at the highest
price paid by the person required to make the offer, or any person acting in concert with him, for
any interest in shares of the company acquired during the 12 months prior to the announcement
of the offer.

7.       Squeeze-out rules, sell-out rules and takeover bids

7.1     Squeeze-out                                                                                                                             

Under the Companies Act, if an offeror makes a takeover offer for the Company and
successfully acquired (or unconditionally contracted to acquire) 90 per cent. in value of the
shares to which the offer relates and not less than 90 per cent. of the voting rights carried
by those shares, it could then compulsorily acquire the remaining shares. It would do so by
sending a notice to outstanding shareholders, within three months of the last day of which
the offer can be accepted, telling them that it will compulsorily acquire their shares and then,
six weeks later, it would execute a transfer of the outstanding shares in its favour and pay
the consideration to the Company, which would hold the consideration on trust for
outstanding shareholders. The consideration offered to the shareholders whose shares are
compulsorily acquired under the Companies Act must, in general, be the same as the
consideration that was available under the takeover offer.

7.2     Sell-out

The Companies Act also gives minority Shareholders a right to be bought out in certain
circumstances by an offeror who had made a takeover offer. If a takeover offer related to all
the shares in the Company and at any time before the end of the period within which the
offer could be accepted the offeror held or had agreed to acquire not less than 90 per cent.
in value of all voting shares in the Company, which carry not less than 90 per cent. of the
voting rights, any holder of shares to which the offer related who had not accepted the offer
could by a written communication to the offeror require it to acquire those shares.

The offeror would be required to give any Shareholder notice of his right to be bought out
within one month of that right arising. The offeror may impose a time limit on the rights of
minority Shareholders to be bought out, but that period cannot end less than three months
after the end of the acceptance period. If a Shareholder exercises his/her rights, the offeror
is bound to acquire those shares on the terms of the offer or on such other terms as may be
agreed.

There have been no public takeover bids by third parties in respect of the Company’s equity
in the current financial year or the previous financial year.
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7.3     Shareholder notification and disclosure requirements                                                      

(a)     Shareholders are obliged to comply with the shareholding notification and disclosure
requirements set out in Chapter 5 of the DTRs. A Shareholder is required pursuant to
Rule 5 of the DTRs to notify the Company if, as a result of an acquisition or disposal
of shares or financial instruments, the Shareholder’s percentage of voting rights of the
Company reaches, exceeds or falls below, 3 per cent. of the nominal value of the
Company’s share capital or any 1 per cent. threshold above that.

(b)     The DTRs can be accessed and downloaded from the FCA’s website at
http://fshandbook.info/FS/html/FCA/DTR. Shareholders are urged to consider their
notification and disclosure obligations carefully as a failure to make a required
disclosure to the Company may result in disenfranchisement.

8.       Terms and conditions of the warrants

8.1     On 30 March 2017, the Company executed a warrant instrument for the creation and issue
of 29,500,000 warrants at an exercise price of 1 pence per Ordinary Share, which expired
on the final exercise date on 30 September 2018.

8.2     On 30 March 2018, the Company executed a further warrant instrument for the creation and
issue of 5,000,000 warrants at an exercise price of 3 pence per Ordinary Share, which will
expire on the final exercise date on 30 March 2021.

8.3     On 8 June 2018, the Company executed a further warrant instrument for the creation and
issue of 15,750,000 warrants at an exercise price of 3 pence per Ordinary Share, which will
expire on the final exercise date on 8 June 2020.

8.4     On 15 November 2018, the Company executed a further warrant instrument for the creation
and issue of 9,700,000 warrants at an exercise price of 2 pence per Ordinary Share, which
will expire on the final exercise date on 15 November 2020.

8.5     The Company entered into a warrant instrument dated 17 July 2019 (the “Placing Warrant

Instrument”) pursuant to which the Company created and will issue, subject to Admission a
total of 94,333,326 Placing Warrants each entitling the holder to acquire one Ordinary Share
at 0.6 pence for each Placing Warrant during the period commencing on Admission and
ending on 23 July 2021. The terms of the Placing Warrant Instrument is described in more
detail in Part XI – Terms of  the Placing Warrants.

9.       Directors’ and Senior Managers’ and other relevant interests in the share capital of the

Company

9.1     The Directors and their functions within the Company and their biographies are set out in
Part X – The Directors and the Senior Managers of this document.

9.2     The business address of each of the Directors is at the registered office of the Company,
being 1 Ely Place, London EC1N 6RY, United Kingdom.

9.3     As at 16 July 2019, being the latest practicable Business Day prior to the publication of this
document, insofar as known to the Company, the interests of the Directors, their immediate
families and those of any connected person (within the meaning of the provisions of the
Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules), the existence of which is known to, or could
with reasonable diligence be ascertained by, that Director whether or not held through
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another party, in the share capital of the Company in respect of such capital were and are
expected to be immediately following Admission as follows:

As at the date of  this Immediately following
document Admission

                                                        Number of  Percentage of                          Percentage of
                                                            Existing      the Existing        Number of    the Enlarged
                                                           Ordinary   Issued Share          Ordinary   Issued Share
Name                                            Shares held     Capital held     Shares held     Capital held

Christopher Latilla-Campbell(1)       36,040,442            17.72%      39,373,775            13.22%
Gervaise Heddle                            15,513,634              7.62%      18,846,967              6.33%
Christian Schaffalitzky                      4,600,000              2.26%        7,933,333              2.66%
Rolf Gerritsen(2)                                1,650,000              0.81%        6,650,000              2.23%
                                                    ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––
Total Director Holdings                57,907,076            28.41%      72,804,075            24.44%
                                                     ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––    ––––––––––

(1) Christopher Latilla-Campbell’s interests includes 24,750,000 shares held by Buchanan Trading Inc, in whose

shares he is deemed to be interested, as he is a potential beneficiary of a discretionary trust which controls it.

(2) Rolf Gerritsen will hold 5,000,000 Placing Shares via Pearman Investments LLP.

9.4     On 15 November 2018, the Company received £62,500 as a result of the Directors’ Options
Exercise. At the date of this document, the Company has 9,500,000 outstanding Director
share options comprising (i) 4,500,000 options granted to Paul Johnson, a former Director,
which are exercisable at an exercise price of 0.75 pence per share until 7 November 2019
and (ii) 5,000,000 options granted to Rolf Gerritsen which are exercisable at an exercise
price of 3 pence per share from the first anniversary of his appointment to the Board until the
third anniversary of his appointment.

9.5     Save as disclosed above, and with regards to options in paragraph 9.20 of this Part XVI –
Additional Information of this document, none of the Directors nor any member of his
immediate family or any person connected with him holds or is beneficially or non-
beneficially interested directly or indirectly, in any shares or options to subscribe for, or
securities convertible into, shares of the Company.

9.6     In respect of the Directors, there are no conflicts of interest between any duties they have to
the Company and their private interests and/or other duties they may have.

9.7     There are no arrangements or understandings with major Shareholders, customers,
suppliers or others, pursuant to which any Directors were selected as member(s) of the
Board.

9.8     There are no outstanding loans granted by the Company to the Directors or any guarantees
provided by the Company for the benefit of the Directors.

9.9     No Director has or has had any interest in any transaction which is or was unusual in its
nature or conditions or which is or was significant to the business of the Company and which
was effected by the Company during the current or immediately preceding financial year, or
which was effected during an earlier financial year and remains in any respect outstanding
or unperformed.

9.10   The terms of the Directors service arrangements are summarised below:

(a)     Rolf Gerritsen entered into a service agreement with the Company on 5 December
2018 with respect to his appointment as Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Mr. Gerritsen’s service agreement can be terminated by either party giving no less
than six months’ notice in writing.
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(b)     Mr. Gerritsen will receive a salary and benefits (which may include pension and

insurance costs) of £7,500 per month with effect from 1 June 2018.

(c)      Under the service agreement, Mr. Gerritsen will be paid a one off equity bonus of

2,500,000 shares on the shares of the Company being admitted to trading on the Main

Market of the London Stock Exchange. The bonus will, at the election of Mr. Gerritsen,

take the form of a cash bonus, the net amount of which (after deduction of payroll

taxes) will be reinvested by Mr. Gerritsen in subscribing for new shares in the capital

of the Company.

(d)     Mr. Gerritsen will be issued a one off equity bonus of shares in the Company upon the

Company completing a transaction which secures a majority stake in a new project,

the quantum of the bonus is set at the lesser of (i) 2,500,000 Ordinary Shares or

(ii) 15% of the effective sterling value of the transaction divided by the trading price per

share of the Company’s shares on a 5 day volume weighted average basis over the

5 days preceding the announcement of the triggering transaction. The bonus will, at

the election of Mr. Gerritsen, take the form of a cash bonus, the net amount of which

(after deduction of payroll taxes) will be reinvested by Mr. Gerritsen in subscribing for

new shares in the capital of the Company.

9.11   Save as set out in paragraph 9.10, there are no service contracts or consultancy agreements

between any of the Directors and any of the Company’s subsidiaries and no such contract

has been entered into or amended or replaced within the six months preceding the date of

this document and no such contracts are proposed.

9.12   Save as set out in paragraph 9.10, the Directors receive no shares or options over shares

in lieu of remuneration or as any form of compensation. However, on 20 March 2017,

4,500,000 options were granted to Paul Johnson, a former Director, whilst in office. The

options are exercisable at an exercise price of 0.75 pence per Ordinary Share until

7 November 2019.

9.13   Save as set out in paragraph 9.10, the Company is not party to any service contract with any

of the Directors which provides for benefits on the termination of any such contract.

9.14   No Director has any accrued pension or retirement benefits. No other material benefits

accrue to the Directors in connection with their appointment.

9.15   The Directors, other than Rolf Gerritsen, have waived their remuneration and future

emoluments.

9.16   As at 28 February 2019, the total aggregate remuneration paid, consultancy fees and

benefits-in-kind granted, to the Directors was £82,500, such payment being made solely to

Rolf Gerritsen.
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9.17   The Directors have not held any directorships of any company (other than the Company and
its subsidiaries) or partnerships within the last five years, except as set forth below:

Name                    Current                                                Past

    

    

    

    

9.18   None of the Directors or Senior Managers:

(A)     has received any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences at any time in the
previous five years;

(B)     has been declared bankrupt or entered into any individual voluntary arrangement at
any time in the previous five years;

Christian

Schaffalitzky

Two Shields Investments plc
Eurasia Mining plc
Eurasia Mining (UK) Ltd
Urals Alluvial Platinum Ltd
Shaffman Agents Ltd
Sloane Developments Ltd
Kibo Energy plc
United Antimony Mines Ltd

East India Devonshire Sports and
Public Schools Club Ltd
Red Crescent Resources Ltd
Mogul of Ireland Limited (voluntary
liquidation)
Tylai Mining Limited
Eurasia Investments Limited
Energy Resources Asia Ltd
Eyessel Metals Limited
Prospex Oil & Gas plc (company
voluntary administration)

Greatland Gold plc
Bletchley Economics

Thor Mining plc
Macquarie Bank Limited
Merrill Lynch Investment Managers

Gervaise

Heddle

Christopher

Latilla-

Campbell

Dougalston Limited
Industrial and Commercial
Holdings Plc
London Finance and Investment
Corporation Limited
Marlands Estates Limited
Biscay Investments Limited
Starmer Limited
Tennyson Dollar Investments
Limited
Tennyson Sterling Investments
Limited
Ukhozi Resources Limited
(formerly Afpenn Resources Ltd)
Frank Watson and Company
Limited
Ukhozi Lupane Developments
(Pvt) Ltd (formerly
Afpenn Lupane Developments
(Pvt) Ltd)

Ukhozi Limited
Casa Renata Ltd
Pinebark Ltd
Suracate Finance Limited
Umganu Ltd
Afpenn Central Africa Ltd

Rolf Gerritsen Strategic Global Minerals Limited
Cobra Resources plc
Pearman Investments LLP
ECRG Limited1

RCA Associates Limited
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(C)     has, at any time in the previous five years, been a director with an executive function
of any company at the time of, or within 12 months preceding, any receivership,
compulsory liquidation, creditors’ voluntary liquidation, administration, company
voluntary arrangement or any composition or arrangement with that company’s
creditors generally or with any class of its creditors, save as set out in paragraph 9.17;

(D)     has, at any time in the previous five years, been a partner in a partnership at the time
of, or within 12 months preceding, any compulsory liquidation, administration or
partnership voluntary arrangement of such partnership;

(E)     has, at any time in the previous five years, had any of his assets the subject of any
receivership or has been a partner of a partnership at the time of, or within 12 months
preceding, any assets thereof being the subject of a receivership; or

(F)     has, at any time in the previous five years, been subject to any public incrimination
and/or sanctions by any statutory or regulatory authorities (including any designated
professional bodies) or has ever been disqualified by a court from acting as a director
or member of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies of a company or
from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of any company.

9.19   The Company entered into an advisory agreement with Cobra in September 2018, through
its indirect Investment Division, to provide advisory services during its application for listing
on the London Stock Exchange. The Company also agreed to assist Cobra with the
implementation and development of its strategy and was awarded 4,166,666 ordinary
shares in the capital of Cobra for its services.

10.     Company’s Share Option Scheme                                                                                        

The Company established the Share Option Scheme on 11 February 2016 for the purpose of
granting 10,000,000 share options to certain Directors at the time: Paul Johnson (4,500,000),
Christopher Latilla-Campbell (3,000,000) and Christian Schaffalitzky (2,500,000). With the
exception of the 4,500,000 options granted to Paul Johnson which are outstanding and may be
exercised up to 7 November 2019, all of the share options were exercised in full on 15 November
2018.

At the date of this document, the Company has 5,000,000 outstanding Director share options
granted to Rolf Gerritsen and all are exercisable at an exercise price of 3 pence per share. The
main features of the options of Rolf Gerritsen and Paul Johnson are summarised below.

Grant of  Option and Exercise Price

The Company granted the right to acquire up to 5,000,000 Shares for Rolf Gerritsen and 4,500,000
for Paul Johnson (each, an “Option”) at the exercise price of 3 pence per share for Rolf Gerritsen
and 0.75 pence per share for Paul Johnson (each, an “Exercise Price”).

The option did not provide an entitlement to acquire any percentage of the share capital of the
Company, other than the percentage that shares actually acquired under the Option represented
at any time. The grant and existence of the Option does not restrict the Company’s freedom to
issue any shares, rights to subscribe for shares, or any other securities, at any time after the date
of the grant (the “Grant Date”) and on such terms as the Company may decide.

Adjustment to Option

If there is any variation of the share capital of the Company (whether that variation is a
capitalisation issue (other than a scrip dividend), rights issue, consolidation, subdivision or
reduction of capital or otherwise) that affects (or may affect) the value of the Option, the Board shall
adjust the number and description of shares subject to the Option or the Exercise Price of the
Option in a manner that the Board, in its reasonable opinion, considers to be fair and appropriate.

Annex I, 17.3,
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Exchange of  Option

In the event that a company obtains control of the Company (the “Acquiring Company”) the
optionholder may, by agreement with the Acquiring Company within a period specified by the
Board, release the Option in exchange for a replacement option.

Exercise of  Option

The Options are exercisable any time after the Grant Date provided such exercise occurs in the
following period:

(A)     if there is an asset sale, the period of 14 days starting with the date on which the contract
for the asset sale becomes unconditional in all respects;

(B)     if there is a share sale or a capital raising, the period of 14 days after the time when the
acquiror has obtained control of the Company; or

(C)     30 April 2021 (in the case of Rolf Gerritsen) or 7 November 2019 (in the case of Paul
Johnson), if none of the events listed above occur before this date.

Lapse of  Option

The optionholder shall not transfer, assign or have any charge or other security interest created
over the Option (or any right arising under it). The Option shall lapse if the optionholder attempts
to do any of these.

If the optionholder ceases to be an employee or director of the Company:

(A)     for any reason, the Board may permit the optionholder to exercise all or any part of the
Option. If the Board does not make such a decision within 21 days after the termination of
the optionholder’s employment or the ceasing to be a director of the Company (or such
longer period as the optionholder and the Board may agree), the Option will lapse; and

(B)     after a share sale, asset sale or capital raising, the optionholder may exercise the Option
during the period specified not more than 14 days after so ceasing.

11.     Placing arrangements

A Placing Agreement dated 17 July 2019 pursuant to the terms of which the Joint Bookrunners
agreed to use their reasonable endeavours to procure placees for all of the Placing Shares at the
Placing Price, as the Company’s agents. The Placing Agreement contains certain warranties and
indemnities from the Company and the Directors in favour of the Joint Bookrunners and is
conditional on:

(a)     the Placing Agreement becoming wholly unconditional (save as to Admission) and not
having been terminated in accordance with its terms prior to Admission; and

(b)     Admission occurring by not later than 8.00 a.m. on 23 July 2019 (or such other time and/or
date as the Joint Bookrunners and the Company may agree).

If Admission does not proceed, the Placing will not proceed and all monies paid will be refunded
to subscribers.

The Placing Shares will, upon issue, rank pari passu with the Ordinary Shares.

The Joint Bookrunners, as the Company’s agents, have procured irrevocable commitments to
subscribe for the full amount of Placing Shares from subscribers in the Placing, and there are no
conditions attached to such irrevocable commitments other than Admission.

The Joint Bookrunners may terminate the agreement in certain circumstances prior to Admission
including, inter alia, if there shall have been a material adverse change or if any of the Directors or
the Company fail to comply in any material respect with any of their respective obligations under
the Placing Agreement.
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The Placing Agreement provides for the Joint Bookrunners to receive, conditional upon Admission
total commission of £30,000.

The Placing is subject to the satisfaction of conditions contained in the Placing Agreement, which
are summarised above, and which will be satisfied prior to Admission, and the Placing Agreement
not having been terminated. In the event that the Placing does not complete, Admission will not
take place. The Company will pay the costs and expenses associated with the Placing, irrespective
of whether Admission takes place. VAT will be payable where appropriate.

The following Directors are participating in the Placing as follows:

                                                                                                                                                   Total
                                                                                                                                        participation
Name                                                                                                   No. of  Placing  at the Placing
                                                                                                                        Shares                Price

Rolf Gerritsen(1)                                                                                          5,000,000           £15,000
Christopher Latilla-Campbell                                                                      3,333,333           £10,000
Gervaise Heddle                                                                                        3,333,333           £10,000
Christian Schaffalitzky                                                                                3,333,333           £10,000

(1)   Held via Pearman Investments LLP

12.     Material contracts                                                                                                                   

The following contracts, not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, have
been entered into by the Company in the two years prior to the date of this document and are or
may be material:

12.1   Broker Agreement

A broker agreement dated 30 January 2018 between the Company and SI Capital, pursuant
to which the Company appointed SI Capital as the Company’s broker as from Admission and
for an initial period of 12 months and continuing thereafter until terminated by either party
giving the other three months’ notice. Pursuant to the broker agreement, the Company has
agreed to pay to SI Capital an annual retainer fee of £15,000 (together with any applicable
VAT) payable quarterly in advance, the first payment being due on the day of Admission.

12.2   Lock-up agreements                                                                                                               

Pursuant to the Placing Agreement, each of the Directors has undertaken to the Company
and the Joint Bookrunners that, subject to certain limited exceptions, he will not dispose of
any Ordinary Shares he holds for a period of 180 days following Admission.

The restrictions on the ability of the Directors to transfer his Ordinary Shares are subject to
certain usual and customary exceptions including: transfers pursuant to the acceptance of,
or provision of an irrevocable undertaking to accept, a general offer made to all Shareholders
on equal terms, transfers pursuant to an offer by or an agreement with the Company to
purchase Ordinary Shares made on identical terms to all Shareholders or transfers as
required by an order made by a court with competent jurisdiction or competent judicial body.

12.3   Gold Ridge Acquisition Agreement

On 25 July 2018, the Company signed the Gold Ridge Acquisition Agreement with Winston
Gold pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase all of the issued and outstanding
shares of Winston Gold’s wholly owned subsidiary, Goldridge Holdings Limited, for cash
payments totalling US$219,220 and the issue of 21,942,576 Ordinary Shares at a fixed price
of 1.75 pence with an overall value of US$500,000 (approximately GBP 384,000) based on
the US$:GBP currency exchange rate prior to the completion announcement date.

Annex III, 7.3
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12.4   Farm-in Letter Agreement

On 26 March 2019, the Company and IMC entered into the Farm-in Letter Agreement,
replacing the terms of the Option Agreement and the Amended Option Agreement entirely.
Under the terms of the Farm-in Letter Agreement, the Company and IMC acknowledge that
the Company has, as at 26 March 2019, made the Initial Payment (US$170,650). Further,
the Company agreed to transfer to IMC the Second Payment (US$400,000) at a date to be
agreed. The Second Payment shall represent the Entitlement, being a 51 per cent. economic
interest in the assets and operations subject to the Mining License. The Second Payment is
to be made using part of the Net Placing Proceeds. In order to maintain the Entitlement, the
Company has also agreed, under the Farm-in Letter Agreement, to pay IMC a further
US$1,989,350 into over 18 months for the sole purpose of funding development costs at the
Uranium Project. This sum shall be paid by way of the Tranche Payments.

IMC shall not be prohibited from entering into discussions with third party investors in
connection with obtaining project finance in relation the Uranium Project.  However, before
making any Project Finance Offer, IMC must offer the same terms to the Company, and the
Company shall have the Right of First Refusal over any Project Finance Offer. If the
Company elects to provide funding equal to the amount of the Project Finance Offer, upon
such funds being received by IMC, the Company and IMC shall commit to increase the
Entitlement over the economic interest in the Uranium Project by way of further agreement
at a date to be agreed between the parties.

If the Company cannot satisfy any of the Tranche Payments as they fall due, the Right of
First Refusal shall not apply. Following any Default, IMC shall have the right, subject to
approval by the Company, to enter into project finance arrangements with third party
investors in relation to the Uranium Project, and the Company and IMC shall commit to re-
distributing the Entitlement (by reference to the then prevailing market value of the Uranium
Project) by way of further agreement accordingly at a date to be agreed between the parties.

12.5   Side Letter

On 2 May 2019, the parliament of the Kyrgyz Republic voted in favour of the Uranium Ban.
The government of Kyrgyzstan has been instructed to draft legislation to put the Uranium
Ban into effect. In response to the Uranium Ban, the Company and IMC entered into the Side
Letter, under which the parties agreed to suspend the Farm-in Letter Agreement and all
obligations of the Company and IMC thereunder for the duration of the Uranium Ban.

Under the Side Letter, the Company and IMC have agreed that IMC will waive the obligation
of the Company to pay the Second Payment and the Tranche Payments. From the effective
date of the Side Letter, and throughout the duration of the Uranium Ban, the Right of First
Refusal shall continue to apply in favour of the Company. If the Uranium Ban continues for
a period of 12 months from the date of the Side Letter, the Company shall have the right to
terminate the Farm-in Letter Agreement in its entirety by written notice to IMC and the
Company shall not be liable for any unpaid payments thereunder.

If, within 12 months of the date of the Side Letter, either (i) the Uranium Ban ceases to be in
force or (ii) the government of the Kyrgyz Republic allows IMC to progress work under the
Mining License pursuant to the Waste Exemption, the Company may, in its sole discretion,
elect to re-enter the Farm-in Letter Agreement, subject to the adjustment, if necessary, of the
Agreed Dates in relation to the Tranche Payments and valuation of the Uranium Project.

The Company and IMC maintain the position that the activities at the Uranium Project of
‘cleaning’ the peat and contained groundwater, which carries high levels of uranium (such
uranium often contaminating the local water supplies), amount to those of processing waste
and accordingly fall under the Waste Exemption. The Company and IMC are currently
discussing this position with the government of the Kyrgyz Republic. 
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13.     Related party transactions                                                                                                     

Save as set out in paragraph 9 of this Part XVI – Additional Information of this document or as
referred to in the financial statements referenced in Part II – Risk Factors of this document, there
are no related party transactions that were entered into by the Company during the period covered
by the financial information referenced in Part III – Important Information of this document and up
to the date of this document.

14.     Employees                                                                                                                               

The total number of employees (including Directors and Senior Managers) employed by the
Company as at 16 July 2019 being the last practicable date prior to publication of this document
was one.

15.     Major Shareholders                                                                                                                 

As at 16 July 2019 (being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this document), and in
addition to the interests of certain Directors, as set out in paragraph 9.3 above, the Company is
aware of the following persons who, directly or indirectly, have or will following Admission have an
interest in 3 per cent. or more of the Company’s issued share capital:

                                                                 Number of
                                                                      Existing  Percentage of                          Percentage of
                                                                    Ordinary      the Existing        Number of    the Enlarged
                                                                       Shares   Issued Share          Ordinary   Issued Share
                                                                   held as at     Capital held     Shares held     Capital held
                                                                     the date          as at the     immediately     immediately
                                                                        of  this      date of  this           following          following
Name                                                         document         document        Admission        Admission

Jim Nominees Limited                             53,027,341            26.07%      56,360,674            18.93%
Buchanan Trading Inc                             24,750,000            12.17%      24,750,000            8.31%
Share Nominees Limited                         22,758,497            11.19%      22,758,497            7.64%
Winston Gold Corp                                  21,942,576            10.79%      21,942,576            7.37%
Peterhouse Capital Limited                                     –                      –      16,666,666            5.59%
Winterflood Securities Limited                 11,287,293              5.55%       11,287,293            3.79%
N Grant                                                                    –                      –      10,000,000            3.35%
C Latilla-Campbell                                                   –                      –        9,333,333            3.13%
Hargreaves Lansdown (Nominees) 
Limited                                                       9,640,364              4.74%                      –                      –
Interactive Investor Services Nominees 
Limited                                                       7,500,000              3.69%                      –                      –
CGWL Nominees Limited                          6,790,442              3.34%                      –                      –
Pershing Nominees Limited                      6,500,000              3.20%                      –                      –

As at 16 July 2019 (being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document), the
Company was not aware of any person or persons who, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally,
exercise or could exercise control over the Company nor is it aware of any arrangements, the
operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change in control of the Company.

Those interested, directly or indirectly, in 3 per cent. or more of the Company’s issued share capital
(as set out above) do not now, and following the Placing and Admission, will not, have different
voting rights from other holders of Ordinary Shares.

16.     Litigation and arbitration proceedings                                                                                 

There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings
which are pending or threatened of which the Company is aware) at any time during the 12 months
preceding this document which may have, or have had a significant effect on the financial position
or profitability of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Annex I, 17.1
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There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any proceedings which are
pending or threatened of which the Company is aware) at any time during the 12 months preceding
this document which may have, or have had a significant effect on the financial position or
profitability of Goldridge Holdings.

17.     Working capital                                                                                                                       

In the opinion of the Company, taking into account the Net Placing Proceeds receivable by the
Company pursuant to the Placing, the working capital available to the Group is sufficient for the
Group’s present requirements, that is, for at least 18 months from the date of this document.

18.     No significant change                                                                                                             

Since 28 February 2019, the following significant developments have occurred:

•         On 2 May 2019, the parliament of the Kyrgyz Republic voted in favour of the Uranium Ban.
The government of Kyrgyzstan has been instructed to draft legislation to put the Uranium
Ban into effect. In response to the Uranium Ban, the Company and IMC entered into the Side
Letter, under which the parties agreed to suspend the Farm-in Letter Agreement and all
obligations of the Company and IMC thereunder for the duration of the Uranium Ban.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position
of the Company since 28 February 2019, being the end of the period for which the last historical
financial statements of the Company were published.

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of Goldridge Holdings
Limited since 31 December 2018, being the end of the period for which the last audited financial
statements of Goldridge Holdings were published.

19.     Dividend policy

The Company currently intends to retain earnings, if any, for use in its future business operations
and expansion. The Company will only pay dividends to the extent that to do so is in accordance
with the Companies Act and all other applicable laws. There can be no assurance that the
Company will declare and pay, or have the ability to declare and pay, any dividends in the future.

20.     Investments in progress

Other than as described above under the paragraph “No Significant Change”, the Company has
no investments in progress.

21.     Net Placing Proceeds

The total costs and expenses relating to the Placing and Admission which are payable by the
Company are estimated to amount to £90,000 (excluding any applicable VAT) and, accordingly, the
Net Placing Proceeds which the Company is expected to raise by the Placing are £193,000.

22.     Consents

22.1   SI Capital and Peterhouse Capital have given and not withdrawn their written consent to the
inclusion in this document of their names and reference thereto in the forms and contexts in
which they appear.

22.2   Edwards Veeder (UK) Limited has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the
inclusion in this document of its name and reference thereto in the forms and contexts in
which it appears. Edwards Veeder has given and not withdrawn its written consent to the
inclusion of its reports in Section A of Part XII – Historical Financial Information of  the Group
and Section A of Part XIII – Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information for the Enlarged
Group of this document and/or extracts therefrom and references thereto and to the
inclusion of its name and references to it in the form and context in which they are included
and has authorized the contents of those parts of this document which comprise its reports.

Annex I, 20.9
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Accordingly, Edwards Veeder (UK) Limited accepts responsibility for such reports for the
purposes of Rule 5.5.3(R)(2)(f) of the Prospectus Rules.

22.3   Saint Barbara LLP has given and not withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion of its
report in relation to the Uranium Project in Part XVIII – Competent Person’s Reports of this
document and/or extracts therefrom and references thereto and to the inclusion of its name,
that of Mr. Philip Alan Jones and references to them in the form and context in which they
are included and has authorised the contents of those parts of this document which
comprise its report. Accordingly, Saint Barbara LLP accepts responsibility for such report for
the purposes of Rule 5.5.3(R)(2)(f) of the Prospectus Rules.

22.4   SRK Exploration Services Limited has given and not withdrawn its written consent to the
inclusion of its report in relation to the Gold Ridge Project in Part XVIII – Competent Person’s
Reports of this document and/or extracts therefrom and references thereto and to the
inclusion of its name, that of Mr. Gareth O’Donovan and references to them in the form and
context in which they are included and has authorised the contents of those parts of this
document which comprise its report. Accordingly, SRK Exploration Services Limited accepts
responsibility for such report for the purposes of Rule 5.5.3(R)(2)(f) of the Prospectus Rules.

23.     CREST

23.1   Any shares in the Company may be issued, held, registered, converted, transferred or
otherwise dealt with in an uncertificated form in accordance with the Regulations and
practices instituted by the operator of the relevant system. Any provisions of the Articles shall
not apply to any uncertificated shares to the extent that such provisions are inconsistent
with:

(A)     the holding of shares in uncertificated form;

(B)     the transfer of the title of shares by means of relevant system; or

(C)     any provision of the Regulations.

23.2   Subject to the Regulations and facilities and requirements of the relevant system, the Board
may, in its absolute discretion, determine the manner in which conversion of certificated
shares into uncertificated shares may be made.

23.3   The Articles contain other provisions in respect of transactions with the shares in the
Company in uncertificated form and generally provide for the modifications of certain
provisions of the Articles so that they can be applied to transactions with shares in the
Company in uncertificated form.

24.     Auditors                                                                                                                                    

Edwards Veeder (UK) Limited, a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, is the auditor of the Company.

25.     General                                                                                                                                     

25.1   The information in this document which has been sourced from third parties has been
accurately reproduced and, so far as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain from
information published by such third parties, no facts have been omitted which would render
the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. Estimates extrapolated from this data
involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various factors, including
those discussed in Part II – Risk Factors of this document.

25.2   Save as set out in this document, there are no patents or licences, industrial, commercial or
financial contracts or new manufacturing processes which are material to the Company’s
business or profitability.
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25.3   There have been no interruptions in the business of the Company, which may have or have
had in the 12 months preceding the publication of this document a significant effect on the
financial position of the Company or which are likely to have a material effect on the
prospects of the Company for the next 12 months.

25.4   Save as disclosed in this document, the Directors are not aware of any trends, uncertainties,
demands, commitments or events that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on the
Company’s prospects in the current financial year.

25.5   The Placing Price represents a premium of 0.29 pence over the nominal value of 0.01 pence
per Placing Share. The premium arising on the Placing amounts to £273,567 in aggregate.

25.6   Save as disclosed in this document, there have been no payments by the Company to
promoters in the two years prior to the date of this document and no fees have been paid in
the 12 months preceding the date of this document (other than to trade suppliers) in the sum
of £10,000 or more in cash or in kind.

25.7   This document does not constitute an offer to sell, or the solicitation of an offer to acquire,
Ordinary Shares in any jurisdiction where such an offer or solicitation is unlawful and is not
for distribution in any jurisdiction in which such distribution is unlawful. The Ordinary Shares
have not been, and will not be, registered under the US Securities Act or under the
applicable securities laws of any state of the US, any province or territory of the Restricted
Jurisdictions and may not be sold, directly or indirectly, within the US or the Restricted
Jurisdictions or to any citizen, national or resident of the US or the Restricted Jurisdictions.

The Company confirms that each of the Competent Person’s Reports in Part XVIII –
Competent Person’s Reports of this document is dated within six months of the date of this
document and that no material changes have occurred since the date of each of the
Competent Person’s Reports the omission of which would make the Competent Person’s
Reports misleading.

The total expenses incurred (or to be incurred) by the Company in connection with
Admission are anticipated to be approximately £90,000.

26.     Availability of documents                                                                                                      

26.1   Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the registered office of the Company
at 1 Ely Place, London EC1N 6RY United Kingdom and at Cooley (UK) LLP, Dashwood,
69 Old Broad Street, London EC2M 1QS, United Kingdom during usual business hours on
any day (except Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays) from the date of this document
until Admission and completion of the Placing:

(A)     the Memorandum and Articles; and

(B)     the consent letters referred to in “Consents” in paragraph 22 of this Part XVI –
Additional Information of this document;

(C)     the reports of Edwards Veeder (UK) Limited, which are set out in Section A of Part
XII – Historical Financial Information of  the Group and Section A of Part XIII –
Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information for the Enlarged Group of this document;
and

(D)     this document.

26.2   In addition, this document will be published in electronic form and be available on the
Company’s website at www.metalnrg.com subject to certain access restrictions applicable to
persons located or resident outside the United Kingdom.

Dated 18 July 2019

ESMA update

para 133(i)(b)

Annex I, 24

LR 2.2.10(2)(a)
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PART XVIII

DEFINITIONS

The following definitions apply throughout this document, unless the context requires otherwise:

“Admission” the admission of the Enlarged Ordinary Share Capital to

Standard Listing and to trading on the Main Market of the

London Stock Exchange.

“Articles” the articles of association of the Company in force from time

to time.

“Audit Committee” a committee of directors of the Company, details of which

appear in Part X – The Directors and Senior Managers of this

document.

“Board” the board of Directors, from time to time.

“Broker” the Company’s corporate broker from time to time, at the date

this document being SI Capital.

“Business Day” a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on

which banks are open for business in London.

in relation to a share, warrant or other security, a share,

warrant or other security, title to which is recorded in the

relevant register of the share, warrant or other security

concerned as being held in certificated form (that is, not in

CREST).

“CIM” Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum.

“Cobra” Cobra Resources plc.

“Companies Act” the UK Companies Act 2006.

“Company” or “MetalNRG” MetalNRG plc, a company incorporated with limited liability in

England and Wales on 20 February 2006, with company

number 05714562.

“Competent Person’s Reports” the Uranium Project Competent Person’s Report and the

Gold Ridge Project Competent Person’s Report, as set out in

Part XVIII – Competent Person’s Reports of this document.

“CRA” Canada Revenue Agency.

“CREST” the paperless settlement system operated by Euroclear

enabling securities to be evidenced otherwise than by

certificates and transferred otherwise than by written

instruments.

“Default Shares” shares held by a Shareholder that has been given notice

under section 793 of the Companies Act and has failed to

give information of their interest in any shares.

“Deferred Shares” the deferred shares of nominal value of 0.49 pence each in

the issued capital of the Company.

“Directors” the directors of the Company, from time to time.

“certificated” or “in certificated

form”
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the disclosure guidance and transparency rules of the FCA

made in accordance with section 73A of the FSMA.

“EEA” the EU, Iceland, Norway and Liechtenstein.

“Enlarged Group” the Group following the completion of the Gold Ridge

Acquisition, the Uranium Project and Admission.

“Enlarged Issued Share Capital” the Existing Ordinary Shares and the Placing Shares.

“EU” the European Union.

“Euroclear” Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited.

“Existing Issued Share Capital” the Existing Ordinary Shares in issue as at the date of this

document.

“Existing Ordinary Shares” 202,868,980 ordinary shares of nominal value 0.01 pence

each in the capital of the Company in issue as at the date of

this document.

“FCA” the UK Financial Conduct Authority.

“FIEA” the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act

No. 25 of 1948).

“Financial Promotions Order” the Financial Services Markets Act 2000 (Financial

Promotion) Order 2005.

“FSMA” the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

the sale and purchase agreement between the Company and

Winston Gold Corp. pursuant to which the Company agreed

to purchase all of the issued and outstanding shares of

Winston Gold Corp.’s wholly owned subsidiary, Goldridge

Holdings Limited.

the report authored by Mr. Gareth O’Donovan of SRK

Exploration Services Limited in respect of the Gold Ridge

Project as set out in Part XVIII – Competent Person’s Reports
of this document.

“Group” the Company and its subsidiaries and subsidiary

undertakings, from time to time.

“HMRC” HM Revenue & Customs.

“Holder” a “holder” for the purposes of the Tax Act.

“IASB” International Accounting Standards Board.

“IFRS” International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted in

the EU.

“ISA” individual savings account.

“ISIN” International Securities Identification Number.

“Joint Bookrunners” SI Capital and Peterhouse Capital.

“LEI” legal entity identifier.

“LIBOR” London Interbank Offered Rate.

“Disclosure Guidance and

Transparency Rules” or “DTRs”

“Gold Ridge Acquisition

Agreement”

“Gold Ridge Project

Competent Person’s Report”
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“Listing Rules” the listing rules of the FCA made in accordance with

section 73A of FSMA.

“LME” London Metal Exchange.

“London Stock Exchange” London Stock Exchange plc.

“Main Market” the main market for listed securities.

“Market Abuse Regulation” Regulation 596/2014 of the European Parliament and of the

Council which came into force in the UK on 3 July 2016.

“Member States” the member states of the EEA.

“NEX Growth Market” NEX Exchange Growth Market.

“Net Placing Proceeds” the funds received by the Company less any expenses paid

or payable in connection with Admission and the Placing.

“New Investing Policy” the Company’s investing policy, as adopted by special

resolution on 11 March 2016, to invest in and/or acquire

companies or projects within the natural resources sector,

with potential for growth or value creation.

“Non-Resident Holders” non-resident Holders for the purposes of the Tax Act.

“OECD” Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development.

“Official List” the Official List of the FCA.

“Ordinary Shares” ordinary shares of nominal value 0.01 pence each in the

issued share capital of the Company.

“Palomino Cobalt Project” an agreement by the Company to acquire cobalt licences in

Western Australia.

“Peterhouse Capital” Peterhouse Capital Limited.

“Placing” the conditional placing by the Joint Bookrunners of the

Placing Shares with investors on the terms and conditions of

the Placing Agreement.

“Placing Agreement” the agreement dated 17 July 2019 and made between the

Company, the Directors and the Joint Bookrunners relating to

the Placing, further details of which are set out in

paragraph 11 of Part XVI – Additional Information of this

document.

“Placing Price” 0.3 pence per Placing Share.

“Placing Shares” 94,333,326 new Ordinary Shares to be allotted and issued in

connection with the Placing.

“Placing Warrants” the 94,333,326 warrants each entitling the holder to acquire

one new Ordinary Share at 0.6 pence, in the terms of which

are outlined in Part XI – Terms of  the Warrants, conditional

upon Admission, and subject to the terms of the Placing

Warrant Instrument.

“Placing Warrant Instrument” the instrument constituting the Placing Warrants executed by

the Company on 17 July 2019.
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“Proposed Amendments” all specific proposals to amend the Tax Act that have been

publicly and officially announced by or on behalf of the

Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof.

“Prospectus Directive” Directive 2003/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the

Council on the prospectus to be published when securities

are offered to the public or admitted to trading.

Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004.

“Prospectus Rules” the prospectus rules of the FCA made in accordance with

section 73A of FSMA.

“QCA” Quoted Companies Alliance.

“Registrar” Computershare Investor Services Limited or any other

registrar appointed by the Company from time to time.

“Registrar Agreement” the registrar agreement dated 19 July 2006, between the

Company and the Registrar.

“Regulation S” Regulation S promulgated under the Securities Act.

“Relevant Member State” each Member State which has implemented the Prospectus

Directive.

“Regulations” the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (SI 2001

No. 3755).

“Resident Holders” Holders, who for the purposes of the Tax Act are, or are

deemed to be, resident in Canada at all relevant times.

“Restricted Jurisdiction” US, Australia, Canada, Japan, South Africa or any other

jurisdiction where such offer or sale would violate the relevant

securities laws of such jurisdiction.

“Reverse Takeover” a reverse takeover as defined in the Listing Rules.

“RIS” a service provided by the London Stock Exchange for the

distribution to the public of announcements and included

within the list maintained at the London Stock Exchange’s

website.

“SDRT” Stamp Duty Reserve Tax.

“Securities Act” the US Securities Act of 1933.

“SEDOL” Stock Exchange Daily Official List.

“Senior Manager” any member of the Company’s senior management team

from time to time.

“Share Dealing Code” the Company’s policy on Directors’, persons discharging

managerial responsibilities and applicable employees’

dealings in securities.

“Shareholder” a person who is registered as a holder of the Ordinary Shares

from time to time.

“Share Option Scheme” the Share Option Scheme summarised in paragraph 10 of

Part XVI – Additional Information of this document.

“Prospectus Directive

Regulation” or “PD Regulation”
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“SI Capital” SI Capital Limited.

“Standard Listing” a listing on the standard segment of the Official List under

Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

“Takeover Code” the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers.

“Takeover Panel” the UK Panel on Takeovers and Mergers.

“Tax Act” Income Tax Act of 1985 (Canada).

“TIDM” Tradeable Instrument Display Mnemonic.

the UK Corporate Governance Code issued by the

UK Financial Reporting Council from time to time.

in relation to a share or other security, a share or other

security, title to which is recorded in the relevant register of

the share or other security concerned as being held in

uncertificated form (that is, in CREST) and title to which may

be transferred by using CREST.

“United Kingdom” or “UK” the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.

“United States” or “US” the United States of America.

the report authored by Mr. Philip Alan Jones of Saint

Barbara LLP in respect of the Uranium Project as set out in

Part XVIII – Competent Person’s Reports of this document.

“VAT” (i) within the EU, any tax imposed by any Member State in

conformity with the Directive of the Council of the European

Union on the common system of value added tax

(2006/112/EC), and (ii) outside the EU, any tax corresponding

to, or substantially similar to, the common system of value

added tax referred to in paragraph (i) of this definition.

References to a “company” in this document shall be construed so as to include any company,

corporation or other body corporate, wherever and however incorporated or established. All

references to legislation in this document are to the legislation of England and Wales unless the

contrary is indicated. Any reference to any provision of any legislation shall include any

amendment, modification, re-enactment or extension thereof. Words importing the singular shall

include the plural and vice versa, and words importing the masculine gender shall include the

feminine or neutral gender. For the purpose of this document, “subsidiary” and “subsidiary

undertaking” have the meanings given by the Companies Act.

“UK Corporate Governance

Code”

“uncertificated” or

“uncertificated form”

“Uranium Project Competent

Person’s Report”
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PART XIX

COMPETENT PERSON’S REPORTS

The Company is required to produce a prospectus in connection with Admission and by

paragraphs 131 to 133 of the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) update of the

Committee of European Securities Regulators (CESR) recommendations in respect of

the consistent implementation of Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 implementing the

Prospectus Directive to include an independent mineral expert report in this document on the

licence interests of the Group along with a glossary of the technical terms used in the mineral

expert’s report.

The Company commissioned Mr. Philip Alan Jones of Saint Barbara LLP to prepare the

independent expert report (referred to as the Uranium Project Competent Person’s Report), which

is set out in full below.

The Company commissioned Mr. Gareth O’Donovan of SRK Exploration Services Limited to

prepare the independent expert report (referred to as the Gold Ridge Project Competent Person’s

Report), which is set out in full below.

Uranium Project Competent Person’s Report                                                                               T-1

Gold Ridge Project Competent Person’s Report                                                                        T-56

Annex I, 23.1

Annex III, 10.3

ESMA

update para 133
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roject cash flow and performance and could potenal ly
lead to project failure.

: T
P

: T
and performance.

: Will probably occur
: May occur
: Unlikely to occur.

Likelihood of risk (within 7 years) Consequence of risk

Likely Medium High High

Possible Low Medium High

Unlikely Low Low Medium
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Risk issue likelihood consequence Likelihood Consequence rating Risk

Resource tonnes and grades significantly not achieved beyond the
limits implied by the JORC resource classifications

Possible Moderate Medium

Orebody continuity Possible Moderate Medium
Non-technical Unlikely Moderate Low
Percolation/hydrological Possible Moderate Medium

Legislative changes Possible Moderate Medium

Commodity price Possible Moderate Medium
Loss of demand Unlikely Major Medium
Inflation increase Possible Moderate Medium
Change in interest rate Possible Moderate Medium
Sovereign risk Possible Moderate Medium

Unexpected unauthorised ecological damage Unlikely Moderate Low
Extra costs in environment restoration Unlikely Minor Low
Contamination of local water system Possible Minor Low

Capital costs Possible Moderate Medium

Operating costs Possible Moderate Medium
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16 Qualifications

16.1 Philip Jones

1. I am a Partner and Consultant of Saint Barbara LLP, a Limited Liability Partnership with its
office located at 9 John Street, London, WC1N 2ES, England.

2. This certificate applies to the technical report titled “Resource Report on Kamushanovskoye
Uranium Project, Republic of Kyrgyzstan” dated August 2012 (the “Technical Report”).

3. I am a qualified Geologist, a Member of the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and
Australian Institute of Geoscientists.

4. I am a graduate of the South Australian Institute of Technology, Adelaide, South Australia
with a B. App. Sc. (Applied Geology)

5. I have practiced my profession continuously since .
6. I have worked as a consultant since 1991 managing and directing the production of

Competent and Qualified Person’s Reports for a variety of metalliferous deposits and
operations, including: gold, iron ore, base metals, rare earth elements and phosphate.

7. I have read the requirements of a “competent person” set out in “AIM Note for Mining and
Oil & Gas Companies – June 2009” and certify that by reason of my education and
professional association (as defined in the AIM Note) and past relevant work experience, I
fulfil the requirements to be a Competent Person for the purposes of the AIM Listing Rules.

8. I, Philip Alan Jones, performed the resource estimates and am responsible for all the sections
of the Technical Report that relate to the data used and resource estimation.

9. I, Philip Alan Jones, have visited the Kamushanovskoye deposit various times between 2007
and 2008.

10. As of the date of this certificate, to the best of my knowledge, information and belief, this
Technical Report contains all technical and scientific information that is required to be
disclosed to make the Technical Report not misleading.

11. I have prepared this Technical Report as an independent consulting geologist and have no
material interest, direct or indirect, in the property discussed in this Technical Report and
have not had any prior involvement with this property prior to working with IMC Invest
(“IMC”) and Contact Resources Limited.

12. I have read AIM Note for Mining and Oil & Gas Companies – June 2009 and this Technical
Report has been prepared in compliance with that note.

13. I am independent of IMC, its directors, senior management and advisers.
14. I consent to the filing of the Technical Report with any stock exchange and other regulatory

authority and any publication by them for regulatory purposes, including electronic
publication in the public company files on their websites accessible by the public, of the
Technical Report.
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MetalNRG plc 
 

STRATEGIC REPORT 
 

2 

The directors present the strategic report for MetalNRG MNRG
28 February 2019. 

 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 
 
The  principal activity during the year was that of a natural resource investing company listed on NEX 
Exchange Growth Market in London. 

 
BUSINESS REVIEW 
 
The Company reviewed a number of relevant projects and focused its attention on a few key strategic transactions 
during the year; the earn agreement with IMC for an advanced uranium project in the Kyrgyz Republic, the 
acquisition of a previously producing gold mine, Gold Ridge, in the U.S.A, specifically in Arizona and the listing 
of Cobra Resources Plc on the standard segment of the London Main market in which the Company holds an equity 
position of 6.2%. 
 
MetalNRG agreed to acquire all the interests of Winston Gold in the project known as Gold Ridge Project, located 
in the Dos Cabezas Mining District, Cochise County, south-eastern Arizona, United States of America. The Project 
consists of approximately 2,305 acres (9.3km2) of tenement including 343 acres of patented mining claims, 112 
company-owned un-patented mining claims; and 12 leased un-patented mining claims. The interests acquired 
include three historical producing gold mines; Gold Prince mine; Gold Ridge mine and Dives mine; each was 
worked over various intervals between discovery in 1877 and 1996.  MetalNRG agreed to acquire 100% of Gold 
Ridge for a total consideration, in cash and shares, of US$700,000 (GBP £529,942). The plan is now to develop 
this opportunity further over the next few years 
 
The second Project the company transacted is in the Kyrgyzstan Republic, Kamushanov community, Sokuluksky 
District and is a uranium recovery project. The last announcement during the financial year in question, on the 24th 
of January 2019 relating to this project, stated that the State Reserve Committee of Kyrgyzstan granted a mining 
license dated 22 January 2019 for 3,371.1 tonnes U reserves (8.731 million lbs U308) which had an in-situ value 
of approximately US$253.1 million at the then current uranium spot prices.  
 
Unfortunately  a further announcement followed after the year end, on the 3rd of May 2019, in which the Company 
suspended the terms of the farm-in agreement with IMC, announced on 27 March 2019 in relation to the 
Kamushanovskoye uranium deposit in Kyrgyzstan with a side letter dated 3 May 2019. This was due to the fact 
that on the 2 May 2019, the parliament of the Kyrgyz Republic voted to ban all uranium exploration and mining in 
Kyrgyzstan indefinitely. The government of Kyrgyzstan has been instructed to draft legislation to put the Uranium 
Ban into effect.  Pursuant to the Side Letter, the parties agreed to suspend the Farm-In Agreement and all obligations 
of MetalNRG and IMC thereunder for the duration of the Uranium Ban.  
 

US$170,650, is 8.5%. We are monitoring the situation and the Government has not as yet published its suggested 
draft law regulating the proposed ban. 
 
During the course of the year MetalNRG agreed to sell its interest in US Cobalt and to receive 21,719,457 shares 
in Tyranna at a nominal value of AU$ 0.017, for the full 15.38% interest MetalNRG holds in US Cobalt. Tyranna 
is a Perth based resources company, listed on the ASX securities exchange, with a market capitalisation of AU$ 
9.36 million, and its shares were trading at AU$ 0.025 per share, 32% above the nominal value MetalNRG has 
agreed to for consideration in its US Cobalt interest when the transaction was completed. Over the course of the 
year the Company has been selling these shares as the Board does not see the investment as a long term investment. 
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METALNRG plc 
 

STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)  
 

 3 

POST YEAR END EVENTS 
 
Admission to the main market: 
Prior to the proposed Uranium Ban, MetalNRG had submitted a draft prospectus to the FCA in connection with its 
application for Admission. Due to the unforeseen nature of the proposed Uranium Ban, the Company is temporarily 
delaying the application for Admission, and will make further announcements in due course. The intention is to 
move the re listing of the company shares forward within the next few months. 
 
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES  
 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

comprise investments, cash at bank and various items such as available for sale 
assets, other debtors, loans and creditors. The Group has not entered into derivative transactions nor does it trade 
financial instruments as a matter of policy.  
 
Credit Risk 
 

cash at bank, other debtors and the risk the counterparty fails to 
discharge its obligations. At 28 February 2019 £35,000 (2018 - £nil) was unpaid for shares in the Company but not 
impaired.  

see note 9) and cash at bank and other debtors, as per the Group. Should 
the subsid . 
  
Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk arises from the management of cash funds and working capital. The risk is that the Group will fail to 
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group operates within the constraints of available funds and 
cash flow projections are produced and regularly reviewed by management. 
 
Interest rate risk profile of financial assets 
 
The only financial assets (other than short term debtors) are cash at bank and in hand, which comprises money at 
call. The interest earned in the year was negligible. The directors believe the fair value of the financial instruments 
is not materially different to the book value. 
 
Foreign currency risk 
 
The Group has an Australian and United States subsidiaries
reported results as a consequence of movements in the sterling/Australian dollar/US dollar exchange rates. The 
Group also incurs costs denominated in foreign currencies which gives rise to short term exchange risk. The Group 
does not currently hedge against these exposures as they are deemed immaterial and there is no material exposure 
as at the year end (2018 - £nil).  
 
Market risk  
 
The Group is also exposed to market risk arising from listed investments which are stated at their fair value.  
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METALNRG plc 
 

STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)  
 

 4 

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

concern 

considering the future capital requirements of the Group and the potential to fund specific project development via 
debt, the directors consider the risk characteristics of all the underlying assets in assessing the optimal capital 
structure. 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors  
and signed on behalf of the Board 
 
 
 
 
Rolf Gerritsen  
Director   
26 June 2019 
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MetalNRG plc 
 

 
 

5 

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of MetalNRG 
MNRG its 28 February 2019. The 

consolidated financial results of the Group include the results of MetalNRG Australia Pty Ltd and Gold Ridge 
Holdings Limited  
 
RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS 
 
The loss of the Group for the year, after taxation, attributable to equity holders of the parent amounted to £238,108 
(2018: £156,917 loss).  
 
The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend (2018: £nil). 
 
DIRECTORS 
 
The directors who served the Company during the year together with their beneficial interests in the shares of the 
Company were as follows: 

 Ordinary Shares 
 of £0.0001 each 
 At 28 Feb 2019    At 28 Feb 2018 
   
C. P. Latilla-Campbell* 36,040,442 29,540,442 
R. Gerritsen 1,150,000 - 
C. Schaffalitzky de Muckadell 4,600,000 2,100,000 
G.R.J. Heddle 15,513,634 9,513,634 

 
Paul Johnson resigned as a director of the Company on 31 July 2018. 
 
Substantial interests 
 
At the date of this report the Company had been notified that, other than directors, the following were interested in 
3% or more of the issued share capital of the Company: 
   
  Ordinary shares of £0.0001 

each 
  Number %age 
    

Jim Nominees Ltd  48,477,341 23.90% 
Share Nominees Ltd  31,515,872 15.54% 
Buchanan Trading Inc*  24,750,000 12.20% 
Winston Gold Corp.  21,942,576 10.82% 
Hargreaves Lansdown (Nominees) Limited  10,324,364 5.09% 
Interactive Investor Services Limited  7,500,000 3.70% 
Hargreave Hale Nominees Limited  6,790,442 3.35% 
Pershing Nominees Limited  6,500,000 3.20% 
Winterflood Securities Limited  6,382,728 3.15% 

    
* Buchanan Trading, Inc is owned by a discretionary Trust in which Mr. Latilla-Campbell is a potential beneficiary. 
 
MATTERS COVERED IN THE STRATEGIC REPORT 

The business review, review of KPI's and details of future developments are included in the Strategic Report. 
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MetalNRG plc 
 

 
 

 6 

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITOR 
 
In the case of each person who was a director at the time this report was approved: 
 so far as that director was aware there was no relevant audit 

was unaware; and 
 that director had taken all steps that the director ought to have taken as a director to make himself or herself 

 was aware of that 
information. 

This information is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of Companies 
Act 2006. 

 
AUDITOR 
 
A resolution to re-appoint the auditor, Edwards Veeder (UK) Limited, will be proposed at the next Annual General 
Meeting.  
 
Approved by the Board of Directors  
and signed on behalf of the Board 
 
 
 
 
Rolf Gerritsen 
Director   
26 June 2019
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MetalNRG plc 
 

 
 

7 

 
 

in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 
 
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial period. Under that law the 
directors have elected to prepare the group and parent company financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and International Financial Reporting Stand
the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. 
Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group 
for that period.  
 
In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to: 
 

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
 make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed subject to any 

material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and  
 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

Company/Group will continue in business. 
 
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 

and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.  
 
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included 

financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.  
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MetalNRG plc 
 

METALNRG PLC 
YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019 

 

8 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of MetalNRG plc 
for the year ended 28 February 2019 which comprise Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and Company Statements of Financial Position, the Consolidated and 
Company Statements of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements and the notes 
to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the parent company financial statements, as 
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
In our opinion: 
 
 

as at 28 February 2019   
 the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 

European Union; 
 the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by 

the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and 
 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. 
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the group and parent company in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the 

 entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
Conclusions relating to going concern  
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report 
to you where:  
 
 the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not 

appropriate; or  
 the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast 

significant doubt about the company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

 
Other information  
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements 

financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our 
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact.  
 
We have nothing to report in this regard.  
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METALNRG PLC 
YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019 (continued) 

 
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006  
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:  
 
 the information given in the strategic report and the directors' report for the financial year for which the financial 

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and  
 the strategic report and the directors' report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 

requirements.  
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception  
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors' report.  
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires 
us to report to you if, in our opinion:  
 
 adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 

branches not visited by us; or  
 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or  
 certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or  
 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.  

 
Responsibilities of directors  
As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control 
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, wh
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK), we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.  
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METALNRG PLC 
YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019 (continued) 

 
 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 

cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.  
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 
 
Use of our report  
This report is made solely to th Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006. 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor  To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the parent company 

ns we have 
formed. 
 
 
 
 
 
Mr Lee Lederberg (Senior Statutory Auditor)  
For and on behalf of  
Edwards Veeder (UK) Limited  
Chartered accountant & statutory 
auditor  
4 Broadgate  
Broadway Business Park  
Chadderton  
Oldham  
OL9 9XA  
 
 
 
26 June 2019 
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 Note 2019 2018 
  £ £ 
Revenue  - - 
Cost of sales  - - 
Gross loss  - - 
Administrative expenses  (249,692) (157,037) 
Other operating income  11,279 - 

Operating loss 2 (238,413) (157,037) 
Finance income  305 120 

Loss before tax  (238,108) (156,917) 
Taxation 4 - - 

Loss for the year   (238,108) (156,917) 

    

Attributable to:    
Equity holders of the parent  (238,108) (156,917) 
 
Loss per ordinary share     

Basic 6 (0.14) pence (0.11) pence 

Diluted 6 (0.12) pence (0.09) pence 
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  2019 2018 
  £ £ 
Loss after tax  (238,108) (156,917) 
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or 
loss:     

- Foreign exchange movements   1,127 - 
Total comprehensive loss attributable to equity holders 
of the parent  (236,981) (156,917) 
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 Note 2019 2018 
  £ £ 
Non-current assets    
Intangible fixed assets 8 621,151 - 
Investments 8 168,919 175,433 

Available for sale assets 8 107,800 - 

Total non-current assets  897,870 175,433 

    
Current assets    

Trade and other receivables 10 190,650 2,396 
Cash and cash equivalents 11 24,168 209,673 
Total current assets  214,818 212,069 
    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 12 (178,473) (14,014) 

Total current liabilities  (178,473) (14,014) 
    

Net assets  934,215 373,488 

    
Capital and reserves    

Called up share capital 13 257,114 250,709 
Share premium account   1,886,524 1,095,221 
Retained losses   (1,210,550) (972,442) 
Foreign currency reserve   1,127 - 
Total equity   934,215 373,488 
 
These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2019. 
 
 
 
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors 
Rolf Gerritsen 
Director 
 
Company No. 05714562 
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 Note 2019 2018 
  £ £ 
Non-current assets    
Investments 7 168,919 175,433 
Available for sale assets 7 107,800 - 
Investment in subsidiaries 9 590,650 - 

Total non-current assets  867,369 175,433 
    
Current assets    
Trade and other receivables 10 190,545 2,396 
Cash and cash equivalents 11 23,846 209,673 
Total current assets  214,391 212,069 
    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 12 (139,535) (14,014) 

Total current liabilities  (139,535) (14,014) 
    

Net assets  942,225 373,488 

    
Capital and reserves    
Called up share capital 13 257,114 250,709 
Share premium account  1,886,524 1,095,221 
Warrant reserve  - - 
Retained losses  (1,201,413) (972,442) 

Equity   942,225 373,488 
 
 
The loss of the parent company for the year was £228,971 (2018 - £156,917).  
 
These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2019. 
 
 
 
 
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors 
Rolf Gerritsen 
Director 
 
Company No. 05714562 
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MetalNRG plc 

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019 

  
 Share Share Profit and Foreign Total 
  capital premium loss currency  
    reserve  
      
 £ £ £ £ £ 
At 1 March 2017 243,563 715,361 (815,525) - 143,399 
      
Loss for the period  - - (156,917) - (156,917) 
Translation differences - - - - - 
Comprehensive loss for 
the period  - - (156,917) - (156,917) 

      
Shares and warrants 
issued  7,146 379,860 - - 387,006 

Equity settled share based 
payments - - - - - 

At 28 February 2018 250,709 1,095,221 (972,442) - 373,488 
      
Loss for the period  - - (238,108) - (238,108) 
Translation differences - - - 1,127 1,127 
Comprehensive loss for 
the period - - (238,108) 1,127 (236,981) 

      
Shares issued  6,405 791,303 - - 797,708 
Equity settled share based 
payments - - - - - 

Transfer on expiry of 
warrants - - - - - 

At 28 February 2019 257,114 1,886,524 (1,210,550) 1,127 934,215 
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019 
  

 Share Share Profit and Total 
  capital premium loss  
     
     
 £ £ £ £ 
At 1 March 2017 243,563 715,361 (815,525) 143,399 
     
Loss for the period  - - (156,917) (156,917) 
Comprehensive loss for the period - - (156,917) (156,917) 
     
Shares and warrants issued  7,146 379,860 - 387,006 
Equity settled share based payments - - - - 
     
At 28 February 2018 250,709 1,095,221 (972,442) 373,488 
     
Loss for the period  - - (228,971) (228,971) 
Comprehensive loss for the period - - (228,971) (228,971) 
     
Shares issued  6,405 791,303 - 797,708 
Equity settled share based payments - - - - 
     
At 28 February 2019 257,114 1,886,524 (1,201,413) 942,225 
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 Note 2019 2018 
  £ £ 
    
Cash flows from operating activities      

Loss for the period  (238,108) (156,917) 
Profit on sale of investment  (11,279) - 
Shares received in lieu of fees  (62,500) - 
Impairment investments  92,878 - 
Finance income  (305) (120) 

Increase in creditors  129,078 20,785 
(Increase)/decrease in debtors  (153,254) 5,706 

Net cash used in operating activities  (243,490) (130,546) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    
Payments for intangible assets 8 (621,251) - 
Creditors on acquisition  37,927 - 
Proceeds from sale of investment  26,118 - 
Purchase of investments 7 (147,822) (175,433) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (705,028) (175,433) 
    

Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from the issue of shares and warrants   762,708 387,006 
Interest received  305 120 

Net cash generated from financing activities  763,013 387,126 
    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (185,505) 81,147 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  209,673 128,526 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 11 24,168 209,673 
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 Note 2019 2018 
  £ £ 
    
Cash flows from operating activities      

Loss for the period  (228,970) (156,917) 
Profit on sale of investment  (11,279) - 
Share received in lieu of fees  (62,500) - 
Impairment of investments  92,878 - 
Finance income  (305) (120) 

(Increase)/decrease in debtors  (153,149) 20,785 
Increase in creditors  125,521 5,706 

Net cash used in operating activities  (237,804) (130,546) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    
Loans to subsidiaries 7 (6,282) - 
Investment in subsidiary 7 (583,049) - 
Proceeds from sale of investments  26,118 - 
Purchase of investments  7 (147,822) (175,433) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (711,035) (175,433) 
    

Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from the issue of shares and warrants   762,708 387,006 
Interest received  305 120 

Net cash generated from financing activities  763,013 387,126 
    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (185,827) 81,147 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  209,673 128,526 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 11 23,846 209,673 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
General information 
 
The Company is a public company limited by shares which is incorporated in England. The registered 
office of the Company is 1 Ely Place London EC1N 6RY, United Kingdom. The registered number of the 
Company is 05714562. 
 
Statement of compliance 
 
The Historical Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with IFRS, including interpretations 
made by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) as adopted by European 
Union issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The standards have been applied 
consistently. 
 
The Historical Financial Information is presented in pounds sterling. 
 
Accounting policies 
Basis of preparation 
The Historical Financial Information has been prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified by the 
revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities and investment properties measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. 

The Historical Financial Information is prepared in pounds sterling, which is the functional currency of 
the Company. 
 

   Transition to IFRS 
 

   The entity transitioned from previous FRS102 to IFRS as at 1 March 2017. Details of how IFRS has 
affected the reported financial position and financial performance is given in note 19. 
 

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet applied 
(i) New and amended standards mandatory for the first time for the financial period 
beginning 01 March 2018 

There were no IFRS or IFRC interpretations that were effective for the first time for the financial 
period beginning 1 March 2018 that had a material impact on the Company. 

(ii) New standards, amendments and Interpretations in issue but not yet effect of not 
yet endorses and not early adopted 

The standards and interpretations Impact on initial application Effective date 
IFRS 16 
Annual Improvements 
IFRIC 23 

Leases 
2015  2017 Cycle 
Uncertainty over Income Tax 

1 January 2019 
1 January 2019 
1 January 2019 

 
Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company 
and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually 
defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

 
Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and companies 
controlled by the Company, the Subsidiary Companies, drawn up to 28 February each year. 
 
Control is recognised where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of 
an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed 
of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date of acquisition 
or up to the effective date of disposal, where appropriate.  
 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting 
policies used into line with those used by the Group. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and 
expenses are eliminated on consolidation. Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated 

 
 
Non-controlling interests consist of the amounts of those interests at the date of the original business 
combination and the  
 
Short term debtors and creditors 
Debtors and creditors with no stated interest rate and receivable or payable within one year are recorded 
at transaction price. Any losses arising from impairment are recognised in the income statement in 
other operating expenses. 
 
Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
The preparation of the Historical Financial Information requires the Directors to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported. These estimates and judgements are 
continually reviewed and are based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Accounting estimates and assumptions are made concerning the future and, by their nature, may not 
accurately reflect the related actual outcome. There are no key assumptions and other sources of estimation 
uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
 
Foreign currencies 
For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each Group 
entity are expressed in pounds sterling, which is the presentation currency for the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the 

al currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising are included in the 
profit or loss for the period. 
 

foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date. Income and expense 
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. Gains and losses from exchange 
differences so arising are shown through the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity. 

 
Investments 
Fixed asset investments are initially recorded at cost, and subsequently stated at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Listed investments are measured at fair value with changes in fair value being recognised in profit or loss. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
 
Impairment of fixed assets 
A review for indicators of impairment is carried out at each reporting date, with the recoverable amount 
being estimated where such indicators exist. Where the carrying value exceeds the recoverable 
amount, the asset is impaired accordingly. Prior impairments are also reviewed for possible reversal at 
each reporting date. 

For the purposes of impairment testing, when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, an estimate is made of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs. The cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that includes the asset 
and generates cash inflows that largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of 
assets. 

For impairment testing of goodwill, the goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Company are 
assigned to those units. 
 
Intangible assets 

Trademarks, licences and customer contracts, Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown at 
historical cost. Trademarks, licenses and customer contracts acquired in a business combination are 
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a finite useful life and are subsequently carried 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

 
Impairment of intangible assets  

 Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are 
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they 
might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 

 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are 
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

 
Financial instruments 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in 
the assets of the entity after deducting all of its financial liabilities. 

Where the contractual obligations of financial instruments (including share capital) are equivalent to a 
similar debt instrument, those financial instruments are classed as financial liabilities. Financial liabilities 
are presented as such in the balance sheet. Finance costs and gains or losses relating to financial liabilities 
are included in the profit and loss account. Finance costs are calculated so as to produce a constant rate 
of return on the outstanding liability. 

Where the contractual terms of share capital do not have any terms meeting the definition of a financial 
liability then this is classed as an equity instrument. Dividends and distributions relating to equity 
instruments are debited direct to equity. 
 
Financial liabilities 
The Directors determine the classification of the  financial liabilities at initial recognition. The 
financial liabilities held comprise other payables and accrued liabilities and these are classified as loans 
and receivables. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 
The Company considers any cash on short-term deposits and other short term investments to be cash equivalents. 

 
Share capital 
The  ordinary shares of nominal value 0.01 pence each Ordinary Shares  are recorded at 
such nominal value and proceeds received in excess of the nominal value of Ordinary Shares issued, if any, are 
accounted for as share premium. Both share capital and share premium are classified as equity. Costs incurred 
directly to the issue of Ordinary Shares are accounted for as a deduction from share premium, otherwise they 
are charged to the income statement. 

 
Current and deferred income tax 
The tax charge represents tax payable less a credit for deferred tax. The tax payable is based on profit for the 
year. Taxable profit differs from the loss for the year as reported in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 
years and it further excludes items of income or expense that are never taxable or deductible. The  
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
Statement of Financial Position date. 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the Historical Financial Information and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 
and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 
Going concern 
The Historical Financial Information has been prepared on the assumption that the group will continue as a 
going concern. Under the going concern assumption, an entity is ordinarily viewed as continuing in business 
for the foreseeable future with neither the intention nor the necessity of liquidation, ceasing trading or seeking 
protection from creditors pursuant to laws or regulations. In assessing whether the going concern assumption is 
appropriate, the Directors take into account all available information for the foreseeable future, in particular for 
the twelve months from the date of approval of the Historical Financial Information. 

Following the review of ongoing performance and cash flows, the Directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the group has adequate resources to continue operational existence for the foreseeable future. 

 
2. OPERATING LOSS 
  2019 2018 
  £ £ 
This is stated after charging/(crediting):    
Impairment of debtors  - 17,750 
Gain on foreign exchange  - 13,114 
Profit on disposal of investments  (11,279) - 
Impairment of investments  92,878 - 

    
- audit services  7,860 5,940 
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3.  
 
There were no employees during the period apart from the directors, who are the key management personnel. No 
directors had benefits accruing under money purchase pension schemes. 
 
Group and Company   2019 2018 
  £ £ 

    
Fees  67,500 20,000 
Salaries  15,000 - 
  82,500 20,000 
Social security costs  - - 
Key management personnel remuneration   82,500 20,000 
    
Average number of employees  1 - 
 
4. INCOME TAXES 
 
a) Analysis of charge in the period 
 

 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
United Kingdom corporation tax at 19% (2018: 19%) - - 
Deferred taxation - - 
 - - 

 
b) Factors affecting tax charge for the period 
 
The tax assessed on the loss on ordinary activities for the year differs from the standard rate of corporation tax in 
the UK of 19% (2018: 19%). The differences are explained below: 
 
 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax (238,108) (156,917) 

   
(Loss)/profit multiplied by standard rate of tax (45,241) (29,814) 
Effects of:   
Losses carried forward not recognised as deferred tax assets 45,241 29,814 

 - - 
 
5. COMPANY LOSS FOR THE YEAR 
 
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption allowed under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and 
has not included its own income statement and statement of comprehensive income in these financial statements. 

 to £228,971 (2018: £156,917 loss). 
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6. LOSS PER SHARE 
 
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributed to ordinary shareholders of £238,108 (2018: 
£156,917 loss) by the weighted average number of shares of 169,015,298 (2018: 138,826,404) in issue during the 
year. The diluted loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributed to ordinary shareholders of £238,108 
(2018: £156,917) by the weighted average number of shares including the total number of options and warrants 
outstanding of 37,450,000 (2018: 42,500,000). 
 
7. NON CURRENT ASSETS 
 
 Available for sale Investments Subsidiaries Loans Total 
Company £ £ £ £ £ 
At 1 March 2017 - - - - - 
Additions - 175,433 - - 175,433 
Foreign exchange movements - - - - - 
Impairment - - - - - 
At 28 February 2018 - 175,433 - - 175,433 
Additions 265,658 147,822 583,049 6,281 1,002,810 
Foreign exchange movements - - - - - 
Transfer - (1,320) 1,320 - - 
Disposals (64,980) (153,017) - - (217,997) 
Impairment (92,878) - - - (92,878) 
At 28 February 2019 107,800 168,919 584,369 6,281 867,368 
 
8. NON CURRENT ASSETS 
 
 Available for sale Investments Intangible fixed assets Total 
Group £ £ £ £ 
At 1 March 2017 - - - - 
Additions - 175,433 - 175,433 
Foreign exchange movements - - - - 
Impairment - - - - 
At 28 February 2018 - 175,433 - 175,433 
Additions 265,658 147,822 621,151 1,034,631 
Foreign exchange movements - - - - 
Transfer - (1,320) - (1,320) 
Disposals (64,980) (153,017) - (217,997) 
Impairment (92,878) - - (92,878) 
At 28 February 2019 107,800 168,919 621,151 897,870 
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9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS 
 

 Investments Loans Total 
Company £ £ £ 
At 1 March 2017 - - - 
Additions - - - 
Foreign exchange movements - - - 
Provision for impairment - - - 
At 28 February 2018 - - - 
Additions 584,369 6,281 590,650 
Foreign exchange movements - - - 
Provision for impairment - - - 
At 28 February 2019 584,369 6,281 590,650 

 
At 28 February 2019 the Company held the following interests in subsidiary undertakings, which are included in 
the consolidated financial statements and are unlisted. 

Name of company 
Country of 
incorporation 

Proportion 
held Business 

MetalNRG Australia (PTY) Ltd Australia 100% Exploration 
Gold Ridge Holdings Limited United States 100% Mining 
 
 

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

 

The 
Group 

2019 

The 
Group 

2018 

The 
Company 

2019 

The 
Company 

2018 
Current £ £ £ £ 
Subscription for shares 35,000 - 35,000 - 
Prepayments and accrued income 155,148 2,295 155,148 2,295 
Other debtors 502 101 397 101 
 190,650 2,396 190,545 2,396 

 
The fair value of trade and other receivables approximates to their book value. 
 
11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 

 

The 
Group 

2019 

The 
Group 

2018 

The 
Company 

2019 

The 
Company 

2018 
  £ £ £ £ 
Cash at bank and in hand 24,168 209,673 23,846 209,673 

 24,168 209,673 23,846 209,673 
 
The fair value of cash at bank is the same as its carrying value. 
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12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  
 

 

The 
Group 

2019 

The 
Group 

2018 

The 
Company 

2019 

The 
Company 

2018 
Current £ £ £ £ 
Trade creditors 162,355 6,945 124,428 6,945 
Social Security 3,944 - 3,944 - 
Accruals and deferred income 12,174 7,069 11,163 7,069 
 178,473 14,014 139,535 14,014 
 
The fair value of trade and other payables approximates to their book value. 
 
13. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL  
 
 2019 2019 2018 2018 
 Number  Number  
 of shares £ of shares £ 
Authorised share capital     
Ordinary shares of £0.0001  5,131,730,000 513,173 5,131,730,000 513,173 
Deferred shares of £0.0049  48,332,003 236,827 48,332,003 236,827 
Total 5,180,062,003 750,000 5,180,062,003 750,000 
 
 2019 2019 2018 2018 
 Number  Number  
 of shares £ of shares £ 
Issued, called up and fully paid     
Ordinary shares of £0.0001  202,868,980 20,287 138,826,404 13,883 
Deferred shares of £0.0049  48,332,003 236,827 48,332,003 236,827 
Total 251,200,983 257,114 187,158,407 250,709 
 
During the year the company issued ordinary shares as follows:  

 
Number of 

shares  
Proceeds of 

issue 
  £ 
13 April 2018  partial consideration for acquisition of Palomino licence  2,500,000 37,500 
13 April 2018  placing for cash  2,500,000 50,000 
8 June 2018  warrant and options exercise  18,750,000 172,500 
5 November 2018  partial consideration for acquisition of Gold Ridge Holdings 
Ltd 

 
21,942,576 

 
383,995  

15 November 2018  placing for cash, Director options 18,200,000 159,500 
18 December 2018  placing for cash 150,000 3,000 
Total 64,042,576 806,495 
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13. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL, continued 
 
As at 28 February 2019 MNRG had 37,450,000 warrants and options outstanding. 
 
At the year-end there were the following directors share options: 
 

4,500,000 exercisable share options held by directors on ordinary shares of £0.0001 each at an exercise 
price of £0.0075 per share. These expire on 7 November 2019. 

 
5,000,000 exercisable share options held by directors on ordinary shares of £0.0001 each at an exercise 
price of £0.03 per share. These expire on 23 February 2021. 

 
At the year-end there were the following share warrants: 
 

2,500,000 exercisable share warrants held by directors on ordinary shares of £0.0001 each at an exercise 
price of £0.03 per share. These expire on 30 March 2021. 
 
15,750,000 exercisable share warrants on ordinary shares of £0.0001 each at an exercise price of £0.03 per 
share. These expire on 8 June 2020. 

 
9,700,000 exercisable share warrants on ordinary shares of £0.0001 each at an exercise price of £0.02 per 
share. These expire on 15 November 2020. 

 
Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote in any circumstances. Each ordinary share is entitled pari passu to 
dividend payments or any other distribution and to participate in a distribution arising from a winding up of the 
Company. 
 
Each deferred share has no voting rights and is not entitled to receive a dividend or other distribution. Deferred 
shares are only entitled to receive the amount paid up after the holders of ordinary shares have received the sum of 
£1 million for each ordinary share, and the deferred shares have no other rights to participate in the assets of the 
Company. 
 
14. RESERVES 
 

 
 
Share premium: Amounts subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value less costs of issue.  
 
Profit and loss account: This reserve records retained earnings and accumulated losses. 
 
Foreign currency reserve: Gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of the Group into pounds sterling. 
 
15. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS  
 
As at 28 February 2019, the Group / Company had no capital commitments (2018: £nil).  
 
16. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  
 
There were no contingent liabilities at 28 February 2019 (2018: £nil). 
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17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
There is no individual with ultimate overall control of the Company. 
 
C.P. Latilla-Campbell is a director and shareholder of the Company and also a director and sole shareholder of 
London Finance & Investment Corporation Limited (LFIC). Accountancy charges incurred by the Company 
amounting to £3,000 (2018: £3,750) represent proportional recharges in respect of the time spent on Company 
business by the LFIC company accountant. At the year end there was £nil (2018: £250) outstanding to LFIC. 
 
R Gerritsen is a director and shareholder of the Company. During the year he provided consultancy services 
totalling £67,500 (2018: £20,000) in respect of his fees as a director of the Company.  
 
R Gerritsen is a director of AIM listed Company Cobra Resources plc. On 15 November 2018 the Company entered 

provide advisory services to Cobra Resources plc during its admission to the main market on the London Stock 
Exchange. MetalNRG plc was entitled to a fee in connection with Admission to be satisfied by the issued of 
4,166,666 new ordinary shares in Cobra Resources plc, amounting to £62,500.  
 
18. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
 
Admission to the main market 
 
Prior to the proposed Uranium Ban, MetalNRG had submitted a draft prospectus to the FCA in connection with its 
application for Admission. Due to the unforeseen nature of the proposed Uranium Ban, the Company is temporarily 
delaying the application for Admission, and will make further announcements in due course. The intention is to 
move the re listing of the company shares forward within the next few months. 
 
19. TRANSITION TO IFRS 
 
These are the first financial statements that comply with IFRS. The company transitioned to IFRS on 1 March 2017. 
 
No transitional adjustments were required in equity or profit or loss for the year 

F-31

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:42



F-32

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-33

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-34

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-35

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-36

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-37

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



•

•

•

•

•

•

F-38

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-39

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



•

•

•

•

•

F-40

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



•

•

•

•

•

•

F-41

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



•

•

•

•

•

F-42

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-43

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-44

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-45

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-46

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-47

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-48

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-49

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-50

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-51

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-52

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-53

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-54

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



F-55

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:44



COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER: 05714562

MetalNRG PLC

Financial Statements
28 February 2017

Contents Page

Officers and professional advisers   1

Strategic report   2

Directors' report   4

Independent auditor's report to the members   7

Statement of comprehensive income   9

Statement of financial position 10

Statement of changes in equity 11

Statement of cash flows 12

Accounting policies 13

Notes to the financial statements 14

The board of directors C.P. Latilla-Campbell
C. Schaffalitzky de Muckadell
P. Johnson
G.R.J. Heddle

Company secretary City Group Plc

Registered office 6 Middle Street
London
EC1A 7JA

Auditor Edwards Veeder (UK) Limited

F-56

172326      Proof 5 Thursday, July 18, 2019 07:45



Chartered accountant & statutory auditor
4 Broadgate
Broadway Business Park
Chadderton
Oldham
OL9 9XA

Bankers Lloyds TSB Bank plc
39 Threadneedle Street
London
EC2R 8PT

Solicitors Edwin Coe
2 Stone Buildings
Lincoln's Inn
London
WC2A 2TH

Business review

The principal activity of the company during the year was that of an investment holding company.

The results for the year are a reflection of the minimal cost of keeping your company administered 
whilst continuing searching for suitable opportunities. The actual costs were £45,730 (2016:36,862) 
adjusted for currency gains £16,147 (2016: £13,277).  Your directors have maintained most funds in 
US dollars as that is the currency they anticipate any deal is likely to be conducted in.

During the year the Company continued to restructure the business and alongside this restructuring 
investigate potential investments in line with the Company's stated investing policy.

Paul Johnson, then CEO of Metal Tiger plc, became a Non-Executive Director of MetalNRG in March 
2016 to assist with business development alongside Chairman Christopher Latilla Campbell and Non-
Executive Director Christian Schaffalitzky. The board continues to waive their fees until a suitable 
investment opportunity is identified.

At the General Meeting in March 2016 shareholders approved a capital reorganisation and the 
implementation of a new Investing Policy.  This Investing Policy includes the following:

'to invest in and/or acquire companies and/or projects within the natural resources and/or energy 
sector with potential for growth and value creation, over the medium to long term. The Company will 
also consider opportunities in other related sectors if the Board considers there is an opportunity to 
generate an attractive return for Shareholders. This will include natural resource technologies and 
fintech opportunities offering leverage to resource identification, processing, recording, storage and 
trading businesses'

Post year end events

Since 28 February 2017, the following post year end events have taken place.

- On March 6 2017 Paul Johnson became CEO of MetalNRG plc and on March 20 2017 Gervaise 
Heddle, CEO of Greatland Gold plc became a Non-Executive Director;

- Also on March 20 2017 the Company undertook a strategic financing raising £342,500 in which 
director contributions were £50,000;

- On March 31 2017 the Company appointed SI Capital as its corporate broker and on June 21 2017 
Peterhouse Corporate Finance Limited as its NEX Exchange Corporate Adviser.  The change of 
advisers was undertaken to ensure the Company has the correct advisory network necessary during 
the planned aggressive growth of the business;

- The work of the Company to identify suitable opportunities has accelerated in 2017 and it is 
anticipated that various market updates will be issued in the near term with further information.  Of 
particular note the Company is actively involved with commercial discussions surrounding various 
cobalt copper/zinc and resource based fintech related opportunities.

Principal risks and uncertainties
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The principal risks and uncertainties facing the company are general and economic risks, specifically 
currency exchange and liquidity risk. Currency exchange risk is managed by holding funds in US 
dollars, and monitoring closely exchange fluctuations which could affect those funds. Liquidity risk is 
managed by the control of expenditure, but is ultimately dependent on the success of any future viable 
investment projects.

This report was approved by the board of directors on 29 June 2017 and signed on behalf of the board 
by:

C. Schaffalitzky de Muckadell City Group Plc
Director Company Secretary

Registered office:
6 Middle Street
London
EC1A 7JA

The directors present their report and the financial statements of the company for the year ended 
28 February 2017.

The directors and their interests in the shares of the company

The directors who served the company during the year were as follows:
Ordinary shares

of £0.0001 each of £0.005 each
28 February 2017 29 February 2016

C.P. Latilla-Campbell 5,290,442 5,290,442
C. Schaffalitzky de Muckadell 100,000 100,000
P. Johnson (appointed 11 March 2016) 9,513,634
J.C.W. De Thierry (resigned 22 March 2016) 2,300,000

============================================== ==============================================

Dividends

The loss for the year amounted to £37,893 (2016: £23,585). The directors have not recommended a 
dividend.

Substantial interests

At the date of the report the Company had been notified that, other than directors, the following were 
interested in 3% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

 No of Ordinary 
shares of 

£0.0001 each          %age
Somers Investments Limited 21,250,000 15.64
Credit Suisse Client Nominees (UK) Limited 7,500,000 5.52

============================================== =========================

Somers Investments Limited is controlled by a discretionary trust, of which C.P. Latilla-Campbell is a 
potential beneficiary.

Disclosure of information in the strategic report
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In accordance with section 414C(11) of the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors' 
Report) Regulations 2013 the information required by Schedule 7 of the Large and Medium sized 
Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 has been included in the 
company's Strategic Report.

Directors' responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the strategic report, directors' report and the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that 
law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). 
Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and the profit or loss of the 
company for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Auditor

Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

• so far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditor is 
unaware; and 

• they have taken all steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make themselves aware 
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that 
information.

This report was approved by the board of directors on 29 June 2017 and signed on behalf of the board 
by:

C. Schaffalitzky de Muckadell City Group Plc
Director Company Secretary

Registered office:
6 Middle Street
London
EC1A 7JA

We have audited the financial statements of MetalNRG PLC for the year ended 28 February 2017 
which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial position, statement of 
changes in equity, statement of cash flows and the related notes. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 ''The 
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Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland''.

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with chapter 3 of part 
16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our 
responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us 
to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the company's circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the 
financial and non-financial information in the strategic report and the directors' report to identify 
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is 
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us 
in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 28 February 2017 and of its 
loss for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the strategic report and the directors' report for the financial 
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires 
us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not 
been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Mr Lee Lederberg (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of
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Edwards Veeder (UK) Limited
Chartered accountant & statutory auditor
4 Broadgate
Broadway Business Park
Chadderton
Oldham
OL9 9XA

29 June 2017

2017 2016
Note £ £

Administrative expenses 37,983 23,585
---------------------------- ----------------------------

Operating loss 3 (37,983) (23,585)

---------------------------- ----------------------------

Loss before taxation (37,983) (23,585)

Tax on loss 5 – –
---------------------------- ----------------------------

Loss for the financial year and total comprehensive income (37,983) (23,585)
============================ ============================

Earnings per share
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (pence per share) 6 (0.06p) (0.05p)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (pence per share) 6 (0.05p) (0.05p)

================== ==================

All the activities of the company are from continuing operations.

2017  2016
Note £ £ £

Current assets
Debtors 7 23,181 18,750
Cash at bank and in hand 128,526 123,127

-------------------------------- --------------------------------

151,707 141,877

Creditors: amounts falling due within one 
year 8 8,308 10,499

-------------------------------- --------------------------------

Net current assets 143,399 131,378
-------------------------------- --------------------------------

Total assets less current liabilities 143,399 131,378
-------------------------------- --------------------------------

Net assets 143,399 131,378
================================ ================================

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 9 243,563 241,660
Share premium account 10 715,361 667,260
Profit and loss account 10 (815,525) (777,542)

-------------------------------- --------------------------------

Members funds 143,399 131,378
================================ ================================

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 29 
June 2017, and are signed on behalf of the board by:

C. Schaffalitzky de Muckadell
Director

Company registration number: 05714562
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Called up 
share 

capital

Share 
premium 
account

Profit and 
loss 

account Total
£ £ £ £

At 1 March 2015 241,660 667,260 (753,957) 154,963

Loss for the year (23,585) (23,585)
-------------------------------- -------------------------------- -------------------------------- --------------------------------

Total comprehensive income for the 
year – – (23,585) (23,585)

At 29 February 2016 241,660 667,260 (777,542) 131,378

Loss for the year (37,983) (37,983)
-------------------------------- -------------------------------- -------------------------------- --------------------------------

Total comprehensive income for the 
year – – (37,983) (37,983)

Issue of shares 1,903 48,101 – 50,004
----------------------- ---------------------------- -------------- ----------------------------

Total investments by and distributions 
to owners 1,903 48,101 – 50,004

-------------------------------- -------------------------------- -------------------------------- --------------------------------

At 28 February 2017 243,563 715,361 (815,525) 143,399
================================ ================================ ================================ ================================

2017 2016
£ £

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the financial year (37,983) (23,585)

Adjustments for:
Accrued income (113) (588)

Changes in:
Trade and other debtors (4,431) (1,707)
Trade and other creditors (2,078) 1,879

---------------------------- ----------------------------

Cash generated from operations (44,605) (24,001)
---------------------------- ----------------------------

Net cash used in operating activities (44,605) (24,001)
============================ ============================

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 50,004 –

---------------------------- ----------------------------

Net cash from financing activities 50,004 –
============================ ============================

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,399 (24,001)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 123,127 147,128

-------------------------------- --------------------------------

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 128,526 123,127
================================ ================================

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, as modified by the 
revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities and investment properties measured at fair value 
through profit or loss.

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the entity.

Short term debtors and creditors

Debtors and creditors with no stated interest rate and receivable or payable within one year are 
recorded at transaction price. Any losses arising from impairment are recognised in the income 
statement in other operating expenses.
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Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported. These estimates and judgements are continually 
reviewed and are based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Accounting estimates and assumptions are made concerning the future and, by their nature, will rarely 
equal the related actual outcome. There are no key assumptions and other sources of estimation 
uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Financial instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in 
the assets of the entity after deducting all of its financial liabilities.

Where the contractual obligations of financial instruments (including share capital) are equivalent to a 
similar debt instrument, those financial instruments are classed as financial liabilities. Financial 
liabilities are presented as such in the balance sheet.  Finance costs and gains or losses relating to 
financial liabilities are included in the profit and loss account. Finance costs are calculated so as to 
produce a constant rate of return on the outstanding liability.

Where the contractual terms of share capital do not have any terms meeting the definition of a 
financial liability then this is classed as an equity instrument. Dividends and distributions relating to 
equity instruments are debited direct to equity.

1. General information

MetalNRG plc is a public company limited by shares which is incorporated in England.

The registered office is 6 Middle Street, London EC1A 7JA.

The registered number is 05714562.

2. Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in compliance with FRS 102, 'The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and the Republic of Ireland', and with the Companies 
Act 2006. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

The financial statements are presented in Sterling (£).

3. Operating profit

Operating profit or loss is stated after crediting: 
2017 2016

£ £
Foreign exchange gains 16,147 13,277

============================ ============================

4. Auditor's remuneration

2017 2016
£ £

Fees payable for the audit of the financial statements 5,900 5,400
Fees payable in respect of previous year audit 580 –

======================= ============================

5. Tax on loss

Reconciliation of tax income

The tax assessed on the loss on ordinary activities for the year is higher than (2016: higher than) 
the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20% (2016: 20%).

2017 2016
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£ £
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (37,983) (23,585)

============================ ============================

Loss on ordinary activities by rate of tax (7,597) (4,717)
Unused tax losses 7,597 4,717

---------------------------- ----------------------------

Tax on loss – –
============================ ============================

6. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share
2017 2016

Basic earnings/(loss) per share from continuing operations (pence 
per share) (0.06p) (0.05p)

================== ==================

The earnings and weighted average number of shares used in the calculation of basic earnings 
per share are as follows:

2017 2016
£ £

Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share from 
continuing operations (37,983) (23,585)

============================ ============================

2017 2016
No. No.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (67,359,271) (48,332,003)
============================================== ==============================================

Diluted earnings per share

2017 2016
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share from continuing operations 
(pence per share) (0.05p) (0.05p)

================== ==================

The earnings and weighted average number of shares used in the calculation of the diluted 
earnings per share are as follows:

2017 2016
£ £

Earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share from 
continuing operations (37,983) (23,585)

============================ ============================

2017 2016
No. No.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue used in the 
calculation of basic earnings per share (67,359,271) (48,332,003)
Share options granted (10,000,000) (4,000,000)

---------------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------------

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue used in the 
calculation of diluted earnings per share (77,359,271) (52,332,003)

============================================== ==============================================

Since the year end there have been a placing of 59,000,000 ordinary shares. In addition to this 
Directors exercised options on 9,500,000 shares. 

This brings the total ordinary 0.01p shares in issue at the date of this report to 135,859,271.

Under the terms of the options this early exercise triggered a further issue of options of 
9,500,000. A further 3,000,000 share options were issued in March 2017 bringing the total 
number of options now in issue to 13,000,000.

In calculating Earnings per Share, only ordinary shares and options are included. Deferred 
shares are excluded on the basis they have no dividend or voting rights.

7. Debtors
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2017 2016
£ £

Prepayments and accrued income 1,749 1,230
Other debtors 21,432 17,520

---------------------------- ----------------------------

23,181 18,750
============================ ============================

8. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2017 2016
£ £

Trade creditors 1,239 3,317
Accruals and deferred income 7,069 7,182

----------------------- ----------------------------

8,308 10,499
======================= ============================

9. Called up share capital

Authorised share capital

 2017  2016  
 No. £ No. £
Ordinary 0.5p shares shares of 
£0.005 each – – 150,000,000 750,000
Ordinary 0.01p shares shares of 
£0.0001 each 150,000,000 15,000 – –
Deferred Ordinary shares of £0.0049 
each 150,000,000 735,000 – –

--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------

300,000,000 750,000 150,000,000 750,000
=================================================== ================================ =================================================== ================================

Issued, called up and fully paid

 2017  2016  
 No. £ No. £
Ordinary shares of 0. 5p each – – 48,332,003 241,660
Ordinary shares of 0. 01p each 67,359,271 6,736 – –
Deferred Ordinary shares of 0. 49p 
each 48,332,003 236,827 – –

--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------- --------------------------------

115,691,274 243,563 48,332,003 241,660
=================================================== ================================ ============================================== ================================

Share movements

 No. £
Ordinary 0.5p shares

At 1 March 2016 48,332,003 241,660
Shares cancelled (48,332,003) (241,660)

---------------------------------------------- --------------------------------

At 28 February 2017 – –
============================================== ================================

 No. £
Ordinary 0.01p shares

At 1 March 2016 – –
Issue of shares 67,359,271 6,736

---------------------------------------------- -----------------------

At 28 February 2017 67,359,271 6,736
============================================== =======================

 No. £
Deferred Ordinary

At 1 March 2016 – –
Issue of shares 48,332,003 236,827
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---------------------------------------------- --------------------------------

At 28 February 2017 48,332,003 236,827
============================================== ================================

At the year end there were 10,000,000 exercisable share options held by directors on ordinary 
0.01p shares at an exercise price of 0.5p. These options can be exercuised up to 19 November 
2019. For each share option exercised before 19 November 2017 a further option of a share is 
triggered at £0.75. For each share option exercised between 20 November 2017 and 20 
November 2018 a further option of half a share is triggered at £0.75. These further options also 
expire on 19 November 2019.

At 29 February 2016 there were 4,000,000 exercisable share options held by directors on 
ordinary £.005 shares at £0.02

Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote in any circumstances. Each ordinary share is entitled 
pari passu to dividend payments or any other distribution and to participate in a distribution 
arising from a winding up of the company.

Each deferred share has no voting rights, and is not entitled to receive a dividend or oither 
distribution. Deferred shares are only entitled to receive the amount paid up after the holders of 
ordinary shares have received the sum of £1 million for each ordinary share, and have no other 
rights to participate in the assets of the company.

10. Reserves

Share premium account - This reserve records the amount above the nominal value received for 
shares sold, less transaction costs.

Profit and loss account - This reserve records retained earnings and accumulated losses.

11. Events after the end of the reporting period

     Since 28 February 2017, the following post year end events have taken place.

- On March 6 2017 Paul Johnson became CEO of MetalNRG plc and on March 20 2017             
Gervaise Heddle, CEO of Greatland Gold plc became a Non-Executive Director;

- Also on March 20 2017 the Company undertook a strategic financing raising £342,500 in which 
director contributions were £50,000;

- On March 31 2017 the Company appointed SI Capital as its corporate broker and on June 21 
2017 Peterhouse Corporate Finance Limited as its NEX Exchange Corporate Adviser.  The 
change of advisers was undertaken to ensure the Company has the correct advisory network 
necessary during the planned aggressive growth of the business;

- The work of the Company to identify suitable opportunities has accelerated in 2017 and it is 
anticipated that various market updates will be issued in the near term with further information.  
Of particular note the Company is actively involved with commercial discussions surrounding 
various cobalt copper/zinc and resource based fintech related opportunities.

12. Related party transactions

There is no individual with ultimate overall control of the company.

C.P. Latilla-Campbell is a director and shareholder of this company and also a director and sole 
shareholder of London Finance & Investment Corporation Limited (LFIC).  Accountancy charges 
incurred by this company amounting to £3,000 (2016: £3,500) represent proportional recharges 
in respect of the time spent on company business by the LFIC company accountant.  At the year 
end trade creditors included an amount of £250 (2016: £nil) outstanding to LFIC.
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